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Company Profile
YNEIRLM)

Digital China Holdings Limited ("DC Holdings") was founded in 2000 and
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in
2001 (Stock Code: 00861.HK).

For the past 19 years, we have consistently achieved innovations and
breakthroughs, living up to our corporate culture of "responsibility, passion
and innovation" as we continued to fulfill the mission of building a "Digital
China". From a dominant distributor of IT products in China, we have
completed a strategic upgrade to transform ourselves into a leading
integrated IT service provider, informatisation specialist and Sm@rt City
specialist in China. Now, we are taking a further turn in transformation
through digitalisation, in a bid to become a world-leading Big Data
operation service group.

As a high-tech enterprise which empowers the Sm@rt City development
and the digitalised transformation of industries on the back of its
proprietary innovative core technologies in Big Data, Internet of Things and
Artificial Intelligence, DC Holdings has completed its business deployment
with illustrious accomplishments in core sectors such as Sm@rt City,
Smart Industry Chain, Financial Technology, Smart Health, Smart
Manufacturing, Smart Agriculture, Smart Maintenance and Quantum
Communication.
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Financial Highlights
BT 2

FY2018 FY2017
=Z2-N —E—t
Bt Bf 4
HK$m HK$m
BEEHET BEEET
For the Year REER
Revenue WA 15,254 13,247
Profit from Operating Activities f?&%?ﬁ?& gl 418 72
Profit/(loss) Attributable to N E AR EAEE T (E1E)

Equity Holders 150 (413)
Earnings/(loss) per Share (HK cents) FREF,(EE)GEW) 8.96 (29.21)
Dividends per Share (HK cents) RS (B 3.1 -
At Year-end REER
Total Assets BEE 25,488 27916
Shareholders' Funds BRE S 8,850 9,110
Financial Ratio B % bk =&
Return on Equity (%) REESBRE(EDL) 1.69 (4.53)
Interest Cover (times) FEBEHXR(E) 2.30 0.79
Current Ratio (times) mENEL K (%) 1.22 1.11
Total Interest Bearing Debts to M EBBEMBREES L E(E)

Shareholders' Funds Ratio (times) 0.70 0.87
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Profit/(loss) Attributable to Equity Holders

B AT REELREH, (BH)

HK$m HK$m HK$m
BEHET BEHET BYEET
20,000+ 600« 800 -
18,000+ 500+
418 400 -
400+ 150
16,000+
' 15,254
300 . O . .
14,000+
13,247 200+ l
-400 -
. 72
12,000 100+ (413)
10,000+ 0 . -800 -
2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018

F R

2018

HMMNEBERBR QA



PHILIPS DG Health

EME—AHETERPERESH =T E

EELTTemans

PHE TST DWGITAL Triss ST




-

- L e I .
F M .,...u---l:,--:-'t-"""-"'r'-'l‘""ﬁ " P T ) i T y
a _'rl_"l v _f-"-lr- 2 . " o s BTy . "

: h_l . . ¥ L T ___T_r.t-ﬁ-.__ g

T, R ar..ia-'..?r_ﬂ, Lo aedmet . .

o, ot e o e

. i [y ~mrwreT, - F
WS g v : S s P T i e , 1] T iy e e -
- - Pl i = o % | .
o T -..:'--:-.‘-1..,..-‘.1_.-1.,..11 s ‘ Ve ) e i

it e
o




2018 Annual Report

Digital China Holdings Limited

Significant Events

N = Bl B

2018
JANUARY

11 January

FEBRUARY

1 February

MARCH

20 March

29 March

APRIL

11 April

12 April

26 April

The first Guangzhou Tower Future City Forum of
"Digital China, Future City" was successfully held. DC
Holdings led the establishment of Sm@rt City
Planning and Research Institute.

Digital China Health, an associate of DC Holdings,
entered into an agreement with Congenica from the
UK, pursuant to which the two parties would
conduct in-depth cooperation on the effective and
accurate analysis of clinical data and genomic data.

DCITS strategically partnered with Jingdong Finance
to launch "laaS+SaaS+FaaS" financial cloud
technology services for small and medium-sized
banks to jointly build a new model of Fintech
services with small and medium-sized banks.

DC Holdings released its operating results for 2017:
the big data transformation has been advancing
steadily, with revenue from New Business increasing
by 200%.

Digital China Health, an associate of DC Holdings,
jointly launched the China Smart Health Cloud
Platform, "ShineFly", with Philips.

Premier Li Kegiang visited iSESOL, an associate of DC
Holdings, and gave guidance.

DCITS, a subsidiary of DC Holdings, joined hands
with Quantum CTek and Guoxiang Chenrui
Technology Co., Ltd. to establish Shenzhou Guoxin
(Beijing) Quantum Technology Co., Ltd. to promote
the industrialisation of quantum communication
products and industrial applications.
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MAY

18 May

22 May

22 May

28 May

JUNE

26 June

JULY

2 July

DC Holdings, MIT Connection Science Laboratory and
Capital Institute of Science and Technology
Development Strategy jointly sponsored the China-
US High-end Forum on Sm@rt City to jointly lead
the new development of smart cities.

DCITS, a subsidiary of DC Holdings, joined hands
with CAS Quantum to open the market of quantum
network application services.

Digital China Health, an associate of DC Holdings,
reached an intention of cooperation with IQVIA.

DC Holdings entered into a cooperation framework
agreement with Tongren Municipal People's
Government.

The National Standards of "GB/T 36333-2018 Sm@rt
City Top-Level Design Guidelines" and "Sm@rt City
Domain Knowledge Model Core Conceptual Model"
(CB/T 36332-2018), compiled by Scity, a subsidiary
of DC Holdings, were officially approved and
released.

Digital China Health, an associate of DC Holdings,
entered into a cooperative agreement with the China
National Cancer Centre and The National Cancer
Registration and Analysis Service to jointly promote
the multi-dimensional academic cooperation between
China and the UK in research and communication,
consultation and training on the construction of a
large oncological big data platform.
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Significant Events
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Significant Events

N =[O R

AUGUST

9 August

NOVEMBER

10 November

16 November

No specific date

2019
JANUARY

8 January

22 January

DCITS, a subsidiary of DC Holdings, won the bid for
"E-government system upgrade project of the
national information application platform for rural
land contractual management rights of the Ministry
of Agriculture and Rural Affairs”.

IT Logistics, a subsidiary of DC Holdings, released
"Human + Robot 2.0"

The Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs,
Shaanxi Agricultural and Rural Department, Shaanxi
Fruit Industry Administration Bureau and DCITS co-
established the "National Apple Industry Big Data
Centre"

Smart Agriculture of DCITS, a subsidiary of DC
Holdings, won the bid for two major projects from
the State Administration of Taxation — Upgrade and
Improvement of the Decision Support System for
Phase Il of Finance and Taxation Management in
2018 and Software Service Project for Operation and
Maintenance and Institution Reform, and Related
Service Project for Finance, Taxation, Treasury and
Banking in 2018.

"Resource Reflection Mechanism and Efficient
Interoperability Technology in Cloud Client-
Convergence System" jointly completed by
internetware, a subsidiary of DC Holdings, and
Peking University won the First Prize of National
Technology Invention Award 2018.

DC Holdings was elected the Vice President Unit of
Digital China Industrial Development Alliance.
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Significant Events

N5 O B

MARCH

12 March DC Holdings and Changchun New District signed an =A+=H BHERERETREEIH
agreement on the first phase of the "Digital New THRI-BHREEL HE-
Zone" service project. According to the agreement, RERZ - #MNEREREE
DC Holdings will team up with ecosystem partners ERHEEREVRIYTH
to construct the first phase of the "Digital New BJEE—HER AReH
Zone" project of Changchun New District, with a HARB1I4ETT »
contractual value of approximately RMB174 million.
15 March During the "Jilin ® France Economic and Trade = = [FEEHe ZHLESEY
Cooperation Working Meeting”, DC Holdings and Be B MR R AR
France's Sigfox signed a memorandum of Sigfx RAIEEBRNETEE
understanding on the cooperation between the two HEEMEERH AT AR
parties in building an loT platform in Jilin Province. R 8% o %
26 March During the summit between China and France, DC ZAZ+AB  EPEEKSEERRE - N “
Holdings and France's Sigfox signed a memorandum % £ 7% BlSigfox A B A B R %% f
of understanding in Paris on cooperation in FEBETFRAEERTE S o
developing China's national Internet of Things BB ERENTREES o
network. Chinese Minister of Commerce Zhong Shan B o PEIRgHHEREILAE
and French Minister of Economy and Finance Bruno BEENTBBRAEH &) 09

LE MAIRE and other Chinese and French senior
government officials attended the signing ceremony
and witnessed the historic moment.
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4/1/2018

28/6/2018

Digital China Sm@rt City was awarded & Z 1/ &L L= Ministry of Industry and T4

Pilot Demonstration Enterprise of
Manufacturing Industry Double
Innovation Platform of Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology

Guo Wei, Chairman of the Board of DC
Holdings and Chairman of DCITS, was
elected as one of the "40 Software
Celebrities" for the 40th Anniversary of
Reform and Opening up
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Information Technology

Ministry of Industry and TEAMEEH-
Information Technology and 4t R A R ELfF
Beijing Municipal People's

Government
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Awards
#% 75

30/6/2018 The Distributed Core Business System ?$JI|T BE T #J{E 8 Organising Committee of hEREEGTEES
of DCITS, a subsidiary of DC Holdings, DBz LEKZLE  China International Software @%@
won 2018 "Top Ten Excellent Products #2018 + K EHFEHR  Expo
Award" — the highest honour of Hl-hREHEES S
Chinese software! 2
30/6/2018 DCITS, a subsidiary of DC Holdings, /{2 HE T 48158 ITSS (Chinese Electronics mss(PBlEFITE
won "China IT Service Innovative BETRBITRASAIZ  Standardization Association  1ZE/ TR EE
Service Award", "China IT Service BR8] - [FREITART  Information Technology BRMRESE)
Innovative Product Award" and the BIFTE®RE] b RE  Service Standards
operation and maintenance cases of {5+ KEZBEHEHZE Sub-Association) =
Beijing Telecom and Tianjin Telecom Bl &R BITRR 75 Al m
won “China IT Service Innovative MITEERE
Industry Practice Award" °_°
o
27/7/2018 DCITS, a subsidiary of DC Holdings, was 3 )1l % i 3& N 48 /{5 B [TSS (Chinese Electronics msS(RPBlEF T ~
awarded two certificates of "WG8 BETWeSEI RZE T Standardization Association  1ZE/L RifT &
International Standards Working Group  YE#4H 48 & | F[ WG4#8 47  Information Technology ERIRES®) "
Leader" and "WG4 Operation and HETEAEMARIMIE  Service Standards
Maintenance Working Group Leader" — #FZ Sub-Association)
24/8/2018 "Fuxin Bank's New Generation Core  #®JN#EMX i T 48 )1 {5 & IDC (International Data Inc (B BREE L A) E
Business System" and "Sichuan XW EEH[EHETH—  Corporation) =
Bank's Internet Open Platform” which Iz EB REE] [0 g
were constructed by DCITS, a JNEFBRITEB BTN 8
subsidiary of DC Holdings, won “China & | &8 20185 & ue
Financial Industry Innovation Award Bl & 31T 5 815 12 ﬁ
2018" =
29/9/2018 IT Logistics, a subsidiary of DC R T RHE YR Ministry of Industry and TEDmHKY-
Holdings, won the 2018 China Logistics 457201874 B %/ B B Information Technology, H B %—T—Fﬁi‘%ﬁ;’; e
Internet Science and Technology BRI BIFT R Ministry of Commerce, MREEEEE
Innovation Award Logistics Committee of China F1 E?éﬁ#%mhfz¥
Electronic Commerce it B
Association, China Electronic
Commerce Logistics Industry
Alliance
19/10/2018 DC Holdings was ranked 23rd among  # /£l Z &4t R R  Beijing Federation of Industry b R 1 Ty Bt
Beijing Top 100 Private Enterprises =L VX and Commerce
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1/11/2018

8/11/2018

20/11/2018

29/11/2018

20/12/2018

21[12/2018

The Industrial Internet Platform of
iSESOL, a subsidiary of DC Holdings,
was selected as Pilot Demonstration
Project of Manufacturing Industry
Double Innovation Platform of Ministry
of Industry and Information
Technology

Yan Cloud Daa$ System was selected
as the world's leading Internet
technology achievements

Digital China Health, an associate of
DC Holdings, won "2018 China
Tomorrow Star"

Digital China Health, an associate of
DC Holdings, won "2018 China's Big
Health Industry Innovative Enterprise
of the Year"

DC Holdings won the honour of "2018
China Smart City Big Data Leading
Enterprise”

Beijing Instant Logistics Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of DC Holdings, won the
"Award for Commemorating the 40th
Anniversary of Reform and Opening-
up, Enterprise with Outstanding
Contribution in China's Logistics
Industry"
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Information Technology

World Internet Leading
Scientific and Technological
Achievements
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lyiou

China Center for Information
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1/1/2019

1/1/2019

8/1/2019

16/1/2019

China National Accreditation Service
for Conformity Assessment (CNAS) has
given the formal accreditation to the
software testing and assessment centre
of DCITS under DC Holdings, making
the centre as one of the national
accredited laboratories

Through the cooperation and
implementation of "industry-university-
research-application” in the field of
quantum communication, DCITS under
DC Holdings has achieved the title "The
Demonstration Enterprise in the
cooperation and innovation of
Industry-University-Research in China"

“Resource Reflection Mechanism and
Efficiency Interoperability Technology
in Cloud-Client-Convergence Systems"
jointly completed by Internetware, a
subsidiary of DC Holdings, and Peking
University won the First Prize of
National Technology Invention Award
2018

DC Holdings won the 2018 "Golden
Hong Kong Stock" Best New Economy
Stock Company Award
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China National Accreditation

Service for Conformity
Assessment (CNAS)

China Industry-University-
Research Institute
Collaboration Association

Ministry of Science and
Technology

Zhitongcaijing.com and
10jgka.com.cn
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Chairman's Statement
* E R E

REMAIN TRUE TO OUR FOUNDING MISSION, REALIZE
THE DREAM OF "DIGITAL CHINA"

Dear Shareholders of DC Holdings,

Year 2018 has been a vyear of remarkable development for the
transformation to big data operation service. DC Holdings has, on the back
of its capabilities in Big Data, Artificial Intelligence ("Al") and Internet of
Things ("loT"), made significant breakthroughs in key usage models in
Sm@rt City, Smart Industry Chain, financial technology, Smart Health and
Smart Manufacturing, boosting our revenues and profits.

Nowadays, the application of new technologies such as Cloud Computing,
Big Data, Al, and loT have witnessed rapid changes. The entire humankind
is thus entering into a new world of cyberization and virtualization.
Leveraging on digital technology in cyber space, we have found the
breakthroughs to solve physical problems in constructing future cities. Our
Sm@rt City 1.0 is based on the construction of E-government services
enabled by information technology; our Sm@rt City 2.0 is rooted on the
integrated citizen service platform in the context of internet application;
and now we are promoting Sm@rt City 3.0, designed to be a
comprehensive management of industry, city and citizen, based on the
characteristics of each city, driving new development in smart cities. Facing
an increasingly complex city management system, we have, based on the
characteristics of each city, combined the application of new technologies
such as Big Data and loT and development strategies of smart city
industries to address problems related to healthcare, transportation, energy
supply and social security, etc. These do not only raise the satisfaction of
citizen, but also promote a series of new industries, empowering economic
development. This is what we call a new breakthrough for the construction
of future cities — Sm@rt City 3.0, which integrates industry, city and
citizen.

A=At BERIBFHEIZ
BAE

BHEM G RN R R

—E-NFEHMIERAARBUREE R
BEAER ERRIGEN —F - UKRK
BATER MBAE( 7)) BEKIE
EEERT EEEXRE RN
DEBER DHUETHRERAERE
REARE - WA M B FAIE -

BAT BEE KRB ATERE 10T
MEMEMBHM AR ABEREEA—
EMEE ERENHFHR - AREE=
) B B b B SR R OR W 38 2= ) /O RS
R E A PR R R T A — (B SR
O - REREERMEZEBNHEFIK
BRERNOEEMm0 MEREKARE
AmRBAEREFaERNEBWT
200 BEIERW TR IET & DN
E- W AGAAEBMNEEBRWM M0 &K
MAGEDREEZRTHER -
Bl BB S ENER B EERN—
EEMEER ERRTEFHE R
1R BE - 10T 37 H 17 69 8 R B2 22 22 0
MEXFZRBBEEES BREE X
BoRERFEENMHERES — RIH
B ERRRRESRNAER  #E4E—
RIEER RHESKENKEERET
EheE  EEHPIBERLW D —E
AR A - R EAIHZ BIERA
BMEINE B WM -



Mr. GUO Wei

BRKE

In cooperation with Peking University (PKU), our subsidiary Beijing
Internetware  Company Limited (3t &5 BEESMFEAERRT)
("Internetware”) has developed "Resource Reflection Mechanism and
Efficient Interoperability Technology in Cloud-Client-Convergence Systems”
and won the First Prize of National Technology Invention Award 2018. As
an invention at theoretical level, it marks China's first-ever independent
invention in computer technology from the theoretical level to the
technological level. It enables us to master the world's leading data
interconnection technology and greatly expands the business boundary of
smart cities.

In the era of Big Data, 80% of high-value data lies in the deep web.
Isolated Information Islands in traditional internet restrict the inter-
connection and communication of information between systems, and the
cost of system re-engineering is prohibitive. Yet, the "Resource Reflection
Mechanism and Efficient Interoperability Technology in Cloud-Client-
Convergence Systems", putting forward the idea of resource reflection
mechanism, can reduce the cost of open data — through the external
monitoring and control of the system client, it can achieve efficient
interoperability of business data and functions, notably reducing manual
inputs.

Chairman's Statement
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Chairman's Statement
FTREHRE

Serving as a transformation and innovation hub of PKU's software
technology, our Internetware converts this technology into the "Yan Cloud
DaaS" product series, which can seamlessly achieve the real-time data flow
between systems and integrate functions via its setting. This could be
achieved even in the case of closed database, source code loss, and a lack
of support by original product vendors. Now this technology has been
widely applied in government affairs, finance, energy, education, etc. 5G Era
is coming. "Yan Cloud DaaS" is to become a key supporter for the
integration between cloud, network and terminals, as well as the
integration between users, robots and objects in future cities.

Looking forward, DC Holdings will cooperate with our ecosystem partners
in Sm@rt City 3.0 by using Yan Cloud DaaS and the platform to break
down isolated information islands and using loT to realize smart
connection of the city, in order to achieve data integration and sharing and
construct smart usage models based on big data. The Sm@rt City 3.0
covers the service of smart environmental protection, smart water services,
smart transportation, and smart industrial parks, and provides full-cycle
solutions from planning, design, construction, implementation and city big
data operation by industries. DC Holdings is committed to becoming
China's leading integrated operation service provider of Sm@rt City and
Big Data, enabling the development of digital economy and improvement
of citizen services.

Big Data analysis and application of supply chain automation are the key
to lifting supply chain efficiency. Within the ecosystem of industry chain,
the supply chain Big Data services can coordinate the upstream and
downstream industrial chain enterprises to enhance efficiency for the
entire industry chain, which is our ultimate goal of the supply chain Big
Data services.

Our in-house development of X-DATA logistics Big Data products and a
visualization platform can provide customers with tailored one-stop supply
chain services. In 2018, we have also developed the "Human + Robot 2.0"
work model for warehouses. Supported by such technologies and Big Data
smart application, the IT Logistics Business reported stellar results for the
Double Eleven Shopping Festival. Our long term investment in IT Logistics
has started yielding fruitful results, driving the earning growth in 2018.
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The "Human + Robot 2.0" work model announced by IT Logistics is another
breakthrough and innovation after the successful application of "Human +
Robot 1.0" work model in 2017. It is the first three-dimensional high-
density robotic smart warehouse in the world, with Automated Guided
Vehicle (AGV) operating in an elevated, high-rise environment. The
warehouse robotic system has enabled the sorting robot to move from
two-dimensional to three-dimensional format, bolstering the storage
efficiency by three times. Compared with the traditional robot system
operating on the ground, the smart warehouse system built by IT Logistics
with a "goods to human" mode adopted, is not only efficient and accurate,
but also employs automatic control technology through rails on the ground
and elevated tracks. Since this system is not confined to operation on the
ground, warehouse utilization has been lifted significantly. The "Human +
Robot 2.0" work model fully integrates Al technology with the process of
logistics business, representing a major milestone in the smart application
and innovation of e-commerce logistics.

Under the framework of the big data strategy of DC Holdings, Digital China
Information Service Company Limited (8 M 211515 E R BR A
B]) ("DCITS") continued to drive the smart upgrading of software and
service products, integrating financial, government, enterprise,
telecommunications, agriculture and other industry sectors. Based on big
data and financial technology, DCITS empowers the industries to upgrade
its value propositions, creating a new ecosystem of industrial integration.
Revenue from the financial sector has been growing rapidly and its
proportion as total revenue has been expanding. DCITS provides financial
technology services that cover the whole industry chain for financial
industry customers and has developed itself into a leading financial
technology service company in China's banking sector.

Core Banking System and Distributed Platform were awarded contracts
from important customers such as The Export-Import Bank of China, Ping
An One Connect, Sanxiang Bank, Ningxia Bank and Yingkou Coastal Bank.
As of today, distributed core banking products of DCITS has been
recognized by dozens of banks, which provide financial services to
hundreds of millions of users, and its economic and social benefits are
becoming increasingly prominent.

Enterprise Service Bus (“ESB") won multiple tenders and 20 financial
institutions signed service contracts with us such as China Central
Depository & Clearing, Bank of East Asia, Industrial Bank and so on. It
continues to maintain market leadership. Its product is comparable to a
"highway" connecting headquarters, branches and service networks, and is
the main backbone of banking operations. Through the sophisticated
system and service combinations, it significantly improves the data
processing and analytical ability of commercial banks' IT systems, and helps
banks to gain competitive advantages in the market.
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TEHRE

The Internet Open Platform won multiple bids and 11 financial institutions
signed contracts with us such as China Construction Bank. It becomes a
new growth driver with observable advantages that stand out from the
market competition. The internet financial solution won the bid of 6
financial institution customers including Industrial and Commercial Bank of
China. In order to enable customers to carry out various types of Internet
financial business successfully, the Company took the lead to meet the
market demand to complete the upgrading of two major product versions.

DCITS always adheres to the principle of self-developed innovation and
control, and its excellent performance in the field of financial technology
has been highly recognized by the industry.

Having realized several breakthroughs for application, the Big Data business
of Digital China Health is to integrate the clinical data, image data and
operating data of medical treatment, and compute the data through the
knowledge map, thus forming the medical service products to empower the
healthcare industry. We have deployed our "Shenbeikang” Gene Sequencing
Analysis Platform at the Molecular Diagnostic Center of Fudan Children's
Hospital. To perform Whole Exome Sequencing (WES) analysis and provide
the genomic report, this new platform is capable of completing the
calculation within 30 minutes, as opposed to one-year timespan required in
the past, aiding doctors for performing quick and precise diagnosis.

As the sole contractor, Digital China Health jointly promotes the
construction of cardiovascular information research platform and the
optimization project of clinical diagnosis and treatment decision support
system (“iHeart Project”) with China Cardiovascular Health Alliance and
Sanofi (China) Investment Co., Ltd.. Digital China Health signed a
cooperation agreement with China National Cancer Center (CNCC) and The
National Cancer Registration and Analysis Service (NCRAS) in the United
Kingdom to make every effort to build a large oncology information
platform in China.

The big data-based business model of Digital China Health is highly
recognized by the industry and equity capital markets. In 2018, we have
successfully completed the series A Round financing, introducing
internationally-renowned funds as shareholders, with a post-investment
valuation reaching approximately HK$3.8 billion. We can foresee the
company becomes the next unicorn.

As a high-tech company named "Digital China" since its inception, "Digital
China" is our vision and mission. For 19 years, we have been committed to
our lifetime mission — digitalizing China. Our IT infrastructure services,
integrated IT services, Sm@rt City and Big Data operation services have
been improving people's livelihood, upgrading industries and developing
digital economy. With our all-out efforts in these fields, we strive to
realize the Rejuvenation of China and The Two Centenaries. The Reform and
Opening-up policies and technological revolution have presented us with
greatest opportunities of all time. Indeed, we have been living in the best
era. On behalf of the board of directors, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our clients, shareholders and investors. It is your trust and

support that have been driving us forward.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
& 12 B W 51 B 5 A

Adhering to the vision of "Digital China", DC Holdings has made substantial
progress in the transformation from an integrated IT service provider to big
data operation service group in 2018. Based on the long-term
accumulation of data resources and experiences in the field of digital
transformation and relying on core capabilities of big data, artificial
intelligence and Internet of Things (hereinafter referred to as “loT"), DC
Holdings has achieved several major breakthroughs and earning growth in
key usage models of core industries such as Sm@rt city, Smart Industry
Chain, financial technology, Smart Health and Smart Manufacturing. In
cooperation with Peking University (PKU), our subsidiary Beijing
Internetware Company Limited (3t 3 B % & & 4+ B R 2 7
“Internetware”) has developed "Resource Reflection Mechanism and
Efficient Interoperability Technology in Cloud-Client-Convergence Systems”
and won the First Prize of National Technology Invention Award 2018. This
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is a major recognition to the Company's big data technology. Based on the 2 EHAQNIAREERTNSES W
abovementioned technologies, Yan Cloud Daa$, is developed as a product, TE v DAL BT A B A a2 (b /Y [ B = Daas | kH—
which is widely used in the big data business and driving the Company's RIERBZEARASEEEZR »
earning improvement. EB AR EENRIBRT - -
BUSINESS REVIEW: SM@RT CITY, SMART INDUSTRY ¥ #&EEE:  E28Hm EEE

CHAIN AND FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGY ARE DRIVING ¥#NME@BMEAEEWAKIE 10
REVENUE GROWTH AND THE COMPANY BACK TO BR - ANBHAESLIEARM

PROFITABILITY BE -
The Group's overall revenue was approximately HK$15.25 billion in 2018, an —E-N\F - AEEBBEREGEE «
increase of approximately HK$2 billion over the same period of the last %\ ,\']/%%152 5418 7T ftﬁﬁﬁﬂgqi* on =
financial year, representing a year-on-year increase of 15.16%. The revenue #9785 200818 7T * R L _EFs. 160/0 PR E g
increase was mainly driven by the sustained growth of Sm@rt City, Smart BEAFEXHRNEERT  TEEXE &
Industry Chain and financial technology business during the period. The ﬁ*ﬂ@@ﬂ&ﬂ’\]%ﬁ%’ﬁ&ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬁ E
gross profit was approximately HK$2.91 billion, a 9.16% increase from the 2=l 55 e FT A B E R AR B 29.091E g
last financial year, and the gross profit margin was 19.07%. During the T R EMF R R 6% 0 EF XA oa

reporting period, the profit attributable to shareholders of the parent
company of the Group was approximately HK$150 million, a substantial
increase compared with a loss of approximately HK$413 million in the
same period of the last financial year. Excluding the one-off impact of
goodwill impairments of the Bank ATM business of DCITS and share
compensation expenses, the core profit attributable to shareholders of the
parent company of the Group was approximately HK$242 million.
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Sm@rt City saw its revenue grow by 49.40%, with its
technologies awarded the First Prize of National
Technology Invention Award

The business of Sm@rt City currently covers more than 100 million
population in China, practicing in 116 cities across the country. The
Group is actively promoting Sm@rt City 3.0 model across the
country that integrates the comprehensive governance of industry,
city, and people according to the characteristics of each city. The
overall revenue of the Sm@rt City business was approximately
HK$321 million during the reporting period, a 49.40% increase over
the same period of last financial year. The gross profit was
approximately HK$129 million, representing a 55.79% increase from
the last financial year, and gross profit margin was 40.06%.

DC Holdings is combining new technologies such as big data and loT
with Sm@rt City development strategy based on city's own
characteristics to solve a series of problems including government
management, medical treatment, transportation, and environmental
protection, creating new momentum for the city's sustainable
development at the same time. Looking forward, DC Holdings
together with our ecosystem partners will cooperate and thoroughly
work on Sm@rt City 3.0 by using Yan Cloud DaaS interoperability
technology and the platform to eliminate the isolated information
islands and using loT to realize smart perception of the city, in
order to achieve integration and sharing of data and connected
objects. We will also construct smart usage models based on big
data, covering the citizen services, smart environmental protection,
smart water services, smart transportation, and smart industrial
parks, providing full-cycle solutions from planning, design,
construction, implementation and city big data operation by
industries. DC Holdings is committed to becoming China's leading
integrated operation service provider of Sm@rt City and big data,
enabling the development of digital economy and improvement of
citizen services.

At present, Sm@rt City 3.0 projects are launched across the country,
including the city big data platform in Tongren, Guizhou,
construction of internet concentrated area "New Smart CBD" and the
smart water system in Pazhou in Guangzhou, the loT project in
Beijing's secondary executive area, smart environmental protection
projects for Winter Olympics in Yanging in Beijing, the big data
platform project of Cangzhou in Hebei, integrated services platform
for citizens "E Longyan" in Longyan in Fujian, and the online
comprehensive operating platform for housing rental services in
Guangzhou, etc. These projects provide effective supports to
municipal management and public services.
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DC Holdings is promoting the Sm@rt City business in Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area and countries along the "The
Belt and Road" We are actively responding to the "Smart City
Blueprint for Hong Kong" released by the Hong Kong Government
and participating in the Sm@rt City construction project in Hong
Kong. During the reporting period, DC Holdings successfully acquired
Wai On Services Limited (“Wai On"), an IT service provider that
provides solutions for large projects of the Hong Kong Government
and multinational corporations. Wai On has a mature and complete
set of Microsoft cloud solution technology, and extensive experience
in providing services to various industries, including financial
institutions, government, manufacturing and transportation. The
acquisition of Wai On has boosted the development of Sm@rt City
business in Hong Kong and the "The Belt and Road" countries,
realizing resource integration and optimal allocation, enabling it to
make an important step in promoting Sm@rt City business in Hong
Kong and Macao and the "The Belt and Road" countries.

In cooperation with Peking University (PKU), our subsidiary
Internetware has developed "Resource Reflection Mechanism and
Efficient Interoperability Technology in Cloud-Client-Convergence
Systems" and won the First Prize of National Technology Invention
Award. Based on the abovementioned technologies, "Yan Cloud DaaS"
can realize the real-time flow of information and the seamless
integration of functions, which solves the bottleneck of isolated
information islands that restrict the development of
"Internet+Government Services", and can reduce user's project
implementation cycle on average by 50%. "Yan Cloud DaaS" has
launched more than 20 products and solutions, which are widely
used in national government information system integration and
sharing, national Internet+Government Service pilot projects,
national security and national defense. The products are used in over
ten ministries like the Ministry of Science and Technology, Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology, Ministry of Agriculture and
Rural Affairs etc, and more than 20 provincial regions like Beijing,
Shanghai, Guizhou, Zhejiang etc, eliminating thousands of isolated
government information islands. In May 2017, the State Council
passed the "Notice of the General Office of the State Council on
Printing and Distributing the Implementation Plan for the
Integration and Sharing of Government Information Systems"
("Circular 39") and in June 2018 issued the guideline "Intensifying
Internet+Government Services and the reform initiative to simplify
government service provisions with only One Internet Portal, One
Government Unit and One Procedure” (B8R #E — 25 %10 [ B B
M+ BRGIHEBARSE—® - —F —RINEEE
7 Z&)). These policy documents clearly set a schedule for local
governments to accelerate the pace of information integration and
sharing of information systems, presenting a huge business
opportunity for Yan Cloud DaaS due to its leading big data resource
management technology. The solutions centered on "Yan Cloud
DaaS" will be a key profit growth driver for Sm@rt City business.
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2)

Smart Industry Chain Business (IT Logistics): B2C daily
average volume rose by 117%; debut of the world's first
Human + Robot 2.0 3D warehouse robot

IT Logistics is China's leading industry chain service brand, which is
committed to providing customers with one-stop end-to-end
services through the strategy of Warehouse + Big Data + Artificial
Intelligence, 231 nationwide warehouse network service points,
logistics management system and supply chain big data application
platform X-DATA with its own intellectual property rights. Under the
overall ecosystem of the entire industry chain, the big data of the
supply chain coordinates the upstream and downstream enterprises,
enhancing the overall efficiency in the industry chain and creating a
new form of Smart Industry Chain. IT Logistics is a leading player in
the fields of IT, communication and e-commerce logistics. During the
reporting period, the Smart Industry Chain business continued to
focus on the developing businesses with major customers in the
industry, resulting in rapid expansion in sales and market shares. The
overall revenue of the Smart Industry Chain business recorded
approximately HK$3.78 billion, an increase of 39.72% over the same
period of the last financial year. The overall gross profit margin was
14.59% with an increase of 4.19 percentage points. In the Smart
Industry Chain business, the e-commerce supply chain services and
logistics accounted for 40.54% and 59.46% respectively of the
revenue.

The logistics business benefited from B2C business growth,
warehouse automation and other cost control measures, with its
revenue and gross profit rising significantly. During the reporting
period, the revenue increased significantly by 62.64% year-on-year,
and the gross profit increased by 107.57%. X-DATA big data
platform, independently developed by IT Logistics, relies on the
massive industry big data depository accumulated in prior years to
develop customized services to customers. IT Logistics continues to
innovate in warehousing automation. Following the debut of the
Human + Robot 1.0 work model in 2017, IT Logistics released
"Human + Robot 2.0" Automated Guided Vehicle (AGV) with the
world's first 3D automatic sorting model right before the Double
Eleven Shopping Festival, resulting in substantial improvement in
warehouse space utilization and efficiency of operation in the
warehouse during the Double Eleven Shopping Festival. In B2B
logistics, we have deep and comprehensive cooperation with
customers like Xiaomi ecosystem in the management of Smart
Industry Chain. At the same time, we try to promote the Huijietong's
Hundred-warehouse plan to build a logistics ecosystem chain. In B2C
logistics, IT Logistics achieved a 117% increase in daily average
volume growth. The comprehensive strategic cooperation between IT
Logistics and Cainiao Network covers flagship stores of key brands
on "“Tmall.com”, cross-border business and Tmall supermarket
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business. Among all the partners with Cainiao Network, IT Logistics'
comprehensive service quality ranked first, with its warehouse in
Wuging awarded the "The No 1 Warehouse of Cainiao for Double
Eleven Shopping Festival" by Cainiao Network. In terms of
international logistics, IT Logistics is actively expanding its
international warehousing business. Its warehouse in Myanmar is
ranked “Top Five Best Warehouses of ZTE" In 2018, the logistics
business also won a number of industry awards and honors,
including the "Technology Invention Award, the highest award by the
Modern Logistics Innovation Conference, the "2018 China Logistics
Internet Technology Innovation Award", the "Leading Enterprise of
Logistics of the 40th anniversary of the Reform and Opening of the
China Federation of Logistics and Purchasing” and the "2018 China
(Logistics Big Data) Most Valuable Enterprise”

Thanks to scale effect and effective cost control measures, the
e-commerce supply chain business recorded significant year-on-
year increase. During the reporting period, the revenue rose by
15.79% and the gross profit increased by 64.04%. The middle office
platform business of the e-commerce supply chain has been
recognized by customers, with rapidly expanding business scale.
Through the cooperation of online e-commerce and brick-and-
mortar store operators, the multi-channel expansion of Huawei's
business has been phenomenal, despite the weakness in the mobile
phone market. Dell's e-commerce business has been expanding
steadily with diversified products and online stores. The operation of
Panasonic Lighting (Y2 T~ B2 BH) has been launched, with substantial
breakthrough in sales on "Day 6.18"

Logistics software has become a new source of profit. Digital China
Gold Storage logistics software set, composed of WMS\TMS\OMS\
BMS\XDATA (Warehouse, Transportation, Order, Accounting
Management, Big Data) is fully functional and has full independent
intellectual property rights. IT Logistics has incorporated many years
of operation experience and capabilities into the system, which is
highly recognized by customers. In 2018, it set up a research and
development center in Zhengzhou to supply talents and experience
for the research and development in the later stage of big data
business. It has signed up with external customers like Panasonic,
Yangquan Coal Industry Group and other companies among the
world top 500 enterprises to meet the needs of highly complex and
multi-scenario supply chain software business.
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DCITS: Strategic focus on financial technology with
remarkable results; Promising prospect for quantum
communication business

Under the framework of the big data strategy of DC Holdings in
2018 Digital China Information Service Company Limited (1% N X
= BA5 AR 75 B% 19 B BR 72 &); "DCITS"), through the application of
new technology, continued to drive the upgrading of software and
service products. By integrating usage models in finance,
government & enterprise, telecommunications, agriculture and other
industry sectors, DCITS enabled the industries to upgrade its value
propositions and created a new ecosystem of industrial integration,
with a focus on big data and financial technology. It realized
revenue of approximately HK$10.52 billion in the reporting period,
an increase of 11.77% over the same period of last financial year,
and reached a gross margin of 18.43%. Affected by the one-off
goodwill impairment of the bank ATM business, profit attributable to
the shareholders of the parent company of DCITS was approximately
HK$108 million, which was a HK$251 million reduction compared to
HK$359 million profit attributable to the shareholders in the same
period of the last financial year.

Financial technology strategy achieved remarkable results
During the reporting period, DCITS's financial technology strategy
has achieved remarkable results, with rapid revenue growth and
further increase in the proportion of the Company's total revenue. It
provides financial industry customers with fintech services covering
the entire industry chain and has evolved into a leading financial
technology service company in China's banking sector.

Core Banking System and Distributed Platform were awarded
contracts from important customers such as The Export-Import
Bank of China, Ping An One Connect, Sanxiang Bank, Ningxia Bank
and Yingkou Coastal Bank, with the amount of signed contracts for
distributed core banking system and distributed platforms increasing
by 369% compared with that of last year. The first distributed core
banking business system introduced by the Company not only
separates the business core unit from the accounting core unit at
the business level, but also introduces the product factory and
accounting engine to ensure the improvement of performance and
processing capacity while achieving cost-reductions, perfectly
striking a balance between the integration and development of
traditional banking business and internet-based business. As of
today, distributed core banking business system of DCITS has been
recognized by dozens of banks, which provide financial services to
hundreds of millions of users, and its economic and social benefits
are becoming increasingly prominent.
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Enterprise Service Bus ("ESB") won multiple tenders and 20
financial institutions signed service contracts with us such as China
Central Depository & Clearing, Bank of East Asia, Industrial Bank and
so on. The amount of signed contracts increased by 21% compared
with that of last year, maintaining its leading market position, with
more than 100 existing clients. Its product is comparable to a
"highway" connecting headquarters, branches and service networks,
and is the main backbone of banking operations. Through the
sophisticated system and service combinations, it significantly
improves the data processing and analytical ability of commercial
banks' IT systems, and helps banks to gain competitive advantages
in the market.

The Internet Open Platform won multiple bids and 11 financial
institutions signed contracts with us such as China Construction
Bank. It becomes a new growth driver with observable advantages
that stand out from the market competition. The Internet financial
solution won the bid of six financial institution customers including
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China. In order to enable
customers to carry out various types of Internet financial business
successfully, the Company takes the lead to meet the market
demand to complete the upgrading of two major product versions.

DCITS always adheres to the principle of self-developed innovation
and control, and its excellent performance in the field of financial
technology has been highly recognized by the industry. At the 22nd
China International Software Expo (CISE2018), DCITS's distributed
core banking business system won the “Top Ten Excellent Products
Award". In addition, its self-developed two major projects, namely
“Fuxin Bank New Generation Core Business System” and "Sichuan XW
Bank Internet Open Platform”, won the "IDC 2018 China Financial
Industry Best Innovation Award".

Driving the Development of the Quantum Communications
Industry

During the reporting period, DCITS, QuantumCTek and Guoxiang
Chenrui Technology Co., Ltd. jointly established Shenzhou Guoxin
(Beijing) Quantum Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhou Guoxin"),
providing quantum communication equipment for quantum
communication network. During the reporting period, the Shenzhou
Guoxin has successfully installed quantum network access
equipment and provided complete quantum key services to financial
industry customers such as the People's Bank of China, Bank of
Shanghai and Shanghai Rural Commercial Bank. In the same period,
the construction of the total integration of quantum communication
metropolitan area network (MAN) in Guiyang, Suzhou and other
places has been successfully completed, and the MAN project has
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been further expanded. In the further deepening strategic
cooperation agreement with CAS Quantum Communication Network
Co., Ltd., it is proposed that we should jointly promote the
construction of quantum network, technical services and industrial
applications, promote the development of quantum communication

technology and ensure national information security.

Strategic Investment: Major Breakthroughs in the
Application in the Healthcare and Manufacturing
Industries

Smart Health Business: Digital China Health Technologies Co., Ltd.,
("Digital China Health"), a subsidiary of DC Holdings, has achieved
breakthroughs in cooperation with pharmaceutical companies. As the
sole contractor, Digital China Health jointly promotes the
construction of cardiovascular information research platform and the
optimization project of clinical diagnosis and treatment decision
support system (“iHeart Project”) with China Cardiovascular Health
Alliance and Sanofi (China) Investment Co., Ltd. Digital China Health
will rely on its strength in scientific research and the
implementation experience of many national clinical medical data
centers to drive the improvement of the ability of Chinese
cardiologists to perform standardized clinical diagnosis and
treatment. In June, 2018, Digital China Health signed a cooperation
agreement with China National Cancer Center (CNCC) and The
National Cancer Registration and Analysis Service (NCRAS) in the
United Kingdom in order to leverage the experience of the
construction of oncology information platform in foreign countries
to build a large oncological information platform in China. At the
annual meeting of the American Medical Informatics Association in
2018, Digital China Health led the establishment of the Sino-US
Joint Center for Medical Information and Big Data Sciences, and
joined the Joint Center as the sole corporate board member. It will
actively promote the deepening of exchanges and cooperation
between the Chinese and American academic community and
industry, and promote the development of Chinese medical and
clinical informatics. During the reporting period, Digital China Health
received investment from internationally renowned investment funds
and successfully completed the series A Round financing with a
post-investment valuation of approximately HK$3.8 billion.
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Smart Manufacturing Business: the number of connected
industrial machines of iSESOL Industrial Internet Platform
increased by 137% to 25,300 as compared to that of last
year

iSESOL, a joint venture jointly established by DC Holdings, Shenyang
Machine Tool Co., Ltd. and Everbright Financial Holding Asset
Management Co., Ltd., launched iSESOL Industrial Internet Platform,
which generates industrial data service based on manufacturing
process through the interconnection with smart equipment. During
the reporting period, iSESOL Industrial Internet Platform became one
of the first five platforms in China providing reliable cloud services
on industrial Internet through the "Certification of Evaluation of
Reliable Services for the First Batch of Industrial Internet Platforms"
awarded by the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology.
Visited by Premier Li Kegiang, iSESOL was also the only industrial
internet platform, with vertical focus in the field of mechanical
processing. ISESOL Industrial Internet Platform has rapidly expanded
in the market during the reporting period. It has connected more
than 25,300 industrial machines, representing an increase of 137%
as compared to last year. Its service scope has covered 26 provinces
and 161 cities, serving more than 3,000 corporate customers with
cumulated service hours of more than 5,800 thousand hours.

Smart Finance Business: building a comprehensive financial
service platform to enable DC Holdings' business
ecosystem

Smart Finance Business covers supply chain finance, industrial
finance, industrial funds, etc. Currently, it has licenses to provide
services in fund management, internet micro credit, commercial
factoring and financial leasing. Through the four core capabilities,
namely resources integration, product design, risk control and
platform operation, supply chain finance and industrial finance
services are provided to Smart Industry Chain and Sm@rt City
partners on the asset side, and various financial institutions'
resources are integrated on the funding side to realize the
interconnection of assets and funds.

In 2018, we coordinated with the business sector of the Smart
Industry Chain to provide supply chain financial services such as
asset-pledged financing in warehouses, factoring financing and
financial leasing to upstream and downstream partners and
distributors who serve the business sector of the Smart Industry
Chain. We also worked with Sm@rt City and the Smart Industry
Chain to create a “industry-city integration" service model to
provide comprehensive industrial financial services to the industrial
park.
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Business outlook: Adhering to the smart development of
city and digital transformation of industries with self-
developed innovative technology, with a focus on
improving shareholder returns

In the 5G era where everything is inter-connected, DC Holdings, as a
leading Big Data operation service group, will continue to adhere to
"Digital China" as its mission, rely on big data, artificial intelligence
and loT, positively build the business in key areas of Sm@rt City,
Smart Industry Chain, Financial Technology, Smart Health and Smart
Manufacturing, and actively explore the ecosystem model of urban
organic smart development as well as the sustainable development
of the integration of industry and city. Going forward, Sm@rt City
Business will rely on the world's leading core technologies such as
"Yan Cloud DaaS" and loT, and promote the development of Sm@rt
City through the deployment of scientific and technological
resources and big data operation services. Smart Industry Chain
business will be driven by digital transformation, with big data
technology as the core capability, to create a ecosystem with
industry integration to achieve earning growth. We expect 2019 to
be a fruitful year for DC Holdings and its shareholders.

Update on the settlement plans regarding certain wealth
management financial products purchased by the group
(the "WMP")

Further to the announcement made by the Company on 28 June
2018, the Group received a repayment of an amount of
approximately HK$651 million (RMB550 million) worth of the
principal of the WMP from the issuer of the WMP on 6 July 2018.
Thereafter, the Group received a further repayment of an amount of
approximately HK$18 million (RMB16 million) from the issuer of the
WMP on 5 November 2018. As at the end of this financial year, the
outstanding unpaid principal of the WMP was approximately
HK$1,862 million (RMB1,634 million).
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The Group has made specific action plans with relevant asset
disposal experience on the planning for the sale of the ultimate
underlying assets involved in the WMP of approximately HK$1,862
million (RMB1,634 million) mentioned above. In accordance with the
action plans, the Company and its partners have dispatched
personnel to the ultimate underlying assets of the WMP in 2018 to
directly engage in asset management and disposal processes. In
particular, after The Group's efforts, the real estate residential
projects in the ultimate underlying assets (involving principal and
interest of approximately HK$220 million (RMB193 million)) have
now entered into the asset restructuring and disposal procedure.
Based on the current progress of the restructuring party, it has
become clear that the Group, in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations, will recover the amounts involved in the real estate
residential projects, which are parts of the relevant assets, according
to the realisation and repayment plans, totaling approximately
HK$220 million (RMB193 million).

The realisation and repayment plans of the remaining ultimate
underlying assets (involving approximately HK$1,642 million
(RMB1,441 million)) is achieving positive progress. The Group will
continue to pursue its execution according to the action plans, In
the event of significant progress in the action plans, the Company
will issue an announcement in due course.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The Group mainly finances its operations with internally generated cash
flows, bank borrowings and banking facilities.

The Group had total assets of HK$25,488 million at 31 December 2018
which were financed by total liabilities of HK$13,091 million, non-
controlling interests of HK$3,547 million and equity attributable to equity
holders of the parent of HK$8,850 million. The Group's current ratio at 31
December 2018 was 1.22 as compared to 1.11 at 31 December 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, capital expenditure of HK$833
million was mainly incurred for the acquisition of properties, office
equipment and IT infrastructure facilities.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and bank balances of
HK$2,274 million, of which about HK$2,168 million were denominated in
Renminbi.

The aggregate borrowings of the Group as a ratio of equity attributable to
equity holders of the parent was 0.70 at 31 December 2018 as compared
to 0.87 at 31 December 2017. The computation of the said ratio was based
on the total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of HK$6,199
million (31 December 2017: HK$7,881 million) and equity attributable to
equity holders of the parent of HK$8,850 million (31 December 2017:
HK$9,110 million).

EXRAX NRBESRUBE

P
AEBEFZBLABLER FBITERKE
TEEENELENTES: -

RZE—NF+=ZA=+—H FX%£H
A BEEEEs4ssBIT  ME S KR
BB EEE 0BT FERERS
354718 70 N B 2 B AR B JE A 5 8
8850 L - RZZE—NF+_A=+—
H AREBZARBLZE 12 MRZE
—tFEF+ZHA=FT—HAEI-

REEZZT—\F+ZA=+T—HLEF
ER FZARBERE WAEHRE
RTERZBELIMEENEARAYL A
B 33E T ©

n= "*A¢+ A=+—8" $%l
ﬁiﬁ.%&fﬁ TR B 227418 7T EEl':F'
BH B EE21.68ETT EMAEM#Eo

RZE—NF+=ZA=+—H 4X%£HE
NEMERBREIRARREEGER
ZHER B0 MR -ZE—+FE+ A
E+*EEM7thWEW RIT I
HEZEmEBa9ET( 2 —+F
+ZA=+— Ei-/%%msﬂ L) REA
AR R B (L i 25 B s sofE L (ZE— ¢
F+-A=+—H:B¥a10E )t
& .



At 31 December 2018, the denomination of the interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of the Group was shown as follows:

N
=)

B

=
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T \ET_A=T-A A%E
BIRTTREAME R R E T -

Denominated

Denominated in Hong Kong

in Renminbi dollars Total
DARY LB T

sHE sHE Bt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BET T BETT

Current RE

Interest-bearing bank borrowings, unsecured M EERITE R - EIKH 1,760,432 169,525 1,929,957

Interest-bearing bank borrowings, secured M ERITER  BIKH 1,609,938 - 1,609,938

Other borrowings i E R 52,419 - 52,419
3,422,789 169,525 3,692,314

Non-current FERE

Interest-bearing bank borrowings, unsecured M EERITE K - I 51,279 - 51,279

Interest-bearing bank borrowings, secured M ERITE R BIKH 1,980,229 - 1,980,229

Corporate bond NAEESH 574,844 - 574,844
2,606,352 - 2,606,352

Total 4 §+ 6,029,141 169,525 6,198,666

Certain of the Group's bank borrowings of:

1. HK$2,570 million extended by financial institutions to certain
subsidiaries of the Group were secured by mortgages over the
Group's buildings, investment properties, land use rights and
properties under development with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$3,977 million at 31 December 2018;

2. HK$1,014 million extended by financial institutions to certain
subsidiaries of the Group were secured by pledge of 228,500,000
issued shares of DCITS, a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, directly held by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$2,432 million at
31 December 2018; and

3. HK$6 million extended by financial institutions to a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group were secured by mortgages over a
building of a non-controlling shareholder at 31 December 2018.
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Included in the Group's current and non-current bank borrowings of
HK$157 million and HK$2,032 million respectively represented the long-
term loans which are repayable from the year 2019 to year 2027. All of the
Group's bank borrowings were charged at floating interest rates except for
the loan balances with an aggregate amount of HK$3,077 million which
were charged at fixed interest rates as at 31 December 2018.

In May 2016, Digital China Software Limited* (18 M &5 814 A R A 7))
("DC Software"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, obtained the
relevant approval for issuing the medium-term notes in the national inter-
bank market in the PRC with a maximum principal amount of RMB700
million (equivalent to approximately HK$798 million). In September 2016,
DC Software issued the first tranche of the medium-term notes of 2016
with a total principal amount of RMB500 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$570 million) with a maturity period of 5 years (with the
investors' option to sell back the notes after the end of the third year from
the issuance date) and at an interest rate of 4.9% per annum. The proceeds
thereof were to be used for repaying the bank loans of the Group.

Pursuant to the "Capital Contribution and Shareholders' Agreement of
Shenzhou Lingyun (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.", upon fulfillment of the
condition pertaining to an undertaking regarding business results, investors
subscribing for shares with new capital contributions shall provide,
according to their capital contribution ratios, loans with a total amount of
RMB33 million (equivalent to approximately HK$37.60 million) in the form
of convertible bonds to Shenzhou Lingyun (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd*
(B NEE () B AR R F) (a subsidiary of DCITS, which is in
turn a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (“Shenzhou
Lingyun"). In the year 2017, the investors provided the first tranche of
convertible bond loans in the amount of RMB16 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$18.2 million), comprising RMB12.80 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$14.60 million) provided by DCITS and RMB3.20 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$3.6 million) provided by the remaining
investors. In the year 2018, the investors provided the second tranche of
convertible bond loans in the amount of RMB14.85 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$16.9 million), comprising RMB13.60 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$15.5 million) provided by DCITS and RMB1.25 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$1.4 million) provided by the remaining
investors. Subject to the fulfillment of the undertaking regarding Shenzhou
Lingyun's business results for the years 2016 to 2020 in full, the investors
have agreed to convert the full amount of the convertible bond loans into
investments in Shenzhou Lingyun, which shall be credited, upon conversion,
to Shenzhou Lingyun's capital reserve. In the event that the business result
undertaking is not fulfilled, Shenzhou Lingyun shall repay the aforesaid
convertible bond loans within 30 days upon receipt of notices from the
investors.
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The total available bank credit facilities for the Group at 31 December
2018 amounted to HK$9,764 million, of which HK$3,209 million were in
long-term loan facilities, HK$2,054 million were in trade lines and
HK$4,501 million were in short-term and revolving money market facilities.
At 31 December 2018, the facility drawn down from the Group was
HK$2,485 million in long-term loan facilities, HK$550 million in trade lines
and HK$2,517 million in short-term and revolving money market facilities.

Under the normal course of business, the Group has issued performance
bonds to some customers for potential claims of non-performance in order
to satisfy the specific requirements of these customers. As no material
claims had been made by the customers under such performance bonds in
the past, the management considers that the possibility of realisation of
any actual material liabilities arising from such performance bonds is
remote.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) The Group provided guarantee in favour of one financial institution
for certain asset-backed securities issued by an associate, Chongging
Digital China HC Microfinance Co. Ltd* (EE MBS EZI2/) 580
BERXBERR with an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$198,279,000 as at 31 December 2018.

(b) On 7 November 2018, China Potevio Co., Ltd. filed a litigation with
Beijing's Second Intermediate People's Court on the grounds that
DCITS assisted Shengwugang Company in capital withdrawal,
requiring DCITS to bear joint and several liability for compensation
in relation to the assistance given to Shengwugang Company for
capital withdrawal of RMB25,000,000 together with interests. At the
end of December 2018, DCITS filed a jurisdiction objection litigation
with Beijing's Second Intermediate People's Court which has been
rejected. DCITS filed a litigation with Beijing Municipal High People's
Court against the ruling rejecting the jurisdiction objection, which is
being processed.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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TEEUNE DN

CAPITAL COMMITMENT
At 31 December 2018, the Group had the following capital commitments:

B AR EE
RZE-—NF+_A=+—8 ' ~%£H
YEH AT & AR FIE -

HK$'000

BT T

Land and buildings T REF 158,324

Capital contributions payable to joint ventures MZHEEEPEERTE 35,417

Capital contributions payable to an associate MEEEEARERTE 6,837
Capital contributions payable to financial assets at fair value NAREBEEAZEHEES)

through other comprehensive income FFAREMEEYED SR
BEEANIE 120,140
320,718

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the reporting period, the Company repurchased an
aggregate of 5,911,000 ordinary shares at the consideration of the highest
and lowest purchase prices of HK$3.60 and HK$3.37 per share respectively
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the aggregate
consideration paid (including transaction costs) was approximately
HK$20,539,000.

HUMAN RESOURCES

At 31 December 2018, the Group had approximately 11,000 (31 December
2017: approximately 12,000) full-time employees. The majority of these
employees work in the PRC. The Group offers remuneration packages in line
with industry practice. Employees' remuneration includes basic salaries and
bonuses. The Group has recorded a 1.76% decrease in staff costs to
approximately HK$2,569 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 as
compared to approximately HK$2,615 million for the corresponding period
of the last financial year. In order to attract and retain a high caliber of
capable and motivated workforce, the Company offers share-based
incentive schemes to staff based on the individual performance and the
achievements of the Company's targets. The Group is committed to
providing its staff with various in-house and external training and
development programs.
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UPDATE ON THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE
RIGHTS ISSUE

Management Discussion and Analysis

&I H 5 R A

HRFAERERERNEHRESR

In September 2017, the Company completed a rights issue (the "Rights RZE—+FHA AR ATEMER
Issue") and raised funds of approximately HK$1.34 billion. The table below (R RESESOBE3MET T
set out the use of net proceeds (the "Net Proceeds") from the Rights Issue: xBHERTE fﬂ( BFHE (e RIEF
BmDOAEBR
Actual
Actual application
application  Un-utilised  for the year  Un-utilised
as at amount as at ended amount as at
Intended use of the net proceeds Net 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
from the Rights Issue proceeds 2017 2017 2018 2018
BE018F  R2018F
R017F  Bo017F  12A31B 128318
FBHE 12ANEMN nANAH LEEN WXBA
HRAESHEFERERR BE EHERER KBRLE EHEREAR k2]
HK$'million  HK$'million ~ HK§'million ~ HK$'million  HK$'million
BEREBL A¥BET B%AERL A¥EET A¥AER
(i) financing the Healthcare Big Data Investment or (i) ARENERBEABBREHTT
any other potential investments and BESBTAMAMEENRER
acquisitions as and when any suitable FMagaEmREge
opportunity is identified 782 (54)! 728 (157)" 571
(ii) repayment of debt and interest expenses (i) BEEBRMEER
(a) repayment of principal and interest expenses () €3 K20174F 10 A B H1)T €k 8 47
to Bank of Jiangsu Co., Ltd. (L& SR1T IR BROBRARNAS KA EER
BB 1 7)) due in October 2017 183 (183) - - -
(b) repayment of principal and interest expenses (b) BE 20178107 B B R S8 5
to Western Securities Co., Ltd. (73 3 3 % BRHBRARMAS RFSER
F& 7 B R A 7)) due in October 2017 286 (286) - - -
(iii) general working capital purposes il —ReEELAR 84 (84) - - -
Total @t 1335 (607) 728 (157) 571

Note 1: As at the date of this announcement, the Healthcare Big Data Investment is still at its
preliminary discussion stage and no legally binding agreement has been entered into by
the Group. As at 31 December 2018, an aggregate of HK$211 million has been used as
investments and acquisitions in relation to the Sm@rt City and other innovation
related business.
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The Company does not have any intention to change the purposes of the
Net Proceeds as set out in the Rights Issue prospectus dated 23 August
2017, and will gradually utilize the un-utilised amount of the Net Proceeds
in accordance with the intended purposes mentioned above.

For further details of the Rights Issue, please refer to the announcements
dated 21 July 2017, 24 August 2017 and 15 September 2017, the rights
issue prospectus dated 23 August 2017 and the annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2017 of the Company.
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Directors and Company Secretary
EEMRAIMWE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEZHE

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. GUO Wei

BREE

Mr. GUO Wei, aged 56, is the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an
Executive Director of the Group and is responsible for the strategic
development and the overall business management of the Group. Mr. Guo
had been the Vice Chairman, the President and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Group since February 2001 and was appointed as the Chairman of
the Board of the Company in December 2007. In June 2018, Mr. Guo was
re-appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Group. He is also a
Director of certain subsidiaries and associates of the Company. Mr. Guo
obtained a Master's Degree from the Graduate School of the Chinese
Academy of Science (formerly known as Graduate School of the University
of Science and Technology of China) in 1988. He joined the Legend group
in 1988 and was once an Executive Director and Senior Vice President. Mr.
Guo was awarded such major prizes included China's Top Ten Outstanding
Youths (2002), K2 H & F A R ¥ (L 52 (Practical and Outstanding
Youth of Achievement) (2002) by the China Association for Science and
Technology, China's Top Ten Outstanding Youths in Technology Innovation
(1998), Future Economic Leader of China (2003), and the First Annual China
Young Entrepreneurs Creative Management Golden Honour (2005). He was
also selected as the 50 Most Powerful Business people in China by Fortune
Magazine (Chinese version) in 2011 and 2012.

Mr. Guo is currently the Chairman of Digital China Information Service
Company Ltd. and the Chairman and the President and members of the
Strategic Committee and the Nomination Committee of Digital China Group
Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Shenzhen Shenxin Taifeng Group Co., Ltd.) (all
listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange). In addition, he is a Director of
Kosalaki Investments Limited which is a substantial shareholder of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance. Mr. Guo was a Non-executive Director of HC International, Inc.
(listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), an
Independent Director of Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
(listed on The Shanghai Stock Exchange), a Director of DigiWin Software
Co., Ltd. (listed on the ChiNext of The Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and an
Independent Non-executive Director of China Southern Airlines Company
Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, The Shanghai Stock Exchange and The New York Stock Exchange).
Besides, Mr. Guo is currently a member of the 4th Advisory Committee for
State Informatization and Vice Chairman of Digitalized China Industry
Development Alliance. He was a Standing Committee Member of the 12th
National Committee of the Chinese People's Political Consultative
Conference, the Chairman of Beijing Informatization Association and the
Chairman of the 6th Council of China Non-Governmental Science
Technology Entrepreneurs Association. He has over 31 years of experience
in business strategy development and business management.
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EERRNEIME

Mr. LIN Yang

MERE

Mr. LIN Yang, aged 52, is the Vice Chairman and an Executive Director of
the Group. He is also a Director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Lin graduated in 1988 with a Bachelor's Degree in Computing
Communications from the Xidian University and in 2005 with a Master's
Degree in Business Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of
Business. He joined the Group in February 2001 and was previously the
Executive Vice President and the President of the Group and was also the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group from April 2011 to June 2018. Mr. Lin
was the Vice Chairman, Director and a member of the Audit Committee of
Digital China Information Service Company Ltd. (listed on The Shenzhen
Stock Exchange). He joined the Legend group in 1990 and has over 28
years of management experience in distribution business. Mr. Lin was
awarded the Lifetime Achievement Award by the IT Channel Elite Panel in
2001 and recognised as the Most Influential Figure in IT Distribution of 20
Years in 2005. In 2013, he was also selected as one of the Leaders of the
Year 2012 of the China Information Industry and Top-10 Annual Icons of
the Year 2012 of Zhongguancun. Besides, Mr. Lin was the Director of IT
Channel Profession Council, under the MIT (Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology).
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Directors and Company Secretary

EERRAIME

Non-executive Directors

FHTES
Mr. YU Ziping
REREE
Mr. YU Ziping, aged 47, has been a Non-executive Director of the REFEFEE NM++tm BT —+HF #w
p hil
Company since 27 December 2017. Mr. Yu currently serves as the Director T-A-tEHARBEEERR QZ#ﬁTT 4
and General Manager of Guangzhou Environment Energy CCl Capital Ltd. i%;ﬁ%iiﬁz%ﬂll [ y; =5 LR ©
(”GEE") th H H . : %Xﬁ Eiﬁlgﬁ N j (U}iﬁx iﬁz b/ﬁj) Z -
, the Legal Representative and Chairman of Guangzhou Wisdom City EE RO EMNLEE 2 AR S
. .. e WL B =
Science and Technology Development Co., Ltd. (a joint venture of the HEARAR (BAAR RRKBEEER ~

Company and GEE), a director of Guangzhou Chengtou Runze Technology TSN T EEREAEESEE B
Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou Chengtou Information Technology Co., Ltd., and M EER AR AT EEMNBIEE
the Legal Representative, Director and General Manager of Guangzhou BRIBERAFGZEEREMNE EME © ¥

Wisdom Shipping Marketing Data Services Ltd., and is also a member of the BERHFERD ﬁz;iiﬁi/\&%%
Investment Committee of GZ Investment Group. Mr. Yu graduated from REER WRERERMNPREEZRE

N

= i
Northeastern University in 1994 with a Bachelor's Degree in Engineering ?iﬁgslzﬁiiz{_Lﬂ%?ﬁg% S
and graduated from Jinan University in 2003 with MBA Degree. He :ﬁgﬁ%%ﬁg—%fﬁlﬁ I%EE;: o L’%
obtained architect qualification in 2000. N R EESFERTRMER - :%
Mr. Yu had worked at several large state-owned enterprises and REEECRBREZRAVUHAELEEEH -
A G A N = =l =
multinational joint ventures. During the period, he was responsible for the zﬁﬁ %%Eﬁ]\a Aol - HiREAERR =
= /=], 4 N aRt= = L S
formation of companies, port shipping, urban infrastructure construction g;ﬁﬁ{gﬁgﬂﬂgiﬁi%@u%% T
and investment operation and management, as well as the development of ﬂﬂi;%?’%%%%éﬁ%gﬁi ﬁii%
B A \ - °
new industries and other business. In recent years, mainly focused on the B2 E"%éyﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬁ% o R —
wisdom city and big data business. He was the Commercial Manager of TE - FEE ST -_FHE EENE

Business Development Department at Guangzhou Container Terminal Co., HEEEAR AR EBR R TIEFEL4
Ltd. from 2001 to 2003. He was the Manager of Investment Management éi%%%ﬁi CFEHRZEE=F=E
Department, Plan Purchasing and Contract Management Department and —ZFHHE E}?JHé&iyﬂz?ﬁ%«
Business Management Department at Guangzhou University City %ﬁﬁﬁ R B fE IR B H A
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Investment & Management Co., Ltd. from 2003 to 2010. 75
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Mr. PENG Jing

ZREE

Mr. PENG lJing, aged 32, has been a Non-executive Director of the
Company since 27 December 2017. Mr. Peng serves as the Vice General
Manager of Guangzhou City Investment Co., Ltd. and the Chairman of
Guangzhou City Investment Micro Loan Co. Ltd. Mr. Peng received a
Bachelor's Degree in Literature from Guangzhou University in 2008 and
received a Master's Degree in Business Administration from Guangdong
University of Finance and Economics in 2017.

Mr. Peng has served several large listed financial institutions and state-
owned conglomerates, and has had nearly 11 years' experience on financial
investment and financing experience since 2008. During the period, he was
responsible for bank credit, trade finance, international business and
corporate financial investment. He has established several companies to
invest in funds, finance lease, small loans, urban infrastructure
construction and investment operation management, as well as the
development of emerging industries. In recent years, he has focused on
financial investment and financing, participated in the establishment of big
data funds and construction funds, and participated in the relevant
investment projects of the group's smart cities.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis

BXREE

Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis, aged 54, has been an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since 23 August 2006. He holds a
Master's Degree in Management conferred by Guangzhou Jinan University,
the People's Republic of China. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and The Society of Chinese
Accountants and Auditors, and a Certified Tax Advisor of the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong. He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) and
has over 31 years of experience in auditing, taxation, corporate internal
control and governance, acquisition and financial advisory, corporate
restructuring and liquidation, family trust and wealth management. Mr.
Wong joined the Company in August 2006. Previously, Mr. Wong worked
for KPMG, an international accounting firm, for 6 years and the Hong Kong
Securities Clearing Company Limited for 2 years. Mr. Wong has the
appropriate professional qualifications, accounting and related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent Non-executive Director, the
Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee as well
as a member of the Nomination Committee of China Oriental Group
Company Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited); an Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of Wai Kee Holdings Limited, Integrated Waste
Solutions Group Holdings Limited and Greenheart Group Limited (all listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited); an
Independent Non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee
and the Strategy and Investment Committee of GCL-Poly Energy Holdings
Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited); an Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of Hilong
Holding Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited); Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee of China
New Higher Education Group Limited (listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited); and an Independent Non-executive
Director, the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and
a member of the Remuneration Committee of Qeeka Home (Cayman) Inc.
(listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). He
was an Independent Non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Audit
Committee of Kunming Dianchi Water Treatment Co., Ltd. (listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). With effect
from 3 April 2018, Mr. Wong was re-designated as a Non-executive
Chairman of Union Alpha C.P.A. Limited (who was the Managing Director)
and a Non-executive Director of Union Alpha CAAP Certified Public
Accountants Limited (who was a Director), both being professional
accounting firms, in order to devote more time on his role of independent
non-executive directors of listed companies and charity works. Mr. Wong is
a Founding Director and member of Francis M C Wong Charitable
Foundation Limited, a charitable institution.
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Directors and Company Secretary
EERRNEIME

Ms. NI Hong (Hope)

{7 8L/~ 48

Ms. NI Hong (Hope), aged 46, has been an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since 29 September 2010. Ms. Ni received her J.D.
Degree from the University of Pennsylvania Law School and her Bachelor's
Degree in Applied Economics and Business Management from Cornell
University. Ms. Ni joined the Company in September 2010. Currently, Ms. Ni
is an Executive Director and the Chief Investment Officer of Cogobuy
Group (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited) and an Independent Director, the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Compensation Committee of ATA Inc, a
NASDAQ-listed company (NASDAQ: ATAI). Ms. Ni has been the Chairman of
Inspire Capital since 2009. From August 2004 to January 2008, Ms. Ni
served as the Chief Financial Officer and Director for Viewtran Group, Inc.
("Viewtran"), and subsequently served as its Vice Chairman until early 2009.
Prior to joining Viewtran, Ms. Ni spent six years as a Practicing Attorney at
Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP in New York and Hong Kong,
specializing in corporate finance. Prior to that, Ms. Ni worked at Merrill
Lynch's investment banking division in New York.

Ms. Ni was an Independent Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Compensation and Nomination Committee at JA Solar
Holdings, Co. Ltd., a NASDAQ-listed company (NASDAQ: JASO), a Director of
ATA Online (Beijing) Education Technology Co., Ltd. (delisted from the
National Equities Exchange and Quotations System of China (also known as
the New Third Board) on 11 October 2017) and an Independent Director at
KongZhong Corporation, a formerly NASDAQ-listed company (NASDAQ: KZ).
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Dr. LIU Yun, John

grEt

Dr. LIU Yun, John, aged 55, has been an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since 25 March 2014. Dr. Liu was the Vice
President and Chief Operating Officer of Wanda Internet Technology Group
from March 2017 to May 2018. He was an Independent Non-Executive
Director of ARM Holdings Plc. (listed on the London Stock Exchange) from
December 2014 to September 2016. He was also a Senior Vice President of
Greater China Field Division of Conservation International from June 2016
to September 2016. He was the Chief Business Officer of Qihoo 360
Technology Co. Ltd. from January 2014 to August 2015. Prior to that, he
held senior positions in various renowned companies in the communication
or networking or software arena as follows: Corporate Vice President and
Head of Greater China of Google Inc. from 2008 to 2013; Chief Executive
Officer, China Operations of SK Telecom Co., Ltd. from 2002 to 2007;
General Manager, Greater China of FreeMarkets Inc. from 2000 to 2002;
Chief Executive Officer, China Operations of SITA Communication from
1999 to 2000; General Manager, Telecommunication Group of The Lion
Group from 1997 to 1999 and Country Director, Greater China of
Singapore Telecommunications Limited from 1994 to 1997.

Dr. Liu graduated from Beijing Normal University with a Bachelor's Degree
in Mathematics in 1983 and obtained his Ph.D in Telecommunications
Network Management from Technical University of Denmark in 1997. In
2011, Dr. Liu undertook a Senior Executive Program of Harvard Business
School.
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Directors and Company Secretary
EERRNEIME

Ms. YAN Xiaoyan

BEREZEzL

%; Ms. YAN Xiaoyan, aged 67, has been an Independent Non-executive
5_5 Director of the Company since 27 May 2014. Ms. Yan has served in the
é financial sector for about 40 years. She has taken up senior positions at
= The People's Bank of China and Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
] and served as a Director and a Vice President of Bank of Beijing (listed on
The Shanghai Stock Exchange) since 1996 and appointed as the President
and the Vice Chairperson since 2002 and 2010 respectively. Ms. Yan was
o also the President of the 6th Executive Committee of Beijing Banking
Association. She was also the Chairperson of Bank of Beijing Consumer
3 Finance Company, an Advisor to The People's Government of Beijing
E Municipality, the Vice President of the Listed Companies Association of
Zp Beijing, the Assistant Secretary General of the China Volunteer Service
% Federation and the Vice Director General and Secretary General of the
= China Volunteer Service Foundation. Ms. Yan is a female financial
§ entrepreneur with outstanding acumen and leadership rarely seen in the
% banking sector.
[=)

Ms. Yan is a senior economist, holding a Master's Degree in Economics
from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics and a Master's
Degree in Management from Xiamen University. She is a tutor to graduate
students and visiting professor at the Central University of Finance and
Economics, a school-level part-time professor at Xi'an Jiaotong University
and an instructor at the post-doctorate research station of Bank of Beijing.
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Directors and Company Secretary
EERREIWE

Mr. KING William

EEHRE

Mr. KING William, aged 52, was appointed as an Independent Non- SEFRE AT m RZTE—N\F w
executive Director of the Company with effect from 29 June 2018. Mr. King NAZTHWBEZERERRAR ZE LI il
currently is the Managing Director of Russell Reynolds Associates, Hong HTEF oL EB T N\F+AZ w
Kong since 2 October 2018. Mr. King was a partner at Egon Zehnder ARETEAERBARFRICESTEL -
International (Shanghai) Company Limited, a leading executive search firm, BosgAERZTETELF—HAEZZ o~
from January 2007 to May 2016. Prior to that, Mr. King held several —NFRAMETERLE(LESE)E
leadership roles with some of the global technology companies as follows: RAR(—RELXNBRERASTERE
Chief Operating Officer at eBay China from April 2005 to November 2006, ARBZEBA - HEUZA - X4 ®
General Manager of AT&T Greater China from August 2002 to April 2005, RTIEHMERBFERAAETEREAS
Director of Telecommunications and Media at Credit Suisse First Boston B By PRI EREZE (ZEZ -
(CSFB), Hong Kong from September 2001 to April 2002, Head of Corporate hFMNAZZZTERF+—H) E£HE «
Planning and Development at Hong Kong Telecom and PCCW from FEEMA A (ATRT) K E 7 Bl (= L’%
September 1999 to September 2001; Senior Associate at Booz Allen & EE_FNAAZEZETHFENEA) WL e
Hamilton from 1995 to September 1999 and Senior Systems Consultant FEEE R LHECSBEEZ ESHEEE Eﬁ
with IBM Corporation in the US from February 1988 to July 1993. ¥BE(CZEZE—FNAZ_TET N §
R) BAEAKREMAR 2 EEREHE =
BRZBEACNAANFAAZEZZE T

Mr. King received a Bachelor of Science Degree in Electrical Engineering
from University of Michigan and MBA with Finance major from the
Wharton School of Business at the University of Pennsylvania.
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Company Secretary
REAME

Mr. WONG Chi Keung

IaRs4E

-

Mr. WONG Chi Keung, aged 52, is the Company Secretary of the Company
since February 2001. Mr. Wong is mainly responsible for the financial

reporting and listing issues of the Group. Mr. Wong graduated from The
University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor's Degree in Social Sciences and is
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Wong is currently a Non-executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of HC International, Inc. (listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). Previously, Mr. Wong
worked for Ernst & Young, an international accounting firm, for 6 years.
Mr. Wong has over 29 years of experience in financial management and
corporate administration.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEEB®E

The Group is committed to promote the highest standards of corporate
governance so as to enhance its transparency, accountability and corporate
value to the shareholders of the Company (the “"Shareholders").

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on the principles,
code provisions and certain recommended best practices set out in the
"Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report” (the
"Code") and contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock
Exchange") (the "Listing Rules”).

During the year ended 31 December 2018 (the "Reporting Period"), the
Company has complied with the code provisions (the "Code Provision(s)")
set out in the Code throughout the Reporting Period, except the following
deviations from certain Code Provisions with considered reasons as given
below:

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and
chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Mr. GUO Wei, the Chairman of the board of directors of the Company (the
"Board"), has been taking up the dual role as Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company since 8 June 2018. Mr. GUO Wei has extensive
experience in business strategic development and management and is
responsible for overseeing the whole business, strategic development and
management of the Group. The Board believes that the dual role of Mr.
GUO Wei will enable the consistency between the setting up and the
implementation of the business strategy and benefit the Group and the
Shareholders as a whole.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.

All of the Non-executive Directors of the Company were not appointed for
any specific term. Since all Directors (save for the Chairman of the Board
or the Managing Director) are subject to retirement by rotation at each
annual general meeting in accordance with the new bye-laws of the
Company (the "New Bye-Laws") and shall be eligible for re-election. The
Board considers that the retirement of Directors by rotation at each annual
general meeting in accordance with the New Bye-Laws has given the
Shareholders the right to approve the continuation of the service of the
Directors.
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Code Provision A.4.2 stipulates that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years.

Under the New Bye-Laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, the number nearest to one-third shall retire from office, the
Chairman of the Board or the Managing Director shall not, whilst holding
such office, be subject to retirement by rotation. Therefore, Mr. GUO Wei,
the Chairman of the Board, shall not be subject to retirement by rotation.
Given the existing number of Directors of the Company, not less than one-
third of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at each annual
general meeting, by which each Director (other than the Chairman of the
Board) will retire by rotation once every three years at the minimum.

Code Provision A.5.1 stipulates that the listed company should establish a
nomination committee which is chaired by the chairman of the board or an
independent non-executive director and comprises a majority of
independent non-executive directors.

The Company does not establish a nomination committee at present. The
Company considers that the setting up of a nomination committee may not
be necessary as the Board has the power from time to time and at any
time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or
as addition to the Board according to the New Bye-laws, therefore, the
Board has been able to assume the responsibilities of a nomination
committee. The Board will identify and assess whether the candidate has
the balanced composition of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the businesses of the Company and suitably qualified to
become board members.

Code Provision D.1.4 stipulates that directors should clearly understand
delegation arrangements in place. Listed company should have formal
letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment.

The Company has not entered into any written letter of appointment with
its any Non-executive Directors or Independent Non-executive Directors.
However, the Board recognises that (i) the relevant Directors have already
been subject to the laws and regulations applicable to directors of a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, including the Listing Rules as well
as the fiduciary duties to act in the best interests of the Company and its
Shareholders; (i) all of them are well established in their professions and
have held directorships in other listed companies; and (i) the current
arrangement has been adopted by the Company for years and has proved
to be effective. Therefore, the Board considers that the relevant Directors
are able to carry out their duties in a responsible and effective manner
under the current arrangement.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the "Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers" contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the "Model Code") as its code of conduct for Directors' securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry with the Directors, all of the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard as
set out in the Model Code throughout the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including two Executive Directors, two Non-executive Directors and five
Independent Non-executive Directors. During the Reporting Period, one
Independent Non-executive Director was retired and one Independent Non-
executive Director was appointed. To the best knowledge of the Company,
the Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out under the heading
"Directors and Company Secretary” on pages 37 to 46 of this annual
report.

Role and Function

The Board takes responsibility for the formulation of the overall strategy
and the leadership and control of the Group such as the Group's long term
objectives and strategies, the approval of the Group's corporate and capital
structure, financial reporting and controls, internal controls and risk
management, material contracts, communication with the Shareholders, the
Board membership and other appointments, remuneration of Directors and
other key senior management, delegation of authority to Board committees
and corporate governance matters.

During the Reporting Period, one general meeting was held and the Board
held four reqular Board meetings at approximately quarterly intervals and
six ad hoc Board meetings where the Directors attended the Board
meetings either in person or by means of electronic communication.

Appointments and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the New Bye-Laws to appoint any person as
a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board.
Only the qualified candidates will be proposed to the Board for
consideration and the selection criteria are mainly based on the assessment
of their professional qualifications, experience and their possible
contribution to the Group.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the Company has
appointed five Independent Non-executive Directors, one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company is of the view that all the Independent Non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and considers that they are independent.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. GUO Wei, the Chairman of the Board, has been taking up the dual role
as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 8 June
2018. Mr. GUO Wei has extensive experience in business strategic
development and management and is responsible for overseeing the whole
business, strategic development and management of the Group. The Board
believes that the dual role of Mr. GUO Wei will enable the consistency
between the setting up and the implementation of the business strategy
and benefit the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the "Audit Committee”) was
established in 2001 with specific written terms of reference. The Audit
Committee comprises three members and all of them are Independent
Non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is currently chaired by Mr.
WONG Man Chung, Francis (who possesses the appropriate professional
qualification or accounting or related financial management expertise),
with Ms. NI Hong (Hope) and Ms. YAN Xiaoyan as members.

The latest Terms of Reference for Audit Committee re-adopted by the Board
was effective on 21 December 2018 and is available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

The Audit Committee is responsible for, among others, the following:

(i) monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the Group;

(i1) reviewing the Group's financial controls, risk management and
internal control systems;

(i) reviewing the Group's financial and accounting policies and practices;
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(iv)  reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of the Group's internal
audit function and ensuring coordination between the internal and
external auditors; and

(v) performing the Group's corporate governance function delegated by
the Board.

Corporate Governance Function

Under the Terms of Reference for Audit Committee now in place, the Audit
Committee has been delegated by the Board to perform the following
corporate governance function:

(i) to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(i) to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

(v) to review the Company's compliance with the Code and the disclosure
in this report as set out under Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held three meetings
where the members attended either in person or by means of electronic
communication.

For the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee has reviewed with the
senior management and the Auditor of the Company (the "Auditor”) their
respective audit findings, the half-yearly and annual financial results before
recommending them to the Board for consideration and approval, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, legal and
requlatory compliance, and discussed auditing, internal control, risk
management and financial reporting matters. The Board has, through the
Audit Committee, conducted reqular reviews on the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group and discussed matters related to
corporate governance function during the Reporting Period.

The Audit Committee has no disagreement with the Board on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the Auditor.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the "Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 31 August 2006 with specific written
terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee comprises three members
and all of them are Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee is currently chaired by Dr. LIU Yun, John, with
Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis and Mr. KING William as members.

The latest Terms of Reference for Remuneration Committee is available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, among others, the
following:

(i) making recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and
structure for all Directors' and senior management's remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy; and

(ii) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual Executive Directors and senior management, which
includes benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments
and on the remuneration of Non-executive Directors.

Details of the Directors' emoluments for the Reporting Period are set out in
note 9 to the financial statements.

The remunerations of the Directors are determined with reference to the
economic situation, the market condition, the responsibilities and duties
assumed by each Director as well as their individual performance.
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DIRECTOR'S ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS

The attendance of each Director at the following meetings during the
Reporting Period is set out below:

Board members

Committee members
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Number of meetings attended/held

-2 ZEBHE HE/ETEERE
Audit  Remuneration Audit  Remuneration  Annual General
Committee Committee Board Meeting Committee Committee Meeting
FHEEE FHZEEE g ENERE HMERE RRBFAE
Regular Ad Hoc
EH 5

Executive Directors HTES

GUO Wei (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) SR (ZEHERHTE) - - 44 56 NA TER NA TER N

LIN Yang (Vice Chairman) w5 E£E) - - 44 46 NA TER  NA TEA 0/1

Non-executive Directors FHITES

YU Ziping REF - - 3/4 56 NA FNEA NA TER 01

PENG Jing P - - 44 o6 NA NEA NA TER o/t

Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES

WONG Man Chung Francis EXR Chairman Member 44 6/6 3 N/A 1

£ & TEA

NI Hong (Hope) {241 Member - 404 3/6 303 N/A 1N

K& TEA
L1U Yun, John 2n - Chairman 44 56 NJA NJA o1
IE TR TEA .
YAN Xiaoyan BER Member - 44 66 202 (Note 1) NJA o1
W& (Brit1) TEA
KING William (ppointed as Director on SEFBR=F-NENA - Member 202 (Note 2) 212 (Note 2) N/A N/A 0/0 (Note 2)
29 June 2018) ZFNARZEREE) mE (Hiit2) (Hiit2) @R TaR (Hiit2)

Notes: Hta -

1. As Ms. YAN Xiaoyan was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee with effect 1. HREBERALXTE-F-N\FA=-tIAH
from 29 June 2018, her attendance was stated by reference to the number of the Audit EEZERBREES EXE R 2 HE &
Committee Meeting held during her tenure. DERETHREBTHNEREZESSRHUA

-

2. As Mr. KING William was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company and a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 29 June
2018, his attendance was stated by reference to the number of the Board Meeting and
general meeting held during his tenure.

3. Mr. LAl Daniel, 8BS, JP retired as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company

and ceased to act as the members of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee with effect from the close of the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 11 June 2018. Mr. LAl Daniel, 88S, JP's attendance at the respective meetings
during the Reporting Period and by reference to the number of the relevant meetings
held during his tenure was as follows: Regular Board Meeting (1/2), Ad hoc Board
Meeting (3/3) and Audit Committee Meeting (1/1).
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DIRECTOR INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Newly appointed Directors will receive comprehensive induction on
appointment to ensure understanding of the directors' responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company also organises and arranges seminars for andfor provides relevant
reading materials to Directors to help ensure they are apprised of the roles,
functions and duties of being a director of a listed company and the
development of their knowledge on the requlatory updates whenever
necessary or appropriate.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has provided training materials for all the then Directors to keep
them abreast of the latest development of legal, requlatory and corporate
governance. The Company has received the records of training from all
those Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company is committed to promoting diversity among the Board and
has adopted a board diversity policy (the "Board Diversity Policy") effective
on 20 August 2013. The Board Diversity Policy outlines the Board's
commitment to fostering a corporate culture that embraces diversity and,
in particular, focuses on its composition.
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The Company recognising and embracing the benefits of having a diverse
Board values increasing diversity at Board level which is perceived to be an
essential element in achieving a sustainable and balanced development of
the Company. In determining the Board composition that best suits the
Company, a wide spectrum of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, ethnicity and cultural background, skills, regional and industry
experience, professional experience, length of service and other qualities of
directors will be considered. All Board appointments shall be made on the
basis of meritocracy and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the diversity of the Board is shown
in the following graphic illustrations. Out of the nine Directors comprising
the Board, two of them are women. Two of the nine Directors are Non-
executive Directors and five of them are Independent Non-executive
Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of the management
process. The Board is also characterised by significant diversity, whether
considered in terms of age, cultural and educational background,
professional expertise and skills. The Board endeavours to steer forward and
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
aspects appropriate to the requirements of the Company's business.

Diversity of the Board as at the end of the Reporting Period

Gender M3l

77.78% l

22.22% l
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55.56% '

22.22%

22.22% '

REMUNERATION OF AUDITOR

For the Reporting Period, remuneration to the Auditor was approximately
HK$3,450,000 for audit services and approximately HK$150,000 for non-
audit services on review relating to the financial statements of offering and
issuance of Taiwan Depositary Receipts.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

1.

Risk Management and Internal Control Notions

An effective and adequate risk management and internal control
system is important for ensuring the realisation of the Group's
strategic objectives. The risk management and internal control
system should uphold the effective conduct of business activities,
guarantee the truthfulness and fairness of accounting records,
ensure the Group's compliance with relevant laws, regulations and
policies, and safequard the assets and interests of the Shareholders.

Features and Effectiveness of Risk Management and
Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish and maintain
the Group's risk management and internal control systems and to
review their effectiveness, for the purpose of safeguarding the
investments of Shareholders and the assets of the Group. Such
systems are designed to manage, but not to remove, the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, provide reasonable (but not
absolute) assurance for freedom from material misstatements or
losses, and manage, but not eliminate, risks associated with the
operating systems and the risk of material errors in the objectives of
the Group. Such responsibility is primarily performed by the Audit
Committee, which conducts at least once annually, on behalf of the
Board,
internal control systems in respect of risk handling, financial

reviews on whether the Group's risk management and

accounting and reporting are effective on an ongoing basis, whether
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its operations are effective and efficient, and whether pertinent laws
and regulations have been complied with and risk management
functions have been fulfilled. The Audit Committee also monitors
risks associated with the Group's accounting, internal audit, finance,
staff qualifications and experience, operations and compliance. The
Board also understands its overall responsibility for internal control,
financial control and risk management, and reviews from time to
time its effectiveness in this regard.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee continuously reviews
the risk management and internal control system. The review
procedures include, but are not limited to, listening to the reports
delivered by, among others, the business management teams, the
Internal Audit Department, the Legal Department and the external
auditors, reviewing the various work reports and key indicator
information, as well as discussing material risks with the senior
management team.

For the year 2018, the Board is of the opinion that the Group's risk
management and internal control system was both effective and
adequate. Besides, the Board believes that the Group's accounting
and financial reporting functions were performed by sufficient staff
who were suitably qualified and experienced and who had received
proper training and been adequately developed. The Board also
believes that sufficient resources were allocated to the Group's
internal audit function, which was performed by sufficiently
qualified and experienced staff and for which the training
programmes and budget were sufficient.

RISK MANAGEMENT

1.

Three-tier protection for risk management

In order to ensure the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system, the Group has adopted a three-tier
protection model and, under the supervision and guidance of the
Board, established the organisational structure for risk management
and internal control. The Company's actual circumstances are also
taken into account regarding the annual optimisation and
refinement of the structure.

° First line of protection — operations and management: Mainly
composed of the Group's functional and business
departments at various levels, it is responsible for the day-to-
day operations and management, and for the design and
execution of the relevant control measures for countering
risks.
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Second line of protection — risk management: Mainly
composed of the respective risk management departments of
the Business Groups, it is responsible for planning and
carrying out the construction of the risk management and
internal control system and, in accordance with the
requirements of the risk management system, for organising,
directing, coordinating and implementing the collection of
risk-related information, risk identification, risk assessment
and measures countering material risks at the respective
Business Groups. As such, the second line of protection
assists the first line of protection in establishing and refining

the risk management and internal control system.

Third line of protection — independent protection: Mainly
composed of the Group's Internal Audit Department, it is
responsible for supervising and assessing the risk
management tasks of the Group, thereby ensuring the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
system.

Procedures for ldentifying, Assessing and Managing
Material Risks

Below is an outline of the procedures employed by the Group for
identifying, assessing and managing its material risks:

Risk identification and assessment: Risks that may have a
potential impact on the business and operations of the
Group's various Business Units are identified, and a risk
database is established and continuously updated; the
assessment criteria that have been reviewed and approved by
the management are used in the assessment of identified
risks, during which the likelihood of their occurrence and
their impact on the business are taken into account;

Risk-countering: Through the comparison of risk assessment
outcomes, risks are ranked by priority, and risk management
strategies and internal control procedures are determined for
preventing, avoiding or reducing risks;

Risk monitoring and reporting: Relevant risks are monitored
on an ongoing and regular basis, and appropriate internal
control procedures are guaranteed to be in place; in the
event of any material change, the risk management policies
and internal control procedures would be amended; and the
risk monitoring results are reported to the Audit Committee
and the management on a regular basis.
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3. Material Risks of the Group and Response Measures 3. AEENEZRMKRELH R
During the year of 2018, the Group identified and assessed its ZE-)N\FE  KAEEBBR MR
material risks by means of the aforesaid risk management processes. frE MR R R AT H A E a8

B2REMR-

The Audit Committee assisted the Board in monitoring the Group's ERLEeMEESERAEHE

overall risk profile, and reviewed the changes in the nature and BEMERMT U TAEER

severity of the Group's material risks. The Audit Committee is of the EZEBEHHEERBREEREENS

opinion that the management took suitable measures for countering 2 -EBERZZEGRA/EEEDRN

and managing the key risks such that they were maintained at levels S R A RS N B TR R g Rk

acceptable to the Board. ZEEGAEZERKF -

With the constant changes in the scale, scope of operations and BEEXBRE  KEHE - MR

complexity of its businesses as well as in the external environment, [E A RONEBIR F B B B AL - R

the Group's risk profile may be subject to change. A brief account is ErEBAR I e B ANE - T "

given below of the material risks that are currently faced by the X EMI R AEEREEHEHE L

Group, of the changes in the material risks compared with the ZEMk - EEFHELEERREE ©

previous year and the reasons for such changes, and of the risk- BB RARRE  REEENR -

countering measures that have been implemented. Fax JE Y 45 B © ~

The following table shows the top three material risks of the Group ZE-N\FE  AEEBER =8

in 2018: BEERBMTERAR: T T

Rank Risk FF R [ B -
IS4

1 Risk relating to budget management 1 TEEEEER B
&

2 Risk relating to customer relationship management 2 PR ERGERR =

3 Risk relating to loss of talent 3 AR R 2
&

Compared to 2017, there is a notable increase in the level of BT —t+FHE T \FEE

materiality of the budget management risk and the customer EENEFPBREERBREASE

relationship management risk for the Group in 2018, while the MEZMREE LARE AT RK

materiality of the risk relating to loss talent alleviated slightly. FERREE B T ZINEBTIZ K

Affected externally by market volatility and internally by business B AHBLEREBTE

mix optimisation, the Group continued to advance optimisation and —N\EREEEEHEABEREN

realignment of organisational structure and business in 2018. ¥BENLAE -EZRHERET  #H

Against this backdrop, the annual budgets of certain business units ¥BETMFERE  AREHTE

were not fully commensurate with actual business developments, as RRBEETDBRERFHEBERKE

the impact of business realignments on future changes in results EMEYNTE  BETETEER

had not been adequately reflected in the preparation of such MERERMRR tbEKREBERE

budgets. As a consequence, the execution of subsequent budgets WIT TN BEIEE HIEMIEE H

was also unsatisfactory, resulting in higher risks in both budget TMAERRREBFTIE M- [

formulation and budget execution. Meanwhile, owing to market B B ANER T 35 R &) - N

volatility and escalating competition in the external environment, Bl - My EBEHEIRESMAR

certain business segments reported loss of clients. Internally, the S RNAINEHENBEEEL  fF

departure of sales and technical staff at certain business units FHOEBETHE MM A BRE

owing to the ongoing organisational optimisation of the Company B HEATHEEOINEE  #
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has resulted in delivery issues for outstanding projects, which has, to
a certain extent, increased our customer relationship management
risk. In addition, the risk relating to loss of talent should also be
noted as the staff turnover ratio turns higher amidst ongoing
internal realignment and organisational optimisation.

E-ERELEHTEFPBERGE®E
B2 #) £t o pESN - R A B A ED
HAEMABEBCDERE ABR
BEBE ATRANEARESE

= NS
:%,E\ 58 )L °©

To address and execute preventive controls over such risks, the BTESMpIEELERR  AEE
Group has adopted, and will continue to optimise, corresponding EERE T MR IE SR b - IR
control measures as follows: BEAL
D In connection with budget management, the Financial . EEERAFME ERVBE
Department of the Holding Company shall work with the HRSEBELLEEEL
operational management departments of the business units to P9 BRA&E B & Bae 30 P AN
exercise stringent supervision over budget reporting and ¥BBEITNEE RRMAIT
< execution by the functional departments and business units, T FHEE - MEEH
g conducting regular reviews and enhancing rolling forecasts. TEH o
f: . In connection with customer relationship management, the o EFBREETE %
= business units shall strengthen measures relating to BARER %ﬁ“,\&‘%ﬂﬁﬂﬁ
organisational arrangements, staffing, system support and §§ # AR B % HE 8 %
process optimisation based on the actual conditions of their RHExXE R ﬁ = 'ftg
60 - respective businesses, and shall enhance management of 75 E &b A8 B 8 e - hnog BE
relationships with premium customers and major customers BEEP REPHBEELE
- to increase customer satisfaction. EORAEPWMEE-
£
; . In connection with talent management, the Group's HR o AAERTEH SEANE
= Department shall continue to work with the business units to TREBIGHEE NS X758 —
:E improve the dynamic talent pool which supports the BB TEXERBEN
§ realisation of our strategies, with a special emphasis on the REIREAA BIRE  ZE
= identification, grooming and retainment of strategically EEEE B AL AR - 1B
g crucial talents, in order to enhance our core competitive edge BEWRE - RAABOAS

in talents; meanwhile, the senior management shareholding
scheme and reform of the annual salary regime for project

RLOBEFRYE RBETS
E.Ti AENREERLES

managers shall be implemented, with a view to retaining key FHREF B EERA
personnel. ZL °
Based on the findings of the review described above, the Board BELARTHER EFSHET

confirms, and the management has also confirmed to the Board,
that the risk management and internal control system of the Group
(in all material aspects including financial control, operational
control and compliance control) is efficient and adequate, and has
been in compliance with the provisions on risk management and
internal control contained in the "Corporate Governance Code"
through the year.

MERENAEFTSHEE  AKHE
E’\JELI&AAIE&W*BEE%I%. (FE PR
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INTERNAL CONTROL

1.

Internal Control System

The Group has consistently focused on the construction of its
internal control system. The management of the Group is responsible
for designing, implementing, and maintaining the effectiveness of,
its internal control system. The Board and the Audit Committee are
responsible for exercising supervision and regulation over the
appropriateness and effective implementation of the internal control
measures introduced by the management.

The Group's internal control system delineates the parties'
management responsibilities, authorisations and approvals in relation
to key actions, and lays down specific written policies and
procedures regarding material business processes. The
communication of such system to the staff also makes up an
important component thereof. The Group's policies covering its
financial, legal and operational aspects represent the management
standards in relation to its various business processes, and are to be
strictly implemented by each of its staff members.

The Board establishes and maintains a good internal control system
through the following principal procedures:

° Establishing a reasonable and effective organization structure
with clear functions, responsibilities and authority;

° Laying down stringent procedures for budget preparation and
budget management; formulating business plans and financial
budgets annually; rationally adjusting the organisation
structure based on business planning; ensuring the effective
operation of the organisation; reviewing the implementation
of budgets and making reasonable adjustment based on the
latest conditions;

o The Internal Audit Department — independently assessing the
comprehensibility and effectiveness of the monitoring of
principal business, reporting its principal findings, with
recommendations, to the Audit Committee on a half-yearly
basis; and

o The Auditor — for the audit of annual results, recommending
ways to address some internal management areas which are
correspondingly weak; the management making serious
reviews, and making and submitting improvement proposals
to the Audit Committee.
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2. Annual assessment of internal control

During the Reporting Period, the Internal Audit Department adopted
a risk benchmarking approach focused on key processes and controls
and reported the findings of internal audit to the Audit Committee
on a semi-annual basis. Through the Audit Committee, the Board
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's internal control system.
The internal control system covers all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls, risk management
functions and the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budgets in relation to the
accounting and financial reporting functions of the Group. During
the year of 2018, the Internal Audit Department did not identify any
significant deficiency in internal control.

DISCLOSURES ON INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company's management assesses the likely impact of any unexpected
and significant event that may impact the price of the shares or their
trading volume and decides whether the relevant information is considered
inside information and needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably
practicable pursuant to Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and the
Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Board is
responsible for approving and authorising the Directors to issue such
announcements and/or circulars.

DIRECTORS' AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group on a going concern basis
in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards.

The statement of the Auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor's
Report on pages 101 to 111 of this annual report.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board is committed to maintaining an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and the investment community.

One of the principal channels of communication with the Shareholders
is the annual general meeting and all corporate communications of
the Company, including but not limited to interim reports, annual
reports, notices of meeting, announcements, circulars and other relevant
Company's information are available on the Company's website
www.dcholdings.com.

The Company has adopted a Shareholders Communication Policy to handle
enquiries put to the Board.

The Company believes that communicating with the Shareholders through
its website is an efficient way of delivering information in a timely and
Information on the Company's website will be
continuously reviewed and updated to ensure that information is current,

convenient manner.

or appropriately dated and archived.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company recognises the rights of Shareholders and encourages the
Shareholders to participate in general meetings or to appoint proxies to
attend and vote at meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to
attend the meeting. The general meeting provides an important opportunity
for the Shareholders to express their view to the Board and management
and to exercise the Shareholders' rights. Under the New Bye-lLaws, the
Shareholders have the rights to convene a special general meeting and put
forward agenda items for consideration by the Shareholders. The latest New
Bye-Laws has been uploaded onto the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company respectively.

The Shareholders are encouraged to use their attendance at meetings to
ask questions about or comment on the results, operations, strategy,
corporate governance andfor management of the Group. The Board
members, in particular, either the Chairman or members of the Board
committees, appropriate management executives, external auditor and legal
advisers shall be available at general meetings to answer questions from
the Shareholders.
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DIVIDEND POLICY B S B R

The Board may declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy effective on 21 December ARREHAREBRL B T —N\F
2018, a summary of which is set out below: +=A

“tH—BEAER ERBEWNAT

EEeRARRERLKMRE

The Company in general meetings may declare dividends in any 2. PRAAERRARE LEMUAERNE
currency, which must not exceed the amount recommended by the BREERE  MERESEIEERN
Board. EEEMERE -
The Board may, subject to the Company's Memorandum of Association 3. TERERNEARRABERZRNMN
and New Bye-laws then in effect, make recommendation to the R AGI MBI MATIRT - E5
Shareholders on the distribution of final dividends and may from A RIEAR R R BB AR R A R
time to time pay to the Shareholders interim dividends based on the 5 K B R HA AR S 3 7 R ) iR SRR
5 financial position of the Company. Despite the aforesaid, there is no BERHRE - BTREBAGEEMEL
< guarantee that any particular amount of dividends will be EHRREEAFESEORE -
é distributed for any specific periods.
<
©
g The Company's ability to declare dividends will depend on, among 4. RARESTERKBBICAR (K
others, the operating results and earnings, capital requirements, FERARRNKEEERA
general financial condition, prevailing economic environment and e BEAFR - —RPBKR &
6 other factors of the Company which the Board then consider A ERERESSERIRERA
relevant. MEEMNEMmEE -
§ The Company's declaration and payment of dividends shall also 5, RABRBEMNERR S NEBEFE
2 comply with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended, ARE-NN—FRREETE
% supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time), the B8] - R A E b 5 R s k) -
:fcu Memorandum of Association and New Bye-Laws of the Company as RAREBERNE LR
5 well as other applicable laws, rules and regulations in effect on the LA K EoAth A BRI BB B IR~ R A AR
% declaration and distribution of or otherwise in relation to dividends. B EMEREHENEREE -
o

BN AR -



ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of Digital China
Holdings Limited (hereinafter referred to as this "Report"), prepared
in accordance with the "Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide" issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, is aimed at explaining our policies, work and deliverables
achieved during the year in environmental, social and governance
matters to our stakeholders. Digital China Holdings Limited
(hereinafter referred to as the “Group” or "DC Holdings") identifies
relevant key performance indicators and disclosures based on its
strategies and market trends in accordance with the "materiality
principle”. These mainly include environmental protection, talent
development, quality assurance, protection of customers' privacy,
preservation and protection of intellectual property rights, anti-
corruption, and social charity. Unless otherwise stated, the details
contained in this Report pertain to all subsidiaries of DC Holdings.

The Board is responsible for assessing and determining the Group's
risks relating to the environment, society and governance, and for
ensuring that the Group has put in place a suitable and effective
risk management and internal control system with regard to these
areas, and for the Group's strategies and reporting in relation to its
environmental, social and governance matters. In 2018, the Group's
risk management and internal control system with regard to
environmental, social and governance matters was functioning
effectively. The environmental, social and governance reporting team
is composed of personnel from various relevant departments of the
Group, and is responsible for the annual collection and organization
of relevant information for the purposes of compiling and
composing this Report.
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ABOUT DC HOLDINGS

DC Holdings was founded in 2000 and listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in 2001 (Stock Code:
00861.HK). For the past 19 years, we have consistently achieved
innovations and breakthroughs, living up to our corporate culture of
"Responsibility, Passion and Innovation" as we continued to fulfill
the mission of building a "Digital China" From a dominant
distributor of IT products in China, we have completed a strategic
upgrade to transform ourselves into a leading integrated IT service
provider, informatisation specialist and Sm@rt City specialist of the
nation. Now, DC Holdings is taking a further turn in transformation
through digitalisation, in a bid to become a world-leading Big Data
service and operation group. DC Holdings and its subsidiaries had
11,164 employees as at 31 December 2018.

We are well aware of the profound impact that DC Holdings has on
the nation and her people. That's why we always seek long-term
value for the community and the natural environment in the process
of our ongoing innovation. As the employer of some of China's very
best talents in advanced technologies, we must ensure safety, health
and development opportunities for our employees. As a corporate
citizen, we devote our efforts to education for the younger
generation, aid for the underprivileged and the drive for social
progress in our commitment to the cause of charity.

Looking to the future, DC Holdings will remain committed to its
initial mission and endeavor to put the notion of "Digital China" into
implementation through intensive developments in the core sectors
of Sm@rt City, Smart Industry Chain, Financial Technology, Smart
Healthcare, Smart Manufacturing, Smart Agriculture, Smart
Maintenance and Quantum Communication, among others, while
seeking consistent breakthrough and innovation in close tandem
with latest developments to empower livelihood improvements,
industry upgrades and development of digital economy.
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INVOLVING STAKEHOLDERS

DC Holdings persists in maintaining sound communications with
stakeholders through different channels to achieve mutual
understanding. The views of stakeholders provide an important
reference that helps us to fulfil our social responsibility diligently
and implement solid corporate governance. Our ability to pursue
sustainable development will be enhanced as a result.

Investors/shareholders

We communicate with our investors and shareholders primarily
through the following to understand their views on the Company's
development and to inform them about the future developments of
the Company:

o Annual general meetings
o Annual reports, financial statements and announcements
o Our company website

Customers and the public
We communicate with our customers primarily through the
following to understand how they view and rate the Company's
products and services and to explain the Company's commitment in
matters such as quality assurance for products and services and
customer information security:

o Customer service hotline
o Customer opinion survey
° WeChat account

Staff

We communicate with our employees primarily through the
following to understand their views on the Company's policies on
staff benefits and work environment, to give them a better
understanding of the Company's developments, and to foster
harmony at work:

o Staff training

o Staff recreational and sporting activities
o Internal email system
° Intranet of the Company

° Staff performance evaluation
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Community

We communicate with the communities where we operate primarily
through the following to understand their views on our operations
in such communities and to ensure that such operations are able to
exert positive effects on the communities:

o Our company website
o WeChat account
o Media reports

ENVIRONMENT

We at DC Holdings are clearly aware of the challenges facing the
is subject. In our
commitment to protecting the environment and implementing a

natural environment to which humanity
stringent policy for environmental protection, we undertake to
reduce the environmental impact of our business operations and
comply strictly with pertinent local laws and regulations, in order to
lead by example in the practice of environmental protection.

In light of DC Holdings' business nature, we are of the opinion that
the Group is not involved with any harmful waste or any large
quantity of harmless waste and does not make any significant use of
water resources or packaging materials, and that accordingly it
would exert no significant impact on the natural environment and
natural resources. We affect the environment primarily through the
consumption of power and fuel, as well as carbon emissions arising
indirectly from the business trips of our staff.

To fulfil the environmental responsibilities of DC Holdings, we
pledge to:

o Comply strictly with national and relevant local laws and
regulations;

o Establish and improve our internal policy for environmental
protection and system for environmental supervision and
management;

o Protect natural resources, assess the potential environmental

risk and impact of our commercial activities, and reduce the
negative environmental impact of our operations in a
systematic manner;

o Provide employees with training in legal and other knowledge
pertaining to environmental protection;
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o Keep record of and monitor greenhouse gas emissions
generated in our business operations and make plans to
reduce such emissions in relative terms on a year-on-year
basis;

o Sort and separate wastes generated in the production and
operation of the Company, reduce the generation of wastes
and increase the percentage of recycling of materials (such as
consumable materials used in production and packaging);

o Reduce energy consumption at venues of operation through
effective measures.

In 2018, the Group continued to implement measures to save
energy and
consumption management and effective controls over equipment

reduce consumption through detailed energy

and facilities, subject to the Company's smooth operations. For
example, the total energy costs of Beijing Digital Technology Plaza
for the year has reduced by RMB330,000, year-on-year, as compared
to 2017, representing a decrease by approximately 3%. Since the
implementation of energy conservation and consumption reduction
initiatives, Beijing Digital Technology Plaza has save RMB1 million in
energy consumption.

Meanwhile, the Company was dedicated to enhancing its at-source
management for energy conservation, and contributed to the
abatement of environmental pollution at the society level. The
Company also encouraged its staff to adopt such IT-based workplace
tools as cloud-powered video conference systems and paperless
office in order to reduce unnecessary business trips or paper
consumption, thereby lessening carbon emissions.

Below is an account of the Group's consumption profile in 2018 for
power and fuel, i.e. the major forms of energy consumed by it:

(1)  Power consumption
DC Holdings and its subsidiaries own or lease more than 60
offices, 105 warehouses and a large-scale data centre in
Mainland China and Hong Kong, consuming 15,677 MWh of
electricity during the year and involving carbon emissions of
14,699 tonnes. This represents a year-on-year increase of 9%
compared with 2017.
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emission in 2018 as compared to 2017 as a result of energy
conservation and discharge reduction measures.

For details, please refer to the following table (Unit of power
consumption: MWh; unit of carbon emission: tonne).

g
g
E L
c |y
|
— 70
In particular, the power consumption and carbon emission of Ho - BEWRE E20185 A

- Instant Logistics warehouses in 2018 increased by 46% and & = MK HE 5 L2076 9 R
£ 47% respectively as compared to 2017. Such increase was 2 R460f47% £ B R HZ
2 attributable mainly to the substantial growth in its warehouse B E %=/ K08 E (2017
5 business (About half of the 17 warehouses added in 2017 FHMEBIEEEFN —F 5
:fz were commissioned during the second half of the year, while THERA - 2018F A2 F
§ they were in use for the entire year in 2018; meanwhile 8 F 5 A BR20184F 37 12 2 [Es
= warehouses were added in 2018). Other offices reported a &) - Efbip A=A BRETRE
3 17% decrease in overall power consumption and carbon FHE - 2018F B EE A B E MK

HE B 20178 BRIK T 17% ©

HABRBRTR(REEE
88 KR W E
iz - WE) °

2018 2017 2018 versus 2017
2018% 20174 2018 F ¥ 20175
Power Carbon Power Carbon Power Carbon
Unit/Year B/ EE consumption emission  consumption emission consumption  Growth rate emission  Growth rate
REE B REE BB REE BR=E BHER BR=E
Instant Logistics BEmieE
warehouses 8,849 8,076 6,077 5,506 2,772 46% 2,570 47%
Other offices HifnE 6,828 6623 8,250 7,958 -1,422 -17% 1335 -17%
Total E4 15,677 14,699 14,327 13,464 1,350 9% 1,235 9%
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Fuel consumption

DC Holdings owns Instant Logistics truck fleet that enables us
to provide quality logistics services to our customers. Some
offices also own limousines for use by senior management.
During the year, the vehicle fleet of DC Holdings consumed
79 kL of petrol and 78 kL of diesel, involving carbon
emissions of 391 tonnes. This represents a year-on-year
decrease of 342 tonnes or 47% compared with the 733
tonnes for 2017.

In particular, the Instant Logistics fleet reported decrease in
diesel and gasoline consumption for its owned vehicles as a
result of the outsourcing of certain distribution assignments,
as total carbon emission reduced by 34% compared to 2017.
Other fleets reported a 59% decrease in gasoline and diesel
consumption and carbon emission compared to 2017
following the cancellation of executive limousine services for
certain businesses.

For details, please refer to the following table (Unit of oil
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consumption: kL; unit of carbon emission: tonne). 7« FF ¢ BRBEPLEENL < ME) o ’
2018 2017 2018 versus 2017
2018%F 2017%F 2018 F ¥ 420175
Carbon Carbon Growth Growth ~ Carbon  Growth
Unit/Year B I/ Gasoline  Diesel emission Gasoline  Diesel emission Gasoline rate  Diesel rate  emission rate
AR B BEEK bad:: NP 33 AR OBREE KM BRE BEHR ERE
Instant Logistics ~ FHEM R
fleet B 16 76 243 23 116 370 -7 -30% -40 -34% -127 -34%
N/A
Other fleets H i B K 63 2 148 161 0 363 -98  -61% 2 TER =215 -59%
Total A 79 78 391 184 116 733 =105 =57% =38 =33% =342 =47%
Note: Wit -

The data relating to carbon emissions is estimated by reference to the
"Greenhouse Gas Protocol — Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards”
issued by the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council for
Sustainable Development. The conversion factors for carbon emissions involved
in power consumption are based on the "2016 Baseline Emission Factors for
Regional Power Grids in China (Consultative Draft)" issued by the Division on
Climate Change under the National Development and Reform Commission. The
conversion factors for carbon emissions involved in fuel consumption are based
on applicable coefficients set out in the “2006 IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change) Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories"
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EMPLOYMENT

People represent the most crucial factor underlying the success of
an enterprise. The continuous success of DC Holdings is attributable
to the expertise and dedication of its 10,000-strong staff team. We
have persisted in selecting and promoting high-calibre personnel
and implementing a reward system in tandem with our corporate
culture: namely, we intend to create an ideal playing field that
would attract evermore talents to join Digital China. DC Holdings
provides like-minded outstanding talents with a stage without
constraints and endeavours to improve the work and life of its
10,000 strong employees.

DC Holdings practices meritocracy in staff appointment. The
recruitment, training, promotion, transfer, remuneration and benefits
of employees will not be affected by their age, gender, health,
marital status, family conditions, race, colour or nationality. To retain
outstanding talents for the benefit of the Company's sustainable
development, the Company will commend and reward employees
based on their contributions, performance and skills. In 2018, the
Company established the "Outstanding Contribution Award" *
“Innovation Award", "“Team Effort Award" and "Initiative Reward" and
held an illuminous prize-awarding ceremony to commend teams and
individuals who have received awards for their outstanding effort
and excellent performance.

DC Holdings enters into labour protection contracts with its staff in
strict compliance with the requirements of the Labour Law and other
pertinent laws and regulations. The Group makes contributions to
social insurance funds, including pension, medical, unemployment,
work injury and maternity funds, and the housing provident fund for
the benefit of its employees in accordance with the requirements of
the national policies. The Group also maintains life insurance, traffic
accident insurance and supplementary medical insurance for the
benefit of its staff. In addition to such annual leave, employees are
entitled to marriage leave, maternity leave, bereavement leave and
paternity leave. A free annual medical check-up for employees is
arranged by the Company. Employees with satisfactory performance
are entitled to discretionary annual bonuses subject to the
Company's business results.

DC Holdings encourages dialogue and communication between
supervisors and subordinate staff on an equal basis. Interpersonal
relations underpinned by positive, friendly and candid
communication have contributed to a workplace ethos of harmony,
mutual trust and collective progress, which is in turn the
cornerstone to efficient collaboration. The Company has built an
open channel for communication, through which the direct
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supervisor and affiliated department of an employee and the HR
Department provide assistance in relation to job satisfaction
occupational psychological
counselling and complaints, etc. The HR Department is responsible

enhancement, labour protection,

for collecting of employees' suggestions for improvements and
ensures such suggestions are communicated in a timely and
accurate manner.

With a strong emphasis on the cultural activities of staff, DC
Holdings sees the organisation and enhancement of staff
recreational and sporting activities as an important component
contributing to the building of our corporate culture. For this
reason, the staff swimming club, badminton club and Cloud Chorus
have been formed, and a variety of recreational and sporting
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activities such as staff family outing day, tree planting, national BPERE SLEELELZYN W
badminton tournaments as well as musical concerts are being held. NEES ELFEHNHAE TE e
These activities have enriched the off-hour time of staff and EETEIMNEREET  ASEK »
provided an opportunity for employees from different business units BRAREIRBETRIR 9=WHF -
to mingle and interact. They are also a ready cure for the relief of A MBEENABEITEN  ERE :
work pressure. NE—BEREK -
In addition, DC Holdings continued to implement work of care and Soh - BMNERBEETEHES 73
kindness through the Staff Mutual Aid Foundation to serve T BEM MEXREIR.
employees' needs in an active move to build harmonious labour FR7 B TF/sk - BB MG S -
relations and enhance the well-being of employees. With the strong BEER IBABIZE@EH T «
support and participation of employees, the foundation registered BIMRNZFHHELET - 20185 =
7,537 members and received membership fees of RMB904,400 in BETHBESAGAZIIA WK g
2018. Ten cases of financial compensation, six cases of staff aid and BeB AREouE L FxBE &
three cases of interim staff aid were completed with the payment of BITIEERB00 - TRMEET E
RMB347,300 in compensation. 6ffl » SEAK P& ER MR Bh B T3 - 32 2
EHAFARBMBE T - &
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° Staff headcount °
As at the end of 2018, DC Holdings had 11,164 employees,
analysed by gender, age, profession and academic
qualifications as follows:

Male Female Total Percentage
Category EoEE £ T #BAE 15t
By age RBERBR
Below 30 30K A T 4311 1,529 5,840 52.31%
30-50 30-50%% 3,746 1,471 5217 46.73%
Above 50 505% A £ 86 21 107 0.96%
Total &t 8,143 3,021 11,164 100.00%
By profession RBEEBER
Technical staff Kt A8 6,444 1,489 7,933 71.06%
Sales staff HEAB 741 271 1,012 9.06%
Finance, administration and AR 47K
management staff EIEAB 373 1,017 1,390 12.45%
Other servicing staff HEMRBAE 585 244 829 7.43%
Total &t 8,143 3,021 11,164 100.00%
By academic qualifications RBEEER
Doctorate degree Bx 9 4 13 0.12%
Master's degree =R 338 257 595 5.33%
Bachelor's degree E 4,971 1,957 6,928 62.05%
Tertiary college or below RERUT 2,825 803 3,628 32.50%
Total &t 8,143 3,021 11,164 100.00%
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Staff turnover rate mEE
The staff turnover rate of DC Holdings for 2018 is indicated 20184F - FHMNIEIK B TR Bh =K
as follows: AR

Turnover rate
Category BoEE B =
By profession EREEERK
Technical staff it A8 42.22%
Sales staff HEAR 32.11%
Finance, administration and management staff BB TR -EEAB 44.68%
Other servicing staff HibfR A B 22.56%
Total &&h 38.2200
Remark: The staff turnover rate for 2018 increased slightly to approximately #aF ¢ 2018%F © B T 7 ) & #4380 -

3800, compared to 35% for 2017. Major factors affecting the staff
turnover rate include: 1. The increase in the staff turnover rate of
Digital China Information Service Company Ltd. ("DCITS"), a subsidiary
of DC Holdings, by approximately 4 percentage points (reflecting
higher attrition among technical staff of the investment company
owing to the project-based and regional nature of its business,
underpinned by a relatively high turnover rate for frontline delivery
and survey drawing positions; as well as the downsizing of DC Digital
Technology); and 2. the ongoing adjustment of organisational
structure and optimisation of staffing for Sm@rt City, Smart Industry
Chain and the Holding Company, the staff turnover rates of which
were generally level with those for 2017.
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VI. SAFETY AND HEALTH

The day-to-day operations of DC Holdings largely involve computer

applications and desk work conducted in the office. While such
activities do not involve significant risks against occupational safety
and health, we are nevertheless committed to the protection of the
occupational health and safety of employees, and have formulated
an occupational health and safety policy with a high level of
operability, with a view to giving effective protection to staff health
and safety. Only by enhancing and safeguarding the occupational
health and safety of employees can we effectively increase our
production efficiency and achieve mutual success for both the
Company and the staff.

We comply strictly with the laws and regulations pertaining to

ERERMXETERE LEE
PU|BABEL 2 RERRR
gAML - HADBARREET
MBEREELE YHETEAEE
RIRIFEENRBEEREAZ 2R
B BRREEINRRELS -
RERSMRES TH B2 HEMA
ZEKF  THRARRESLEER
femEstXEETMER -

BB E BT 2 ENHEERBE

occupational health and safety at the place of business. At our work fRRET2MABERER £ "
premises, requisite health and safety guides are provided to all staff, ESSMABE T RFEVENRRERES Nl
while regulations and measures for the administration of S HITRELREERES ©
contingencies in occupational health and safety have also been BBEARIE WAB TRH S
formulated. Employees are provided with clean washroom facilities, FRE AR R - SRAK BEN ~
drinking water, clean facilities for food preparation and storage and BRYBEBEGEHEREMAERE -1

clean tableware. The new ventilation and air purification systems in MEE RERFEFE RS RE

Digital China Building guarantees the high air quality in the office THAZEANEENZER BREBE 7
and provide a strong protection for health of all employees. Our THBERREREHERNRE - 2817

administration department is responsible for organising daytime and BHaEnESBREESHAE - T
night-time security, maintenance of firefighting equipment and first- RERZ  HRENSREED S
aid kits, and fire drills in relation to Digital China Technology Plaza. e AR ONEERR 20185 - A L’%
In 2018, the Company carried out a full-scale upgrade and A AERSFET T E2E RN =
refurbishment of the fitness centre in the building. Improvements BB TEMGRE I T M &
were made to the facilities with the addition of rowing machines, B oBRES RZMEREFRIHR §
spin bikes sets, which are open to all employees of the Company M WEHAGBEELIRERM =
free of charge. These facilities have been provided to encourage BoEBEIRIEC & FTER ®

staff to pay attention to their health and fitness amidst hard work
and dedication. No work-related fatal casualty of DC Holdings staff
was reported during the year, nor was any loss of work days
resulting from workplace accident recorded.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

As an enterprise that always strives for innovation, DC Holdings
ensures that adequate resources are set aside each year for staff
training. Our training system has been designed to match our
employees' career development paths within the Company. All
training courses are aimed at enhancing the competence of
employees for the jobs they undertake at different stages of their
career, as well as facilitating their upward movement. Induction
training for new employees focuses on the current business status,
strategic objectives, history and culture of the Company, while
trainees also learn to appreciate the importance of team work. The
business departments design and organise specific business training
according to their needs. The online learning centre provides general
training that effectively helps employees to enhance their
competence and performance in work and improve their
professional aptitude in general. In addition, the Company also
sponsors selected staff to enrol in training for specialised skills,
management skills or examinations for professional qualifications
provided by external training organisations.

Analysed by ranking, the average training hours received by
employees of different ranks as recorded in our HR training system
and online learning centre are set out as follows, indicating that
employees ranked senior manager or above were receiving more
training resources owing to more frequent training sessions and
seminar for officers:
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Average 1 53
Analysed by ranking training hours BB RS B
President and Vice President 34.85 BEREBRE 34.85
Senior Manager to General Manager 20.74 BREEE AL 20.74
Manager 7.25 g 7.25
General staff 8.89 —k&BT 8.89
Analysed by gender, the average training hours received by each HERE D FAREEFHERE
employee during the year are set out as follows, indicating that M TR BLREEFHER
training resources committed to male employees and those to RENERERNFETE
female employees were generally level:
Average T35 559
Analysed by gender training hours % 14 Bl 4 5T B i
Male 9.36 2 9.36 2
Female 9.86 z 9.86 °
Analysed by training content, the average training hours received by ZEIANRE D FRAREEZS
each employee are set out as follows, highlighted by relatively ?@E\in HAREFIFIESE8OT . 79—
strong resources for corporate culture and specialised training: TEEMBEENEERBER
e
=
S
Average T 15 153 Y
Analysed by training content training hours RIEIRBHE B T
<=4
Management training 1.45 EIEE 1.45 e
Corporate culture 4.29 E3¢ld 4.29 ﬁ
General skills 1.20 WA 1.20 =
Specialised skills 2.56 ZEE 2.56
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VIIl. QUALITY ASSURANCE

DC Holdings provides customers with integrated IT services and
software development, Sm@rt City platform construction and
operation services, as well as total supply chain solutions and
services, mainly on the basis of IT solutions. In each of our business
segments, we have formulated a specific system to ensure that our
service standards exceed customers' expectations.

Regarding the IT services delivery, DCITS has, in line with its
customer-oriented service philosophy, built a service support regime
from the customers' business point of view and an end-to-end
quality management regime on the basis of the ISO9001 quality
management system and the 1SO20000 service management regime
through a combination of the ITSS information technology service
standards and its experience over the years, utilising the ITIL and
PMBOK knowledge regimes. In addition, DCITS has established the
Service Management Department, an independent supervisory body,
to carry out the responsibilities of constructing the quality system,
managing the delivery process, exercising control over the process,
and managing customer satisfaction. It strives to reflect customers’
opinions and expose issues in internal delivery management in a
timely and accurate manner, comprehensively analyse the
deficiencies in the implementation of designed regimes for service
and product delivery, and drive improvements in processes and
capabilities in a vigorous manner, thereby offering support and
protection for the development of core corporate competitiveness.

Through the exploration of various methods and management
innovation over the vyears, DCITS's quality management has also
gradually shifted away from a single, result-oriented reasoning
model, towards the construction of an enquiry-based tracking
mechanism coupled with an issue management approach that
features quantitative benchmarking and professional quality audit.
This represents a shift of focus towards the management of the
delivery process, and the move from defensive quality improvement
to an aggressive approach centred on service experience. In the Class
| compliance evaluation relating to the sophistication of ITSS
operational maintenance capability, experts have unanimously
recognised the quality management system for its quantitative
results and controllable process.
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The TOP payment system, an internally developed integrated support
platform for the support and maintenance service regime and
delivery process management, embodies the practice and experience
of DCITS in the IT service sector over the years as well as various
industry standards and theories. Its functions include providing full-
cycle management over the entire delivery business process and
support process, and translating the pledge to customers into
quantifiable benchmarks for the full cycle of IT services from project
start-up to project completion. Process control points and result
indicators are established to facilitate real-time monitoring of the
operational status and to achieve quality control throughout the
process.

In order to adapt to the rapid expansion in scale of the services
business and ensure the stable enhancement of service quality, and
in a bid to realise its objectives of "quick response, rational
coordination, commands for decision-making, and effective
protection”, DCITS designed and developed the SOC master command
centre platform — a Big Data decision-making platform with a high
level of visibility — with the support of vast data from the TOP
payment system.
information resources, the SOC command centre is composed of

Integrating various technology tools and

such functions as service desk, resources deployment, tactical
command, data collection and presentation, and discussions for
decision-making. The platform can perform highly-visible internal
functions relating to tactical command, while demonstrating
corporate image in various areas externally for the enhancement of
brand image.

DCITS is also committed to the development of China's information
service industry. It is one of the earliest participants in the ITSS
standard formulation project of the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology (“MIIT"), contributing the results of its
innovative business ventures to the formulation of industry
standards. On the other hand, we have also leveraged advanced
concepts of the standards to enhance our internal system
optimisation and capacity development. DCITS has been designated
by the MIIT as a corporate member of the highest grade in the
“National IT Service Standard Work Group" and has served as the
first executive president of the branch ITSS association with full
involvement in the formulation, pilot test, and promotion of the
National IT Service Standards.
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In connection with software delivery, DCITS has forged an
implementation team with profound understanding of industry
requirements, mastery of latest IT application technologies and
superb project management abilities on the back of extensive
hands-on experience in informatisation construction gained over
more than 30 years, providing assurance for the building and
normal operation of information systems. Currently, DCITS is
supported by 60 consultants for fintech applications and over 2,800
software R&D/delivery personnel (76% of them being R&D personnel
with over 3 years' experience in industry application) based variously
in more than 10 locations including Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou
and Shenzhen. In addition, The specialised testing centres of DCITS
are supported by close to 100 core test operators.

The quality of R&D processes and project delivery is a matter of
high priority for DCITS, which is characterised by a strong awareness
and ability for internal control and management. The Company
operates a sophisticated PMBOK-based project delivery management
system, a CMMI Level-5 and 1SO9000 quality management system,
testing management system regulations and configuration
management system regulations, among others. At the same time,
we are also supported by a comprehensive tooling system for
project management and engineering process which effectively
ensures the outcomes of project control and quality management
measures.

In connection with the construction and operation of Sm@rt City
platforms, DC Holdings has undergone the initial stage of the
informatisation of cities featuring primarily contract-based project
solutions as one of the earliest operators of the Sm@rt City
business in China, and therefore has developed a formidable ability
in cross-sector data integration and processing, opulent resources
for potential customers and a well-recognised brand name. We own
a sophisticated regime of proprietary intellectual property rights and
products in relation to Big Data centres for municipal and
government affairs, municipal operation and administration centres,
integrated citizen services, smart environmental services, smart fire
service and smart education, as well as extensive experience in a
wide array of project cases gained from participation in the
development of smart applications in more than 100 cities across
the nation.
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The Sm@rt City business is based on the principle of customer-
centric service. On top of the IS09001 quality management system,
ISO20000 service management system and 1S027001 information
security management system, a service support system from the
perspective of customers' businesses and a quality management
system underlying the entire delivery process have been developed.
Through methodical investigations and management innovations
conducted over the years, we have consistently identified inherent
values and gradually enhanced quality management in terms of
breadth and depth, thereby increasing stickiness with business and
customers. In terms of quality management, we have been focused
on the design and ongoing optimisation of benchmark management,
satisfaction management and ability management, forming quality
management systems at the organisation level and the project level
to provide quantitative measurement of quality. The entire delivery
process is under end-to-end control through the "Project
Management Centre (DC-PMC)" system to ensure complete
traceability of the process.

In connection with supply-chain solutions and service delivery,
Instant Logistics, a subsidiary of DC Holdings, provides clients with
supply chain-related integrated services covering management,
storage and transportation based on its proprietary Digital China
Gold Storage logistics software. Clients can track their goods in
transit via the website of Instant Logistics (http://www.itl.cn/) or,
through the 400 service hotline, make enquiries and file complaints
with Instant Logistics personnel on a real-time basis. In the event
that a complaint is received by the hotline staff, it would be
resolved within 48 hours by a supervisory staff member of Instant
Logistics who shall closely track the matter. To ensure the quality of
its services, Instant Logistics provides training to its staff in relation
to the handling of complaints and responses to customer enquiries.
Approximately 80% of Instant Logistics' transportation services are
provided by outsourced truck fleets. To ensure the service quality of
these outsourced fleets, such as safe and timely deliveries, Instant
Logistics maintains close liaison with the fleet operators and
evaluates drivers' performance on a regular basis.
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IX. PROTECTION OF CUSTOMER PRIVACY

Private customer information required to be kept confidential is
involved in the course of operation of DC Holdings, including the
private information of both individual customers and corporate
customers.

As of now, the subsidiaries of DC Holdings have operated Sm@rt
City platforms in numerous cities. Local citizens will provide
personal information such as names, identity card numbers and
social security numbers to our subsidiaries for verification purposes
when they open user accounts. Moreover, Instant Logistics and
e-commerce websites of the Smart Industry chain business of DC
Holdings also receive personal information provided by the
customers when they place orders, such as the names, contact
methods and delivery addresses of the recipients.

At the same time, in the course of its business cooperation with
corporate clients, DC Holdings would also request such clients to
provide information such as corporate financial information,
information relating to business development, bank account and
business licence details, and the identifications of legal
representatives or guarantors.

The aforesaid private information of customers is only accessible by
staff members duly authorized by the Company, who have signed a
confidentiality agreement with DC Holdings obliging them to
maintain and protect the confidentiality of customer information.
We pledge to all customers of the Company that we will respect and
protect the privacy of customer information. We have adopted
exacting standards for information security and confidentiality to
protect the privacy of customer information, and have taken
measures to ensure strict compliance with such standards by our
employees.
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X. PROTECTION OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY T+ #HERREANEBERE

RIGHTS

Innovation represents a core competitiveness in the business
development DC Holdings and one of the underlying values of the
Group. Proprietary intellectual property rights are not only important
tools and investment capital that enhance our business capabilities
and income and from which our future core products are derived:
they are also a powerful driver in the standardisation process of
core national industries such as Sm@rt City and smart logistics.

As at 31 December 2018, DC Holdings owned 517 software
copyrights and product technology patents featuring proprietary
intellectual property rights. We will continue to advance the
management of intellectual property rights by optimising online

BT R MR GEROZ LR
FhobEMMERNEERZ
— - BEXNBERTERAERE
SEBEINRENEETA &
BEARRKRRMZOER  E-HE
BERXEZHUD EEVRFRL
TEFRECERERNENRD -

H Z2018F 12 A31H - A A%
BB EEMBEREOE M EE
EREMBMERN - R HEE
EANREREE BlANRERS

protection to facilitate continuous efficient operation, with a special FHE FEFESNEE B v
focus on trials in the capitalisation and commercialisation of ETHBERERN RERE «
intellectual property rights in search of new business growth niches w0 SHEU A A M 1 R A R B 2K f
for DC Holdings. We will continue to actively encourage innovation R BEREEEAIF - MK o
and increase our effort in the R&D and design of proprietary B ERET R IR °
intellectual property rights. Efforts to protect intellectual property NE BRITEERETR BB
rights will be strengthened and infringements will be rigorously FTABERTZE N REE  LESR 85
dealt with. We will seek to increase the influence and value of our SEBEREATEFREEHE -
proprietary intellectual property rights and actively participate in the AERBENSHBREERGS S -
formulation of national standards for relevant industries to make [
positive contributions to the development of advanced technologies g
in China. T
=
XI.  ANTI-CORRUPTION T RER &
DC Holdings believes that the qualities of fairness, honesty and MNERREAT HE BRREE &
integrity represent some of the most important business assets of NEIEBNEEEE - HMBOVBUR g

the Company. It is our policy that employees are prohibited from
soliciting gains from customers, contractors, suppliers or other
business associates of the Company. All employees receive anti-
corruption training in the form of a lecture held once a year.
Educational materials and case studies are also available on our
intranet.

The Company has incorporated the management of integrity risk into
its business processes, continuously refining its risk prevention and
control mechanism. Through the rationalisation and screening of risk
points, it has strengthened supervisory and control measures to
reduce the chances and possibilities for corruption or malpractice
that may be made available by its systems and processes. Besides, in
the course of routine audits such as those in relation to processes
and business results, the Company's internal audit function identifies
the presence of any malpractice or corruption by examining the
reasonableness and compliance of business processes.

REBIAGRER AME - #
ERREMERTNEBEBENAL
RREFAME - ABEETHEERS
REFPANRBHFIN AW LB
BEREBOEBEMRA -

RERFRRAREERAERRIZ
R E R EES GBS
MIEBEE R R E - MR EEEME E
EHE - (B E R B A EDS - 5
Bewe kAl st R ABER
ERBEE  FEBRFFERER
FoBRBREXBERENAEE
BHRME REEEER BR-




2018 Annual Report

Digital China Holdings Limited

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RiE -

e

XII.

KERME

Business associates or employees of the Company may report
corruption of DC Holdings staff via dcaudit@dcholdings.com on a
named or anonymous basis. The Internal Audit Department will
while the
information of the whistleblower will be kept strictly confidential.

conduct investigations on the reported matters,

An employee who is confirmed to have received kickbacks or other
gains in any form is subject to summary dismissal.

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

As a member of the community, DC Holdings is closely associated
with social developments. Our sustainable development is only
possible if there is harmony and order in the social environment. In
this connection, the Digital China Charity Foundation has been set
up by the Company and its staff since the listing of DC Holdings.
Our donations in cash or in kind to post-quake disaster relief,
education funds and poverty aid during the past period of more
than a decade amount to RMB17,867,200, underlining the positive
energy of our corporate culture and our commitment to social
responsibility. In 2018, the Digital China Charity Foundation was
mainly involved in the following community welfare campaigns:

()  Poverty aid through education assistance

Since 2002, DC Holdings has organised its staff to raise
donations for the construction of 10 Hope Schools in nine
provinces including Sichuan, Hubei and Hebei. We have
continued to monitor the progress of DC Hope Schools for
the past 16 years through a long-term mechanism for the
operation and maintenance of DC Hope Schools developed
under the leadership of the CPC Branch Committee of DC
Holdings.

DC Hubei Macheng Hope School

Education is the cornerstone to our nation's development,
and our teenagers are its future leaders. Established in 2003,
DC Hubei Macheng Hope School has groomed a large number
of teenage students with care and love over the past decade
and enabled them to pursue a future beyond the rural
villages. In 2018, DC staff loaded with lots of love and gifts
visited Macheng Hope School again to bring new visions and
hopes to the children. The charity visit to Hope School was
organised under the theme of "Technology Festival", whereby
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children were encouraged to produce technology-related g EROZ B4IE
works such as fantasy comics, stories and production with the XoBEEE - AEABETF
use of technologies. Awards were given for outstanding MEBETHRERANMER
works, along with fine gifts, stationery and sports items for m AHEMMEBETHAE
the students, while desk lights were bought for the teachers. B RalMRFEMEFENR
Members of our staff also served as “charitable” teachers to DJHED AR BNEBHET
give out-of-the-box technology lessons to the children at I 2R 7 Bl B A E A BH AR
Hope School. o

b
Hi_
-
(3]
The dream of a Digital China underpins the unrelenting mission of TP SINERBEAE A
DC Holdings. In June 2018, DC Holdings invited children studying in BV an © 201856 A - 18 M I IR R
the Hope Schools donated by the Company to express their ideas of RABEFENENEZTFM BF -
a Digital China and the Technology-driven future in drawings. More FHESHEHHETHE  BESR «
than 120 kids from Hope Schools in Macheng of Hubei, Fushun of REJEGAE o SR B IE & M - 19l =
Sichuan, Zhangshi of Hunan, Chaoyang of Liaoning, Lantian of BB k™ - EEHE - PRA ﬁ
Shaanxi and Cigudong of Henan took part in the drawing contest, ERH -TmAGREFENEY &
which has triggered their imaginative thoughts on a future NEZEZFLETAREEL i
dominated by technology and a digitalised China and lit up their BomALE BETEZFMER &
passion for learning and creativity. The daring to dream has brought BARMEFTLHRRNGE - 55 %
the Hope School kids and DC Holdings closer to each other. TZTFHE2BMEIEN RS - thiE

HENBO TS MNIZER AR
BB AT E N E TR A
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Paint the dream of a "Digital China” - DC Holdings Hope RE[EFHEZE - #MNER
School Community Welfare Children Drawing Contest FE)NERERE N AE
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(1) Aid for the underprivileged (=) &R ER
The CPC members and staff of DC Holdings have been making BTHhte tREMABESE
strong endeavours to help underprivileged members of the B—Hh BB E L I
society with compassion. Our actions in 2018 included the KHEBNELI—BEES
following: 71020185 - AR EER T E
BLATITE :
Care for Tai Yang Village BEXGHN
Located in Zhaoquanying Town of Shunyi District in Beijing, ibj‘?‘_\ﬁﬁﬁ%‘ﬁu I 2% [2 5
Tai Yang Village is a non-profit-making institution officially 2EE EEBRNERI
registered with relevant government authorities. Ms Zhang P9 IE =0 5E it &9 JE & F) 14 4
Shugin, founder of "Tai Yang Village", has been entrusted by ﬁ o [ K 1H Al A A o=
prison inmates to take care of their minor children. As the EEIXRMAENEZT &
free basic childcare services and the protection of basic rights 1%1 FREE M P M AR E B R K
g offered to these children are supported by public donations, FFRZ KEHEHIF
& certain CPC members and staff of DC Holdings have been BETRHEETFT EERE
é actively involved in this charity initiative since 2008 to AigmRE - BESH D EM
s protect these innocent children and foster social harmony in TET REEZNRE
g a proactive move to assume their share of social e 4t & IBE R AN EE - 48 M
responsibility, caring for these children and sending daily ZERHFHEEME I Q
items and learning kits to them to improve life at Tai Yang 2008°F #E - —EH RS HE
8 Village. HEeRNEES - if%mﬁ’”ti
%E%HE’JEE/E%E%DD !
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The Directors of the Company have pleasure in presenting their report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the "Group") for the year ended 31
December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 48 to the
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the Group's
financial position at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 112 to 322 of this annual report.

The board of directors recommends the payment of a final dividend of
HK3.1 cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2018.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 is
set out in the section headed "Management Discussion and Analysis" on
pages 19 to 36 of this annual report. Description of the risks and
uncertainties facing the Company can be found throughout this annual
report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
326 of this annual report. The five-year financial summary does not form
part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
and the Company during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in
note 14 to the financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 15 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements, together with the reasons therefor, in the share
capital of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set
out in note 37 to the financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2018, the Company's reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda, amounted to
HK$871,129,000. In addition, the Company's share premium account, in the
amount of HK$4,665,095,000, may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the new bye-laws of
the Company ("New Bye-Laws") or the laws of Bermuda although there are
no restrictions against such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

As permitted by the New Bye-Laws, every Director shall be indemnified out
of the Company's assets against any liability incurred by the Director, to
the extent permitted by Bermuda law. Such permitted indemnity provision
has been in force throughout the financial year and is currently in force at
the time of approval of this report. The Company has arranged appropriate
directors' and officers' liability coverage for the directors and officers of
the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2018
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. GUO Wei (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (Note 1)
Mr. LIN Yang (Vice Chairman) (Note 2)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. YU Ziping
Mr. PENG Jing

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis

Ms. NI Hong (Hope)

Dr. LIU Yun, John

Ms. YAN Xiaoyan

Mr. KING William (Note 3)

Mr. LAl Daniel, 88s, Jp (Note 4)

Notes:

1. Mr. GUO Wei was appointed as the Chief Executive Office of the Company with effect
from 8 June 2018.

2. Mr. LIN Yang was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Company and ceased to act as

the Chief Executive Office of the Company with effect from 8 June 2018.
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3. Mr. KING William was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 29 June 2018.

4. Mr. LAl Daniel, 88S, JP retired as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
with effect from the close of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 11
June 2018.

In accordance with Bye-Law 99 of the New Bye-Laws, Mr. WONG Man
Chung, Francis, Ms. NI Hong (Hope) and Ms. YAN Xiaoyan will retire from
office by rotation. In accordance with Bye-Law 102(A) of the New Bye-
Laws, Mr. KING William who was appointed as a director with effect from
29 June 2018 will hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company. All of the retiring directors being eligible will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS' INFORMATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING
RULES

Changes in the information of Directors required to be disclosed under
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") (the "Listing
Rule(s)") are set out below:

Name of Director Details of Changes
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Mr. GUO Wei ° Appointed as the Vice Chairman of
Digitalized China Industry Development
Alliance, with effect from 22 January 2019
Mr. PENG Jing ° Appointed as the Vice General Manager and

ceased to be General Manager Assistant of
Guangzhou City Investment Co., Ltd., with
effect from 30 September 2018

Mr. WONG Man Chung, e Appointed as the member of the audit
Francis committee of GCL-Poly Energy Holdings
Limited (listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange), with effect from 30

November 2018

Mr. KING William o Appointed as the Managing Director of
Russell Reynolds Associates, Hong Kong,

with effect from 2 October 2018
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the Executive Directors of the Company entered into a service
agreement with the Company which shall continue in force unless and
until terminated by (i) either the Company or the Director serving on each
other of not less than three months' notice; or (ii) his retirement as a
Director without being re-elected as a Director by the shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholder(s)") in an annual general meeting in accordance
with the New Bye-Laws; or (iii) in the event of the Director's default under
the terms of the said service agreement.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors of the Company proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
has a service agreement with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than the statutory compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or subsisted during the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of
the Company or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at 31 December 2018 or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2018.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company operates two share option schemes. One of the share option
schemes was adopted on 18 July 2002 (the "2002 Share Option Scheme")
and the other share option scheme was adopted on 15 August 2011 (the
"2011 Share Option Scheme"), each with life span of ten years. The 2002
Share Option Scheme was expired on 18 July 2012. Following 18 July 2012,
no further share options can be granted under the 2002 Share Option
Scheme and the share options granted under the 2002 Share Option
Scheme are exercisable pursuant to the terms of the 2002 Share Option
Scheme.

Details of the 2002 Share Option Scheme and the 2011 Share Option
Scheme as well as movements in the share options during the year ended
31 December 2018 are set out in note 39(a) to the financial statements.
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a restricted share award scheme (the “RSA Scheme”)
on 28 March 2011 for the purpose of rewarding and motivating, among
others, Directors (including executive and non-executive) and employees of
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Participants”) with the shares of the
Company. Details of the RSA Scheme are set out in note 39(b) to the
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed "Share Option Schemes" and
"Restricted Share Award Scheme" of this report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of
the year.
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DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR ESENRONEER ZEF )
DEBENTURES -
Save as disclosed under the sections headed "Share Option Schemes" and B AREZBERBERERTE ] RIZR o
"Restricted Share Award Scheme" of this report, at no time during the year Bl p BBt B ] AP ER & S - AR T
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to SETMMNBRAARFEEARNBEL2HET

93

enable the Directors or chief executives or any of their spouse or children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of each Director
and chief executive of the Company and their associates in the shares of
the Company ("Share(s)"), underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFQ")) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which the Directors and chief executive of the Company were
taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required to be and are recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the "Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers" adopted by the Company (the "Model Code") were as follows:

EERITHRAERKG - HHEE
BROREEREPZEER AR

R-ZE—NFE+-_A=+—H ARQ7A
BEERTRETZEBEEZHBEARAK
ANEREA AR AR (X RES R
BEAIEXVE ([FEHFRBEEM])) 2R
nalkm ((iRHk]) - HEERHD R EEE
R RIEE S R E R EXVIBET
ey B AME ARG MR T2 RS
RxE (BERNEHRBE G B@ %K
N TARBSEE RITHAHES S
BIEHEZERARKR)  HARLRAKRDE
AR RBIRIEEFH &S BO BExvE
F3EFEZERLMA - R IEAR A
T2 EMBETAESHETEFRR SO
EAESFANMRESRD BAE AR E K
BT AR

Approximate
percentage of

Number of aggregate
Corporate outstanding share Total interests (%)
Name of Directors Capacity Personal interests interests options (Note 1) (Note 4)
HERERZ
WARTHEZ BY BB
ES4B 54 PN £ NEEE BREZA (Bi#1) (fiz4)
GUQ Wei Beneficial owner and 94,328,707 86,767,857 13,116,974 194,213,538 11.58
interests of a controlled (Note 2) (Note 3)
corporation (Hi#2) (B #t3)
F5E EaRBARZEEE
R
LIN Yang Beneficial owner 3,571,734 - 13,116,974 16,688,708 099
w5 ExEAA (Note 3)
(B #t3)
Notes: Wi s
1. All of the interests disclosed herein represent long position in the Shares. 1. ANFEBEzZHEDS  2ARNDZTE -
2. These 86,767,857 Shares were beneficially held by Kosalaki Investments Limited ("KIL"), 2. 7% 586,767,857/% % 17 FiKosalaki Investments  Limited
of which Mr. GUO Wei is the controlling shareholder and also a director of KIL, (T B##E - M AL EBIAIERRR
therefore, Mr. GUO Wei was deemed to be interested in such Shares in which KIL was REE A ALEERRERE ZEHIAT
interested. B ZRODER -
3. On 25 January 2017, these share options were granted to Mr. GUO Wei and Mr. LIN Yang. 3. BREERMGLTERAEZERER-Z

These share options are exercisable from 25 January 2017 to 24 January 2025 at an
exercise price of HK$6.394 per Share for subscription of ordinary shares of the
Company.

—tF-AZ+RARL  ZEEREATR
—T—+F—-—A=-+AHABE=-Z-_HF—A
Z V0B EEIRITEE SRR 7D B ¥Ee3947T
TE - URBARAIETARKRMD -



4. The approximate percentage of interests is based on the aggregate nominal value of the
Sharesfunderlying shares comprising the interests held as a percentage of the
aggregate nominal value of all the issued share capital of the Company of the same
class immediately after the relevant event and as recorded in the register maintained
under Section 352 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company or their associates had any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which the directors and chief
executive of the Company were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES
At 31 December 2018, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons or corporations, not being a Director or chief executive

RZEBE-N\F+—_A=+—H mEE
Fran AT AT ZOEAE (W IERRAES
ATEAAR) IR G kAR B ARG P
AT AREEF L E A EXvED
FoN BN HEETARA - RAREFE
HF R EGPIEXVEEEBIR T FEZE
SRR A TR AR

of the Company, had the following interests and short positions in the
Shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be
disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Approximate percentage of

Number of Shares aggregate interests (%)

- Name Capacity (Note 1) (Note 7)
g CEEY $-3
E RHHE B E 2 H (%)
E 1 5% (Bi#1) (Hi#7)
g
Kosalaki Investments Limited Beneficial owner 86,767,857 517
(Note 2) (i #£2) EHHEBA
—— 9 Dragon City International Investment Limited Beneficial owner 150,070,000 11.18
EEHEBA (Note 3) (B ##3)
- Yip Chi Yu (Note 3) Interests of a controlled corporation/ 150,070,000/1,860 11.18
-‘E BEmH3) Interest of spouse
B RHEEz R/ REER
§ Huang Shaokang (Note 3 Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 1,860/150,070,000 11.18
= BLR(MH3) EaBE AN/ BEBER
§ Guangzhou City Infrastructure Investment Group Interests of controlled corporations 419,356,928 25.00
= Limited* ("GZ Infrastructure”) REFBER (Note 4) (7 i#4)
g BMTHTREAREEEFTRAA
(TEMmmER])
Guangzhou City Investment Co., Ltd.” Interests of a controlled corporation 419,356,928 25.00
("6Z Investment") XEFECER (Note 4) (f13E4)
BMTHEREBR AR (EMRE]
Guangzhou City Investment Jiapeng Industry Interests of a controlled corporation 387,735,000 23.12
Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.* REFBER (Note 4) (#7i#4)
("GZ Jiapeng")
BNARENEXREESERARAR
(TEMERD
Guangzhou City Investment Jiazi Investment Beneficial owner 387,735,000 23.12
Partnership (Limited Partnership)* ("GZ Jiazi") EXAA (Note 4) (f13E4)
BMARRFRECHECE(ERAH)
(TEMTRF])
* For identifications purpose only * EHBE
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Approximate percentage of

Number of Shares aggregate interests (%)

Name Capacity (Note 1) (Note 7)
et EE
BREBEE BHE P (o)
% EL) (Hizt1) (Hizt7)
GRG Banking Equipment Co., Ltd.* Beneficial owner 251,947,250 15.02
(“GRG Banking Equip") BERBEAN (Note 5) (H1 7£5)
ENEEERERMEFRNERRA
(EMNEEERERET])
Guangzhou Radio Group Co., Ltd.* Interests of a controlled corporation 251,947,250 15.02
("Guangzhou Radio Group") REEE R (Note 5) (fi7 it5)
= ,mﬁfﬁ‘;lﬁﬁﬁ”&ﬁ
((ENERESE])
Allianz SE Interests of controlled corporations 117,870,750 7.03
XEEE R (Note &) (F1 7t6)
Notes: i
1. All of the interests disclosed herein represent long position in the Shares. 1. AXFRE 2R 2RERNHDZTE -
2. KIL is controlled by Mr. GUO Wei who is a director of the Company and KIL. 2. KL ZB AR EES  MEBAREETABERAR
RKILZEH o
3. Out of the 150,071,860 Shares in aggregate, 150,070,000 Shares were held by Dragon 3. & #£150,071,8608% X 1 &+ 150,070,000 I%
City International Investment Limited, which is controlled by Ms. YIP Chi Yu, and 1,860 5 FADragon City International Investment Limited %
shares were held by Mr. HUANG Shaokang, a spouse of Ms. YIP Chi Yu. B HEBERDZTAES - M.8608% B 5
BlELREERE BKAEEZMLLTHER
(M
4. Out of these 419,356,928 Shares in aggregate, 387,735,000 Shares were held by GZ Jiazi 4. A& $£419,356.928% X 19 & - 387,735,000/% Ik
and 31,621,928 shares were held by Suitong Hong Kong Company Limited* (¥8 i@ (& BHREMNFFHE 31,621,928 %% B iE@E
#) B BR A A]) ("Suitong HK"). GZ Jiazi is owned as to 99.96% by GZ Investment and (BEB)BRAR(EREEDEAE - BMNA
0.04% by GZ lJiapeng, which GZ Jiapeng is in turn wholly-owned by GZ Investment, F B E M8 B 999600 25 M /B E M E A
which in turn, is owned as to 80.00% by GZ Infrastructure. Suitong HK is wholly-owned A0 E D - T EMNERRBEMNEESR
by GZ Investment. GZ Infrastructure is deemed to be interested in 419,356,928 Shares. Eme BEMNEEABEMNSIMESRES
8000 m - B ERHEMNREL2EH
B o BN IR R AR 45 419,356,928 A%
15 9 b ¢ o
5. These 251,947,250 Shares were beneficially held by GRG Banking Equip (& M & & & 5. 75251947250 R B EMNEEERESHE
B A EF) (@ company listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange), in which FRRINEBEHELSGHH ET 2 AR EFE
Guangzhou Radio Group (/& M %% 4% 2 £ @) is a 52.520% controlling shareholder. B BEMNESESRERFEEZ A F525201)
R -
6. These 117,870,750 Shares were held by Allianz Global Investors Asia Pacific Limited, which 6. & $£117,870,7500% f% 17 B3 Allianz Global Investors
is indirectly controlled by Allianz SE. Asia Pacific Limited¥57 * Ml Allianz Global Investors
Asia Pacific Limited 3 Allianz SEfE % FT 2 %1 ©
* For identifications purpose only r EHBF
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7. The approximate percentage of interests is based on the aggregate nominal value of the
Sharesfunderlying shares comprising the interests held as a percentage of the
aggregate nominal value of all the issued share capital of the Company of the same
class immediately after the relevant event and as recorded in the register maintained
under Section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2018, the Company had not been
notified by any persons and corporations who had interests or short
positions in Shares or underlying shares of the Company which were
required to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group made donation of
HK$6,791,000 (for the year ended 31 December 2017: HK$56,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate percentage of revenue attributable to the Group's five
largest customers was less than 30% (for the year ended 31 December
2017: less than 30%) of the Group's total revenue for the year ended 31
December 2018.

The aggregate percentage of purchases attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers was approximately 43% (for the year ended 31 December
2017: approximately 379%) of the Group's total purchases and the
percentage of purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier was
approximately 20% (for the year ended 31 December 2017: approximately
129%) for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE BE -HEeExfBOAAT 2 L

COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES ™ & &

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company purchased an REBEE_ZT-NF+_A=+—HLF
aggregate of 373,000 ordinary shares, represented 0.02% of the total EA - AR E A $£373,0008% i A% A%
shares of in issue. The purchase was effected by the Directors pursuant to - BB EITHERD 0020 - ZBE T
the mandate from shareholders received at the last annual general HEERELARERRFRS FESK
meeting, with a view to benefiting shareholders as a whole by enhancing REEMAED  BBEAALAEE 2SR

the net asset value per share and earnings per share of the Group. BEEFELRERBANEREREEF = -
Details of those transactions are as follows: BEZSGHFEAT
No. of
ordinary Aggregate
shares consideration
Month of repurchase repurchased Price per share paid "
o A B ff 2 °
BEAG B 4 8B BRER mIE ®
Highest Lowest o
ESE RIEE “
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
T BHT O AETR e

December 2018
—E-N\F+=A 373,000 3.58 3.45 1,326

Saved as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries Br ESCERIEEEE AN ANAF) R E AR

had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities BRalR#EzE_E—N\F+=A=+—

during the year ended 31 December 2018. BIEFEAN MERE DExEBELOE
ARGz ETFES -
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AUDITOR

During the year, Ernst & Young resigned as the auditor of the Company
and SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited were appointed as the auditor of the
Company on 21 December 2018 to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of Ernst & Young. Please refer to the Company's
announcement of 21 December 2018 for more details regarding the change
of auditor.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 were audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited who will
retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float during the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date
of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting period are
set out in note 53 to the financial statements.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

GUO Wei

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 27 March 2019
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SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

ferkPFa
Shine‘ZOan

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF DIGITAL CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION — CORRESPONDING FIGURES
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Digital China
Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 112 to 322, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects on the corresponding figures
of the matter described in the basis for qualified opinion below, the
consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION — CORRESPONDING
FIGURES

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017 were audited by another auditor (the "Predecessor
Auditor") who expressed a qualified opinion (the “2017 report") on those
consolidated financial statements on 28 March 2018 due to the scope
limitations (the “Scope Limitation"). As at 31 December 2017, the Group
had certain wealth management financial products of approximately
HK$2,603,057,000 (before impairment), with accumulated impairment
provision of approximately HK$227,941,000 and the related interest
receivables of approximately HK$123,391,000. The impairment provision of
approximately HK$227,941,000 was recognised by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2017 and included in "other expenses” in the
Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss. As stated in the 2017
Report, the Predecessor Auditor had not been able to obtain sufficient
audit evidence to assess the recoverability of the wealth management
financial products and the related interest receivables as well as the
adequacy of the impairment provision made during the year ended 31
December 2017. As such, any adjustments found to be necessary to the
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figures as described above would have consequential impact on the
consolidated net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2017 and the
Group's loss for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the related note
disclosures.

As explained in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, upon
adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, such wealth management
financial products and the related interest receivables were reclassified to
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and was restated to its
fair value as at that date based on a valuation performed by an
independent valuer not connected to the Group. Therefore, the Scope
Limitation did not have impact on consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended. As a
result, the comparative information disclosed for the corresponding period
may not be comparable to that of the current year. Our opinion on the
current period's consolidated financial statements is modified because of
the possible effects of this matter on the comparability of the current
period's figures and the corresponding figures.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code"), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the basis
for Qualified Opinion section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF GOODWILL
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Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 143.

Key audit matter

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of the
Group's goodwill was approximately HK$2,057,937,000.
During the year ended 31 December 2018, an impairment of
goodwill approximately HK$220,695,000 was recognised.

The management assessed goodwill for impairment by
comparing the carrying amount of cash-generating units
("CGUs") to which goodwill has been allocated with the
recoverable amount determined by assessing the value in
use. Preparing a discounted cash flow forecast involves the
exercise of significant management judgement, in particular
in forecasting revenue growth and operating profit and in
determining an appropriate discount rate.

We have identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
as a key audit matter because of its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the selection of
valuation model, adoption of key assumptions and input
data may be subject to management bias and changes in
these assumptions and input to the valuation model may
result in significant financial impact.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We performed the following audit procedures on the impairment
assessment of goodwill:

° challenged management's impairment assessment on the
reasonableness of the selection of valuation model,
adoption of key assumptions and input data;

° challenged the appropriateness of the assumptions,
including the sales growth rates and gross margin,
against latest market expectation;

o challenged the discount rate employed in the calculation
of value in use by reviewing its basis of calculation and
comparing its input data to market sources; and

o performed sensitivity analysis in relation to the key inputs
to the impairment assessment which included changes in
sales growth rate, gross margin and discount rate
employed.
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PROVISION FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES OF ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

Refer to note 29 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 171.

Key audit matter

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of the
Group's accounts and bills receivables was approximately
HK$4,889,158,000, net of loss allowance of approximately
HK$677,948,000.

Since 1 January 2018, the Group has adopted expected
credit losses ("ECL") model to estimate the loss allowance of
accounts and bills receivables under HKFRS 9. Management
performed periodic assessment on the recoverability of the
accounts and bills receivables and the sufficiency of
provision for impairment based on information including
credit profile of different customers, ageing of the accounts
and bills receivables, historical settlement records, expected
timing and amount of realisation of outstanding balances,
and on-going trading relationships with the relevant
customers. Management also considered forward looking
information that may impact the customers' ability to repay
the outstanding balances in order to estimate the expected
credit losses for the impairment assessment.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We performed the following audit procedures on assessing the
loss allowance of accounts and bills receivables:

° evaluated the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls which govern credit
control, debt collection and estimation of ECL;

° assessed, on a sample basis, whether items in the accounts
and bills receivables ageing report were classified within
the appropriate ageing bracket by comparing individual
items in the report with the relevant sales invoices;

° evaluated techniques and methodology in the ECL model
against the requirement of HKFRS 9;

° reviewed and assessed the application of the Group's policy
for calculating the ECL; and
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PROVISION FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES OF ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

Key audit matter (Continued)

The measurement of ECL requires the application of
significant judgement and increased complexity which
include the identification of exposures with a significant
deterioration in credit quality, and assumptions used in the
ECL models (for exposures assessed individually or
collectively), such as probability of default and forward
looking information.

We have identified the provision for expected credit losses
of accounts and bills receivables as a key audit matter
because of its significance to the consolidated financial
statements (representing 19% of total assets) and the
corresponding uncertainty inherent in such estimates.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter (Continued)

assessed the reasonableness of management's loss
allowance estimates by examining the information used
by management to form such judgements, including
testing the accuracy of the historical default data,
evaluated whether the historical loss rates are
appropriately adjusted based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking information and
examining the actual losses recorded during the current
financial year and assessing whether there was an
indication of management bias when recognising loss
allowance.

BRERAEEREENRACGESRERE (A

BMNFSFOMNEEERESNSEGE)

MR ETEEGR
EHEEEBRNGTEERERERHE RIENE
Mt BRBNEREERZRLNRR  ARE
HEEREELTERANBRR(EBRERIEN
R - GBI R ATEEREES

HRNEREAREREREGREMBEREINER
(G BEER19%) AR B ATE B WAAET
REEM  HPEEREERREBREENEBRE
EERBERARESFE-

BBREEEERNTRUBHENE BTG
EREBERBLITNGEL  BEARAELE
BB ERE FEELEBRXETREEA
RELXREAEEEEETEERAE  BFEAH
BFERELENERER - I E#EREEEER
EEEAFEERRENTR -

F W

2018

HMMNEBERBR QA



2018 Annual Report

Digital China Holdings Limited

Independent Auditor's Report
& N7 2 BAM R S

REVENUE RECOGNITION FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 146.

Key audit matter

The Group's revenue from provision of technical services and
software development services are recognised by using the
input method in accounting for its contract revenue.
Significant management judgement is involved in using
input method as it requires management to estimate the
total expected costs as well as the actual direct costs
incurred up to the date as a proportion of the total
estimated costs for each contract.

We have identified revenues recognition from contracts with
customers as a key audit matter because it is quantitatively
significant to the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, combined with judgement involved in determining
the appropriate point to recognise revenue from the above
types of revenues.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We performed the following audit procedures on the recognition
of revenue from contracts with customers using input method:

evaluated the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over revenue
recognition;

assessed the appropriateness of the Group's revenue
recognition policy under the requirements of HKFRS 15 by
inspecting a sample of representative contracts with
customers;

selected a sample of incomplete contracts as at year end
and checked calculation of significant components of
budgeted contract costs to supporting documents such as
purchase orders of equipment and contracts with
subcontractors;

selected a sample of completed contracts during the year
and checked the historical reliability of the budgeted
contract costs; and

re-performed on a sample basis the calculation of revenue
recognised during the year based on the input method.
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VALUATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS AND AT
FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Refer to notes 22 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 161.

Key audit matter

As at 1 January 2018, upon adoption of HKFRS 9, the Group
had financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$3,093,805,000 and financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income of
approximately HK$919,282,000. As at 1 January 2018, a total
fair value gain of approximately HK$69,329,000 and
HK$80,161,000 was charged to the investment revaluation
reserve of the Group and retained earnings of the Group,
respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amounts of the Group's
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income were approximately HK$1,286,340,000 and
approximately HK$427,293,000 respectively.

During the year, fair value loss on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss was approximately
HK$5,838,000 and fair value loss on financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income was
approximately HK$772,000.

We have identified the valuation of these financial assets as
a key audit matter because the carrying amounts of these
financial assets are significant to the consolidated financial
statements and significant management's judgements were
involved in the choice of valuation methods and inputs in
the fair value measurement of these financial assets.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We performed the following audit procedures on the valuation
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and at fair
value through other comprehensive income:

. assessed the competence, capability and objectivity of the
relevant independent external valuers;

° assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies performed by management;

o involved our valuation specialist to assist us in evaluating
and assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the valuations performed by the
relevant independent external valuers, based on our
research evidence of key assumptions and comparable
market transactions for similar businesses, where
applicable; and

o tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of
input data used by the relevant independent external
valuers based on the subscription price of latest round of
financing of the equity interests and disposal value with
the transactions of similar assets.
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VALUATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Refer to notes 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 158.

Key audit matter

As at 31 December 2018, the management estimated the fair
value of the investment properties was approximately
HK$4,712,932,000, with a net fair value gain for the year
ended of approximately HK$50,141,000 recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2018.

The Group had engaged independent external valuers as
management experts to perform valuations of these
investment properties at the end of the reporting period.

We have identified valuation of investment properties as a
key audit matter because the carrying amounts of these
investment properties are significant to the consolidated
financial statements and significant management's
judgements were involved in the choice of valuation
methods and inputs in the fair value measurement of these
investment properties.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We performed the following audit procedures on the valuation
of investment properties:

assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the independent external valuers;

obtained an understanding of the valuation process and
techniques adopted by the valuers to assess if they are
consistent with the industry norms;

obtained the valuation reports and involved our valuation
specialists to assist us in evaluating and assessing the
reasonableness of the significant unobservable inputs and
the accuracy of the source data used by the management
and the valuers by comparing them, on a sampling basis,
to where relevant, existing tenancy profiles, publicly
available information of similar comparable properties;
and

tested, on a sample basis, the arithmetical accuracy of
calculations.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE HE MY EESHBHRREGH
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the BN EERYHSRAVMBHREREREES
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material NEEBHRERGFRER M B A E RS
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's SRR AR S A BB AR FE Iﬁﬂ@%ﬁﬁ
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance ERMEZHBAKRE WKREERE
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and our agreed terms of —hAN\—FLA /j&'>>%71+1%&»ﬁf P9 173
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility TE MBS 4 1'*§A1iﬁ%ﬁ“ﬂx%%5§z i 3
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this T—H"Eﬁi\@ B & RMBTHAIRED
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a ”ﬁ‘fﬁﬁfiﬂ/\ig\ﬁj@?#&ﬁ&

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always EERBESKENRE  BETERE
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise ERBEBRTERETHETR ﬁlé &I
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the ERIARMR A o $5ER [ﬁLT L/{EE%%&
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic ol  MRERAEBEH e MEBNE
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial BBRA GBS W B MR EAEK
statements. # ?%Qﬂﬁf%ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁf'ﬁ i B 48 7R - Rl

7

é FRAMERRAPTERIEEK -
2 As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional T’Eﬁ*ﬁﬁ%?%%p‘l‘—% TR —
= judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We CHEBEFBARER BMERT TE%%U
S also: %ﬁ R THEIEERREE c BMI
D Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the . A N A R R SRR R AR T B 2L
— 110 - consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, ,mmﬂﬁﬂ‘k#ﬁi’%fﬁiﬁf R PR At Y
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and BB - RET RBITEE R T IA RS
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a BERK URERZTENEE®
s basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material BIRE ERBEMERNER -
E misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting BHRERAIE S RER HE B
g from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional BER - ERRL OEERAI
§ omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. THl 2 b B R RE B IR R SR BR
2 %ﬁmiﬁf FRPR A /Y [ B = A R
£ ?F&fﬁlfaﬁﬁﬁ BMHERERR
: s
s o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in o THRERGEEORBIES -
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 1l ‘ﬁ“‘ﬁ’]%ﬁ‘ﬁ Fr- BB E’\JSII?F
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on ¥ EEEAIEHNERMEEE
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control. ER -

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the . AEEEMRAETERNEE

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made RIEE st et RABBEHEN G
by the directors of the Company. 15 o

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company's directors' use of ° HESHABBELE ST EENS
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit =1 |*£1’Eﬁ,%raﬁ BRI AT ER M E T
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to BB EE%TTEEE$IE_R%/R
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's BHEMEBERTEEN M ee
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a EES) f%@mﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ&i
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our BEREE -MRBEMABAGTEERX
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated TEEM BV EEZEMSRE
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify IR A %/I SN ﬁ?é\ﬂﬁﬁ%iﬁﬁq:‘
our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence E’H‘ﬁ BRE -BREABANEE
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future 'Jﬁff’ﬁﬁg BRIER - ﬁzﬁﬁ’]
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a fﬁﬁ%%%#ﬁi@%ﬁﬁﬂiiﬁ% =Nl
going concern. El']%u‘f"i% oM - RREIE

jA—| /RT ﬁ Ex.T #:I%E



° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Lau Kai Wong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lau Kai Wong

Practising Certificate Number: P06623
Hong Kong

27 March 2019
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Digital China Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

= AN 18 2

m N

(=)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & & — &

/\JZIIL%%

—NFE+=H=

+T—HLEEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k3 BET T BET T
(Restated)
(s&E35))
Revenue A 6 15,254,499 13,246,571
Cost of sales and services HE RRBEK A (12,345,061) (10,581,271)
Gross profit EH 2,909,438 2,665,300
Other income and gains ﬁ’r@%)\&%¥ 6 431,006 425,545
Gain on deemed partial disposal of the 1% /A& & % M5 & QA R & 5
equity interests in associates = 2 W 20 293,083 42,046
Selling and distribution expenses ﬁﬁ% ko E R (1,387,062) (1,233,956)
Administrative expenses THE AR (526,840) (763,065)
Other expenses, net ﬁ’nﬂ%ﬁﬁ pEiE=C] (1,080,065) (1,064,160)
Finance costs DN 8 (215,857) (230, 542)
Impairment of goodwill 2R E 17 (220,695)
Share of profit of associates FEAL B & R A 2 5 A 60,559 45,855
Share of profit of joint ventures EiEE &2 E A 17,967 65,160
Profit (loss) before tax R B A % I (5 18) 7 281,534 (47,817)
Income tax expense Frigfi & A 1 (61,064) (143,584)
Profit (loss) for the year AEERF (EE) 220,470 (191,401)
Attributable to: BB
Equity holders of the parent SENCIE§E R 149,587 (413,006)
Non-controlling interests FEIT IR = 70,883 221,605
220,470 (191,401)
Earnings (loss) per share BARRRELGESREF
attributable to equity holders (E#)
of the parent 13
Basic (HK cents) A G 8.96 (29.21)
Diluted (HK cents) B5g (B 8.96 (29.21)




Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
mMeHEMmEBEE K

For the year ended 31 December2018ﬁ§_ —NE+ZA=+—HLEE

2018 2017
—E2-N\#F —E—tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
kg BT T BET T
Profit (loss) for the year REERF (EE) 220,470 (191,401)
Other comprehensive (loss) income HE M2 H (BHE) K&
Other comprehensive (loss) income to B 1 A £ E #7 7 X8 2 18 2
be reclassified to profit or loss in ZHRMEE (EE) K
subsequent periods:
Available-for-sale investments: AHEEERE
Changes in fair value NAEEEZE - (4,089)
Reclassification adjustments for REEEBRENGEER =
the cumulative loss included in R2BEDERAR 2 RET n
the consolidated statement of & 18
profit or loss upon disposal - (3,261) e
o
o~
- (7,350)
Exchange differences arising on BINETE K IBLE 2
translation of financial MEH =5 C N3
statements of foreign operations (454,286) 387,499
Share of other comprehensive BB E ARz EMEE
income (loss) of associates %5 (5 18) 42,887 (31,715) E
e
Net other comprehensive (loss) income HIEAJREEF N BEET 2 g
may be reclassified to profit or loss ~ E fb 2 (E518) Uk 22 5 58 #
in subsequent periods (411,399) 348,434 %
Other comprehensive income (loss) not B 18 T R[ 56 EF 7 E s 2 b
be reclassified to profit or loss in H b 2 W 7 (E ZS) ;
subsequent periods:
Net fair value changes on financial LNARBEAEAEE
assets measured at fair value FFAHMEEKER
through other comprehensive TREEZ ANBEF
income 2% (772) -
Gain on property revaluation I EXEEER 14 2,993 32,065
Income tax effect rieEfigs 25 (748) (8,017)

Net other comprehensive income will HEFAIgeEEHMHEE=EE
not be reclassified to profit or loss 2 Bty 2 T R
in subsequent periods 1,473 24,048




Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income

mAeEMEEKE R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 i ZE —E— \F+ A=+ —HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000

AR T BT

Other comprehensive (loss) income RHBRBFENATEEHEMEE
for the year, net of tax (E518) W= (409,926) 372,482

Total comprehensive (loss) income ZAREE2MH (FE) REHEEE

for the year (189,456) 181,081
Attributable to: BB
Equity holders of the parent R AR EER (124,240) (232,755)
5 Non-controlling interests FET R M = (65,216) 413,836
<
g (189,456) 181,081
<T
0
S
— 114

Digital China Holdings Limited




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
4r & B 1% AR O R

At 31 December 2018 R —ZE—\F+-_HA=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
kg BT T BET T
Non-current assets I RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz BE k& 14 1,017,356 1,167,160
Investment properties wWEWE 15 4,712,932 4,102,327
Prepaid land premiums FEA LA S 16 65,035 69,279
Goodwill P?-ﬁ%.ﬁ 17 2,057,937 2,346,218
Other intangible assets HithmEEE 18 161,520 181,387
Interests in joint ventures RaEhE 2R 19 197,662 228,639
Interests in associates n ﬁfﬁ /NI E 20 3,427,004 2,637,304
Available-for-sale investments EH HEKRE 21 - 3,314,809
Financial assets at fair value through A AR EBEEFEBEEEHT A
other comprehensive income EmezAlanmerpEE 22 427,293
Finance lease receivables J& W mb & 7 & IR 24 6,204 113,493 "
Accounts receivable JE L BR 3R 29 - 23,428 4
Prepayments, deposits and other TR FRIE - HE RAMEK @
receivables RIE 30 924,635 123,391 -
Deferred tax assets FEERIEE E 25 175,710 102,354 2
Total non-current assets RIETBNEE 13,173,288 14,409,789
15
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 26 1,052,773 1,221,410
Properties under development EEME 27 250,501 260,504 E
Completed properties held for sale be f’lfﬁiéj%ﬁﬁ WL T ¥ 28 23,093 45,006 Y
Accounts and bills receivables FE R BR SR I IR B 29 4,889,158 5,214,237 T
Prepayments, deposits and other BN FE - e KEMEIR B
receivables FRIA 30 1,224,466 1,944,876 Eﬂ
Contract assets BHEE 32a 1,151,469 - E
Available-for-sale investments AEERE 21 - 585,719 ﬁ
Financial assets at fair value through AR REBEEFEEEEHT A =
profit or loss EaNerREE 23 1,286,340 -
Finance lease receivables FE s b & 7 efth 24 162,597 341,735
Restricted bank balances PRl 8R 17 45 #h 33 69,617 107,989
Cash and cash equivalents iﬁ.ﬁ&ﬁ.ﬁvﬁ% 33 2,204,872 3,784,296
Total current assets BRBEE 12,314,886 13,505,772
Current liabilities RBE &
Accounts and bills payables Féﬁ@E?A&FEHTTF 34 3,212,562 3,217,547
Other payables and accruals HEMENRERBERER 35 1,656,352 3,560,919
Contract liabilities BHEE 326 1,612,372 -
Tax payables FE BT 1A 43,625 145,081
Interest-bearing bank and other BB ERTT M H L B 5K
borrowings 36 3,592,314 5,296,981
Total current liabilities BnsatE 10,117,225 12,220,528
Net current assets REBEEFE 2,197,661 1,285,244
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABERE 15,370,949 15,695,033




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

iR e 8RR R

At 31 December 2018 R—_E—N\F+=ZA=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k3 BET T BT T
Non-current liabilities EREBERE
Interest-bearing bank and other BB ERIT R EME K
borrowings 36 2,606,352 2,583,949
Deferred tax liabilities BIERIA R B 25 339,004 273,112
Deferred income I E WA 28,897 43,098
Total non-current liabilities BIERBAEE 2,974,253 2,900,159
Net assets BEEZEE 12,396,696 12,794,874
%;{ Capital and reserves RaRk#E
oo Share capital N 37 167,726 167,726
2 Reserves [ 38 8,682,617 8,942,059
<
g Equity attributable to equity holders of £F 72 &A% 3 J& 15 & 25
the parent 8,850,343 9,109,785
Non-controlling interests T = 3,546,353 3,685,089
— 116
Total equity DA 12,396,696 12,794,874
£ The consolidated financial statements on pages 112 to 322 were approved BAMBRERNFBIMNEINAER -
2 and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the Company on 27 —NE=ZA-_+tHESAQRAEESE
= March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by: HERIRETZE  WREREEE
o
ju
S
g‘

GUO Wei 385
Chairman F J&

LIN Yang M5
Vice Chairman Bl % &



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2018 E‘Zi_g NE+ZA=+—HLFE

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

RERRES
Available-
Employee for-sale
Share share-based Asset  investment Exchange Non-
Issued ~ premium Capital ~ Employee  compensation revaluation ~revaluation Reserve fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital - account reserve  share trust reserve reserve’ reserve funds reserve  earnings Total interests equity
IR AHHE
BE KB B8  [ER¢ AERE HREZ ER FER

Bx  2EER AfEE KEE:E MeRE  BE HEERE HEES RBER REEN BF R EneR
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000
BETL BETL BMTL R¥TRL AETR BETR BMTR BT B¥TR B%Tn B%Tn B%Tn B%Tn

At 1 January 2017 RZZ—+F-F-8 123466 2836673 1934787 (302457) 26307 456,024 29,649 310871 (97719) 1850986 7,168,567 3303326 10471913
(Loss) profit for the year REE(BR) &M - - - - - - - - - (#3006)  (413008) 221605 (191,401)
Other comprehensive income AEEE2ENS
(loss) for the year (B8)
Available-for-sale investments: MRINERE:
~ Changes in fair value -ARBEEY - - - - - - (4,089) - - - (4089) - (4089) L
= Gain on disposal - hEWE - - - - - - () - - - (1) - () W
Exchange differences arising on ENEBHEEER
translation of financial statements BEZERER °°
of foreign operations - - - - - - - - 195575 - 195575 191924 387499 -
Share of other comprehensive (loss)  FE(EBERE ZEf N
income of associates 2E(BBE) h&E - - - - - - (86 - 6,606 - (3202 07 31715 o
Gain on property revaluation, net of tax EHMB BN E
fhEkE - - - - - M8 - - - - N8 - um
- 17
Total comprehensive income {los) for the A 2 EE (B%8)
year it - - - - - 24048 (45,978) - 202,181 (413006)  (232.755) 413,836 181,081
Issue of new shares BHRHA 10715 526882 - - - - - - - - I - 5359 I
Rights issue R 33545 1,308,264 - - - - - - - - 1341809 = 1341809 &4
Share issue expenses BIRRDER - - - - - - - - - - u™t
Share-based compensation WRGBZ Az #E - - - - 307,506 - - - - - 307506 10561 318067 Iz
Vesting of shares under the restricted % R 517 23 3 =
share award scheme nEBRN - - - 8310 (282,310) - - - - - - - - &
Contribution to employee shares trusts B E R EE S - - - (14 - - - - - - (14 - (14 e
Capital contribution from MBAREERRR w
non-controlling shareholders of BRHE =
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - %7 26789 g
Acquisition of additional interests i~ WEFE 2 ERBHE
non-wholly owned subsidiaries* RANENMER - - ) - - - - - - C st (1340)  (18231)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BTYFERERZIRE
shareholders xff - - - - - - - - - - - (6003 (56009
Transfer to reserve funds ERZHEES - - - - - - - M - (s2420) - - -
At 31 December 2017 RZZ-tF

+-A=1+-H 167,726 4665095 1929976 (21571) 51508 480072 (16329) 393297 104462 1355554 909785 3685089 12794874




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

,i_|_ ~= N\ 7 %E,,Z\
CEEREFHR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 i ZE —E— \F+ A=+ —HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

BARRRER
Available-
Employee for-sale
Share Employee  share-based Asset investment  Investment Exchange Non-
Issued  premium Capital share compensation revaluation revaluation revaluation Other  Reserve fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital  account reserve trust reserve reserve’ reserve reserve reserve funds reserve  earnings Total interests equity
R %A THEE
2R RH [ ERz KEfiE REZ RE Ej E3

Bz EEER &AEE RRES MEBG  BF (ERR HERE AtBE BRE: RBEE REEN BH  RER ER4F
HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS$'000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BMTR RRTR BT BMTR AMTR BWTR EMTR BT AMTn ANTR BWTR EMT EMTR RARTR B%Tn

At 31 December 2017 as originally R =E—+%E+=f

stated =+—HBRAL 167726 4665095 1929976  (21,571) 51503 480072 (16329) - - 393207 104462 1355554 9,109,785 3,685,089 12,794,874
Effect of changes in accounting Bt BKXEBHTE
policies (note 2) (i) - - - - - - 16329 5,459 - - - (117,198)  (95.410)  (41,042) (136452)

At 1 January 2018 as restated R=Z-NE-A-8"

AE5 167,726 4665095 1929976  (21571) 51503 480072 - 5459 - 393297 104462 1238356 9014375 3,644,047 12658422
s Profit for the year AEEHEH - - - - - - - - - - - 149587 149587 70883 220470
g Changes in fair value on financial WA A% BEFERE
= assets measured at fair value FHHALMLZE
2 through other comprehensive Let: kY43
£ income MEEEY - - - - - - - 16984 - - - - 16984  (17,756) (172)
« Exchange differences arising on BNEBHBERRE
IS5 translation of financial ZERER
statements of foreign
operations - - - - - - - - - - (320970) - (320970) (133316) (454,286)
Share of other comprehensive EEBERRZ
18 - income of associates Efh2EkE - - 5021 - - - - 20,635 - - 3,595 - 29251 13,636 42,887
Gain on property revaluation, net of X HIBR 14 )
tax nERERE - - - - - 908 - - - - - - 908 1337 245
=] EVAr Y
s Total comprehensive income (loss) 4% 5F [ 2 T M35 (#598)
£ for the year ot - - 5,021 - - 908 - 37619 - - (317375 149,587 (124240)  (65216) (189,456)
j Share-based compensation Py st ks - - - - 3414 - - - - - - - 3414 - 3414
g Capital contribution from HEBRAFERRR
% non-controlling shareholders ZERLE
3‘:“ of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - - 14,654 14,654
< Capital reduction by 2 WEBAREERBER
S non-controlling shareholder of ZHE
5_3 a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - - = (1019 (11,019
> Shares buyback note 37/d) R BE (Hitsny) - - - - - - - - (132) - - - (132 - (13%)
e Acquisition of additional interests in WU IE2 A K E
non-wholly owned REMEMER"
subsidiaries” - = (41,880 - - - - - - - - - (41,880 (6,064)  (47,944)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 42/c)) & M B2 7 (M7 #42tc)) - - - - - - - - - - - - - (5784)  (5784)
Dividends paid to non-controlling £ F3E R R E
shareholders ZREXA - - - - - - - - - - - - - (24265)  (24,265)
Transfer to reserve funds BATREES - - - - - - - - - 33,578 - (33579) - - -
At 31 December 2018 R=Z-\%F
+-A=t+-8 167,726 4665095 1893117  (21571) 54917 480980 - 43078 (1326) 426875 (212,913) 1354365 8850343 3546353 12,396,696
’ The asset revaluation reserve arose from the gains on property revaluation as a result of ’ BEGMERBEEREAMEZEREHZE
the change in use from owner-occupied properties to investment properties. wEMEZMEREBERE -
* During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group acquired additional interests in non- * HE-Z— )\F+ZA=+—HLEFE &
wholly-owned subsidiaries with a carrying amount of non-controlling interests prior to EENWEFERESEERENABE
the acquisitions of the additional interest of approximately HK$6,064,000 (2017: 6,064,0007C (= & — + 4F : & #13,420,0007T) Z
HK$13,420,000) from the non-controlling interests at an aggregate cash consideration AR ENRES LN EB47944000L (= F
of HKK$47,944,000 (2017: HK$18,231,000) from the non-controlling interests. The loss — 5 B ¥18,231,0007T) W BE IE 2 & A T
arising from such acquisitions of approximately HK$41,880,000 (2017: HK$4,811,000) BAFMEIMER -ZRWBEENBEOR
was recognized in capital reserve. 75 #541,880,0007T (= & — + 4 : 7 #64,811,000

TERENFRHER -



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
TcEEESREXR

For the year ended 31 DecemberZOtSEﬁZi_j —NE+ZA=+—HLEE

2018 2017
—2-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BB T BETT

OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETH
Profit (loss) before tax: B B AT A (B3 18) - 281,534 (47,817)
Adjustments for: R
Finance costs b & Bk AR 215,857 230,542
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures — JE & & 1 % KB & 2 A
and associates Zm A K e (78,526) (111,015)
Interest on bank deposits SRITERA B (16,786) (21,526)
Dividend income from available-for-sale AHEERE ZREWA
investments - (17,289)
Dividends income from financial assets at ARRBEFEHHEEHT A
fair value through other comprehensive ,\t@i@u&mmﬁwﬁﬁﬁ "
income Z BB A (3.840) - o
Impairment of goodwill AR E 220,695 - -
Impairment of accounts and bills FEUWBE R R FEUL =18 R B Atb -
receivables and other receivables FE W SR IE R E 272,000 135,580 :
Impairment of finance lease receivables FE Y Bt & 7 B BB R E 12,740 522
Impairment of available-for-sale AHEERERE
investments - 239,773 119
Impairment of interests in joint ventures REBPEZERZRE 10,156 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and uuj %W% % 5 K 5%
equipment 2 B8 24,575 2,742 =
Fair value gains on investment properties, KEMEZ AR EEFRER S
net (50,141) (53,086) fi
Gain on disposal of the equity interests in HESHEELERR 2
joint ventures 2 W= (4,158) (102,394) =0
Gain on disposal of the equity interests in & %Fﬁ Nk E
associates 2 Was (7.880) (2,795) =
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair NAnBEASEEZEEHTA =
value through profit or loss EantemEEs A A EE
&8 5,838 -
Gain on deemed partial disposal of the RAEXEZHBE QRS
equity interests in associates 2 W (293,083) (42,046)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEMHBERE 2 W=
investments - (31,138)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair s ’% NAnEBEGFEEH
value through profit or loss =& FEAEZNEREEY
Y &5 (10,244) -
Gain on partial disposal of the equity PEZHMBARH DR 2
interests in subsidiaries I = (199,917) -
Depreciation e 149,186 142,947
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums TE A £ 3 7E & B 8 1,727 1,755
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b 8 1 & 5 49,340 31,853
Provisions for and write-off of obsolete 5%%@ = 5 1 K 88
inventories 125,630 50,311
Share-based compensation AR 2 2 B & 3.414 318,067
708,117 724,986



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
meReRnER
For the year ended 31 December 2018 i ZE —E— \F+ A=+ —HILFE

2018 2017
—2-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BB TR BET T

Decrease (Increase) in inventories FER A GEMm 43,033 (397,937)
Decrease in completed properties held for sale ¥ {E$H 5 @& M % T ¥ %7 > 21,954 160,613
Additions to properties under development AN B EEW - (1,285)

Decrease (Increase) in accounts and bills JE U BR 3R K% Uk ZE AR SRL A (35 n)
receivables 79,926 (1,369,630)

Increase in prepayments, deposits and other  JEAS FIA ~ & & & H fib fE WL 5k 1E
receivables 1N (39,782) (156,653)
Decrease in finance lease receivables Uk g & T & RIE R A 262,684 258,379
Increase in accounts and bills payables FE A BR X K% FE AN ZE 4K 38 N 7,191 1,093,200

%;, Increase (Decrease) in other payables and HEmEMNRELRERE R MELE
& accruals and deferred income W A8 0 Gl 4) (335,005) 657,370
3 Increase in contract assets EHEEEM (119,896) -
§ Decrease in contract liabilities EHaER D (115,336) -
g Decrease (Increase) in restricted bank balances = [R il 88 77 45 62 )8 4> (38 71) 38,372 (49,079)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ X 2 &) 7 32 & 5% (85,230) 70,906

——— 120 _

Cash generated from operations WEMB RS 466,028 990,870
Interest received B F B 18,312 17,008
Hong Kong profits tax paid BB EREH 147 (165)
Mainland China income tax paid B AR B RPEFTIS A (189,254) (111,231)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& FZEFMERESFE 295,233 896,482

Digital China Holdings Limited
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2018 2017
—2-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BB T BETT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B A% ~ ME L& & (100,193) (571,987)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant EEWME KBERREZ
and equipment BT 15 %R 1,095 1,483
Additions to other intangible assets NEHMERLEE (35,400) (49,982)
Additions to investment properties NEIREYE - (628)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U BE Bt B A A (32,258) (170,278)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR 56,496 -
Proceeds from disposal of investments in HTELHAEREREY
joint ventures BT 15 %R 13,972 - e
Proceeds from disposal of investments in HELSHBERARKREY &
associates P 1S %8 46,933 11,597 ©
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale  H & /] i HE R E Z AT1F N E -
investments - 142,257 ~
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets LHENAREBETEBETHITA
at fair value through other comprehensive HEt2EREHNEREEY
income BT 15 %R 26,106 - 21—
Proceeds from the redemption of financial WEA AR EETZE B ZEETA
assets at fair value through profit or loss BEamemEE B RHKIE 651,358 - =
Dividends received from joint ventures WH—HeaEhtEZRE 5,137 4,077 &
Dividends received from associates WH % BBt L NRl 2 ’KE 8,685 17,555 =
Dividends received from available-for-sale WEAIHHEREZRE g
investments - 16,540 =l
Dividends income from financial assets at fair A AR EBETE B HEE &5 A K
value through other comprehensive income  HEMEZHEWEMEHEE ﬁ
Z R EMA 3,840 - z
Investments in joint ventures REeEahEZRE (4,737) (20,800)
Investments in associates R a2’ E - (98,896)
Investments in available-for-sale investments AIftHERE Z K& - (263,784)
Investments in financial assets at fair value WARBEGFEEHEEZHT AR
through other comprehensive income merEBaNeREECKRE (22,145) -
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BEUAABEGE8EEH
through profit or loss AEZHNEREE (1,371,741) -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HEN AR BEFTE B EE St
fair value through profit or loss ABENEREBEECFTBRIE 769,561 -

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING REZEBMB (A RSFEE
ACTIVITIES 16,709 (982,846)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
meReRnER
For the year ended 31 December 2018 i ZE —E— \F+ A=+ —HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES METH
Proceeds from issue of new ordinary shares 2577 37 % @ W 2 FT1S FA - 1,529,818
Shares buy-back % 15 & [0 (1,326) -
New bank borrowings FILIRITE R 4,506,145 6,316,624
Repayment of bank borrowings EBEERITER (5,842,011) (6,536,413)
Proceeds from issue of corporate bonds BITRBMESR IS RIAE 1,430 806,495
Repayment of corporate bonds EBEAAES (236,642) (791,281)
Interest paid Eﬁ & (215,857) (230,542)
. Dividends paid to non-controlling BTHFERBRREZEMNRKRE
2 shareholders (24,265) (56,003)
QTE; Payments to acquire additional interests in ~ WIEFEEEH BB R 7 H
E non-wholly-owned subsidiaries BIMEZR 2 N (47,944) (18,231)
2 Contribution from non-controlling MWEBAREERKRELHE
o shareholders of subsidiaries 4,169 25,878
Capital reduction by a non-controlling WEARIGEIERB R ZRE
122 - shareholder of a subsidiary (11,019) -
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING @& FE (FTA) B R&FHE
,:g ACTIVITIES (1,867,320) 1,046,345
E NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND RERBSZEEYW R L)
= CASH EQUIVALENTS 18 0 F 58 (1,555,378) 959,981
g Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of MREEFIZRELREEEY
E] year 3,784,296 2,698,158
g Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net HEFH 2 FE (24,046) 126,157
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATTHE REERZBEESRRLSZEEY
END OF YEAR 2,204,872 3,784,296
Analysis of Components of Cash and Cash RERBEESEEYW AR DM
Equivalents
Bank balances and cash I RIRTTEE R 2,159,291 3,735,784
Non-pledged time deposits fm R B E R 45,581 48,512
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the ~ FRERAE P FAR AR KERE
consolidated statement of financial RenerMEZRE R
position and the consolidated statement ReFZEEY
of the cash flows 2,204,872 3,784,296
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GENERAL

Digital China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company are
disclosed in the "Corporate Information" section to this annual
report.

During the vyear, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) were involved in the following principal
activities:

o provision of information technology (*IT") services, including
systems integration, technical services, application software

— R

M BIEERARAR ((ARF))
P—EREREEMRL ARA
ARABRAREBHARDHAR
AR EW e ARTZ ERHAEM
TEE LT P ST
[ARER ] —HEE -

RAEEAN ARFIREKEAR
(G AEBDREATEEE
7% -

o REHBEAMEUATDRS
BREEGER  BRMRSE -

development, agricultural informatisation, sale of financial ERTHERE BREEL "
specified equipment, etc. It HETHREARES &
o provision of supply chain services, including e-commerce o REHEERY  RIEER -
supply chain services, logistics services, etc. HEERY VRRBE ~
° provision of all-encompassing Sm@rt City services, including . RHE2FAUNEEHMES
internet based integrated IT platform construction and % (BIEEREBAZ M 123
operation and institutional financial services, including micro- TFaEfRRES) R#EHE
credit loan, leasing, factoring, etc. SRR (BENE - -HE - T
REE) «
e
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong RAEMBHmERAEE T (BT g
dollars ("HK$"). Other than the Group's subsidiaries established in the 25 BRAEE N E AR LA fﬁ
People's Republic of China (the "PRC") whose functional currencies ([FEDKZLzNEEEBARK ﬁ%
are Renminbi (“RMB"), the functional currencies of the Company and (TAR®ED 2B ARSI RAF =
other subsidiaries are HK$. REMMBAR 2 EB /B T

7_E°
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)")

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time, the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKAS(s)"), amendments and
interpretations (“Int(s)"), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA").

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and
related Amendments
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-

based Payment Transactions

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with

HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2014 — 2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

HK (IFRIC) — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance

Consideration

The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers have been
summarised below. The application of other new and amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial performance and position for the current and prior
years andfor on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

Impact on the consolidated financial statements for the
adoption of the new accounting standards

As a result of the changes in the Group's accounting policies, prior
year financial statements had to be restated. As explained below,
HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 are adopted without restating comparative
information. The related reclassifications and the adjustments are
therefore not reflected in consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2017, but are recognised in the opening
balance on 1 January 2018.

2.

ERAHMTREEBIZER
MBREEN(EBMBE
HAEA])

RAFE AEBEARAELE
AR (EEGHBAER]) B
B LA T 31 5T R AR5 5T 2 B B B 15 48
ERA BREEREMBWE S
Al BAEGEA(EB R R
Al R (RE) -

BEYBREEL EMTA

95
EREVBHREER KARFEHWA
1555 L@ EET
EBMBRMEER ARDAEBRK
FERZEF] RHIMDER
e
EEVBREER EREBHBHRS
B4 2 18R] AEB|F5R £ R/l
TERBAEVIE
WwmE%ER
BRRBED
EB G ERRY (FAZTS—NER
ZAEET —TE-RNFRH
2 EEBHED
— o
EB SRS REMENE R
ZERT

E5(BABRTBHR INERXHREN
L2EZEg RE
- BB E2W®

AN E 7S B 15 3R 5 E B 5955 & &t
T ERE BN HE 2R 51552k
BEEFAHNRANTFERMRET -
RAFEREREMIE] REIBETH
EEMBHRELENTEHAEERR
RNEERBEFENTIEERR &
AR/ BZERAMERRAEN
WEBRKEATE-

FRFA B EAY AN

BROTE
MRASENSAREE L LF

EMBHmRMBAEY T XA
At RAE B B A 2 B 5%
&%/%Eﬁi%ﬁ&%—%ﬂ”%g%m ! Z:E
FILLEE R - At HEED R
BT ARRMER-_T—tF+=
A=t—BoHEaMBikRRS -
BegR_F—-N\F—-A—- BNV
FEBRTRRERR o
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2. ERFIRKETIZERS

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING MBREEN(EBYE
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)") (CONTINUED) HwEEAD &)
Impact on the consolidated financial statements for the Knsmsl St EREHES MK
adoption of the new accounting standards (Continued) WMERNTE (E)
The following tables show the adjustments recognised for each Ti‘%iﬁ/ﬁ/—r\ EEEEZNEE -k
individual line item. Line items that were not affected by the SRETE L E ET‘E{\]I,E B o
changes have not been included. As a result, the sub-totals and lH: ﬁjﬂﬁ 2By /)N *—|—)§g BN e
totals disclosed cannot be recalculated from the numbers provided. T E’J%ﬂf‘?i%ﬁ HE - T gy %R
The adjustments are explained in more detail by standard below. FEEMMHRE T
Carrying
amount originally Carrying
reported at Impact on Impact on amount as at
31 December 2017 adoption of adoption of 1 January
(HKAS 39)  HKFRS 15 HKFRS 9 2018 "
R=-ZZFB—+tF i
+t=A=+—H iy "
WIREE: KRHEE BKEHEE ZT-N\F -
Rt (BE%2 BE®RE BHE®RE —HF—H o
BET R SE3057) ERISE1siE ERFoE MWEREMRE o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFrT BEFTr BETT
125 ————
Assets BE
Accounts and bills receivables & U4 BR 5% & & Uk
Eg 5,237,665 - (92,983) 5,144,682 "
Prepayment, deposits and FENRIE - EHE R D}i
other receivables H fth & Y 5K IA 2,068,267 (1,017,881) (138,113) 912,273 T
Contract assets BHEE - 1,033,320 (1,747) 1,031,573 2
Available-for-sale investments ] f tH & % & 3,900,528 - (3,900,528) - &
Financial assets at fair value A AR EBEFTEH e
through profit or loss HE88 AER &
WeREE - - 3,093,805 3,093,805 -
Financial assets at fair value A AR EBEFT=EH -
through other HEB)r AEM
comprehensive income 2HEWEN SR
BE - - 919,282 919,282
Total HEN 11,206,460 15,439 (120,284) 11,101,615
Liabilities afE
Other payables and accruals B & 15 518 &
EiRE R 3,560,919 (1,748,386) - 1,812,533
Contract liabilities GHEE - 1,759,490 - 1,759,490
Deferred tax liabilities BERIAEE 273,112 1,544 18,959 293,615
Total et 3,834,031 12,648 18,959 3,865,638
Equity R
Retained earnings R B s A 1,355,554 (5,492) (111,706) 1,238,356
Non-controlling interests JE 20 I #EE 2 3,685,089 8,283 (49,325) 3,644,047
Available-for-sale investment A] ff H &K & HE
revaluation reserve i (16,329) - 16,329 -
Investment revaluation reserve % & {5 {8 B - - 5,459 5,459

Total e 5,024,314 2,791 (139,243) 4,887,862
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)") (CONTINUED)

Provision of services

Certain of the Group's contracts for provision of technical services
contained an acceptance clause from customers and service revenue
was previously recognised upon acceptance by customers under
HKAS 18. Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group concluded
that such service revenue should be recognised over time. Such
change resulted in increase in contract assets, other payables and
deferred tax liabilities at 1 January 2018 by approximately
HK$15,439,000, HK$11,104,000 and HK$1,544,000, respectively. As a
result, the retained earnings was reduced by approximately

2.

FERAFREET 2B
MEREER(EBRK
HEER ) (E)

IRRRFE
REBREFMTRIEOE T AL
BEPWEMER  UAIIRESRS
G ERE R B ENEER
RGN - REERB BT IERE %
AIZE1s5518 - AEBRAZERE
U A FERE RS R AT IE RS T RERR o % &
BEHN_ZT—N\F—A—AME
WEE -  HMEMNZRERELTHE
B &5 B4 10 49 7% #15,439,0007T

& HK$5,492,000 while the non-controlling interest increased by 785 1511,104,0007T K 78 6 1,544,0007T ©
& approximately HK$8,283,000. b RE &ML OB
E 5,492,0007T - 1M FF 22 A% 4 51 18 0 4
2 5 #£8,283,0007T °
:
Receipts in advance and amounts due to customers for FAURFEREHNIEZEMTE
contract work FRE
126 - As at 1 January 2018, receipts in advance in and due to contract RZZE—N\F—A—H LaeRE

Digital China Holdings Limited

customers previously included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables of approximately HK$1,493,221,000 and approximately
HK$266,269,000 respectively were reclassified to contract liabilities.

EHEMENRERBREBPHIE
WHRIBEBREMNEHNRFPRIED AN
B #1493221000C K 4 B
266,269,0007CE ENEEAHAEE -



APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)") (CONTINUED)

Impact on the consolidated financial statements for the
adoption of the new accounting standards (Continued)
Due from contract customers

As at 1 January 2018, amounts due from contract customers
previously included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables
of approximately HK$1,017,881,000 was reclassified to contract
assets.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 11 Construction Contracts, HKAS 18
Revenue and related interpretations and it applies to all revenue
arising from contracts with customers, unless those contracts are in
the scope of other standards. The new standard established a five-
step model for determining whether, how much and when revenue
is recognised. The Group has elected to adopt the modified
retrospective approach for contracts with customers that are not
completed as at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018)
with the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 15 as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings, or other
component of equity, as appropriate and comparative information is
not restated. Accordingly, certain comparative information may not
be comparable as comparative information was prepared under HKAS
18 Revenue and HKAS 11 Construction contracts and the related
interpretations.

The Group's accounting policies for its revenue streams are disclosed
in detail in Note 3 below.

The following table summarises the impact of transition to HKFRS
15 on retained earnings at 1 January 2018:

2,
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FERAFEIREET 2B
MEBEERN(EBRK
HwEEH ] (E)
RIS ENEES UK
MR E(E)
EWEHNEF#E
RZZE-NF—A—H " LAIEHE
ERMRIE - ke REMEWKIA
ZIEREHNEFRRBEBLHBE
1017881000 E ED A EA N E
Eo

BERYBRELERF1558KE
EFAHRA

BEVHREEINFBSHIMAES
SRTENFENREREEGN BFES
RIS 185R WA R AR R - I
ERARNEEFANELENMER
A BRIFZFEOBNE M LRI
CHEAREYT —ERFSRE
RAREERTERRA  ZDRA
KAl HE SR MR » SR H 6 FE A A
A —Z—-NE—-A—R)HEARTEX
MEFPRIAH AREEREER
RGETENE  BEMIGERE
BB MEEE 1SN RBTE
HEEREGMNMYFE  EM
BEARED CEER) YAETE
FILLEE R - AR BE R TDRE
FRGEREBRBART LS
RAERAFSIREZESORAMRE
e BETHRERATREELL

REBW KRN ST BRFEBH
TR T3 -

TREABIE R F B RS R
FSHEH T \F-A—BRE
mAME R E

HK$'000
BT T

Balance at 31 December 2017, as originally stated RZZE—+F+=-A=+—H
2 sEh - RFT At 1,355,554

Revenue recognised over time for provision of T 42 552 i AR 755 B B8 BF ) T #E
technical services %R A (5,492)
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZE—NF—AR—A2z#&#% 1,350,062

F W

2018

HMMNEBERBR QA
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

2.

ERHIREBIT 2R
MBBRELEAN(EREMHK

STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)") (CONTINUED) HEER ) (E)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers EBVBRELENE 155K B
(Continued) EREEHIMA (H)

Disclosure of the estimated impact on the amounts
reported in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018
as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1 January
2018

The following tables summarise the estimated impact of applying
HKFRS 15 on the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
current year and the consolidated statement of financial position at

AR=ZF—NF—H— HERH
BB BEIREER FE1559  #7
EBEZ_FE-NFL+ZH

S —HUFEFZHRLHEL
1at &
TRBMAETESHERF15R
BB ENFE e NIEERE
(EZcZ2AEMK) TE2EHRMNEEE

5 31 December 2018, by comparing the amounts reported under HKAS LL B pE A BB B IS 3R 5 2E R 1557
5_‘; 11, HKAS 18 and related interpretations that were in effect before REAFENGEEZRIARN T
2 the change. Line items that were not affected by the adjustments —N\FH+Z A=+ —ANGREHH
f_o have not been included. The adoption of HKFRS 15 did not have RRKRNEFTHFE - RESRXH
] material impact on the Group's operating, investing and financing BYEMNER RWNBEBUBHRE
cash flows. ERF SR ITEEHAEENLEE -
. RERBARSHEMREAY
@,
] Impact on the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year HREEBRENIMABRTEES
E ended 31 December 2018 as a result of the differences in revenue B HWHEEZ_ZET—NF+ - A
& recognition for provision of services is as follows: T+ -HILIFEREBRRNFE
% W
5 Amounts excluding
% Impact of adopting impact of adopting
s As reported HKFRS 15* HKFRS 15
SHETEERH
RNERBUE BEUERS
W|EERE 5% B 5155
E2% (-2 Mg
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT B¥TT BET T
Revenue WA 15,254,499 39,836 15,294,335
Cost of sales and services HE KRB (12,345,061) (35,265) (12,380,326)
Gross profit EH 2,909,438 4,571 2,914,009
Income tax expense FEHEHR (61,064) (342) (61,406)
Profit for the year REF E % A 220,470 4,229 224,699
Profit for the year attributable to: A F EiaFIFER
— Equity holders of the parent -BRRRRER 149,587 2,392 151,979
— Non-controlling interests - IR 70,883 1,837 72,720

Note:  Certain of the Group's contracts for provision of technical services contained an
acceptance clause from customers and service revenue should be recognised
over time.

Wiz AEBRERRTRENE TAHOEE
BB AN R R - 3 R B B E SRR TS
A o
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FERMARKEBITZER
MHEBEEN(EBHHK
= ) (&)
BEEMBHMELEAE15ERE
EFAHBA (&)
Disclosure of the estimated impact on the amounts AR=ZZFE—NF—HA—HEH
reported in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 BB BEHREERE15% K
as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1 January EEE-_ZF-NF+=AH
2018 (Continued) =S+ —HIFEFZHLEELY
15Et & ()
HR-_Z—-\F+-_A=+—H&K
BBRAROTZENT :

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)") (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial position at 31
December 2018 is as follows:

Amounts =
excluding &
Impact of impact of ©
adopting adopting S
As reported HKFRS 15* HKFRS 15 ~
RawER LEFEE
BRHRE HRaSEH 12
ERE168, HmEER
B2 Mg BNy E
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 i
#r BT T BT T BT T -
e
Prepayments, deposits and other T8 {J 3 IE » & R E Al :'%
receivables & W kIR (a),(0) 2,149,101 1,139,453 3,288,554 e
Contract assets EHEE (b) 1,151,469 (1,151,469) - &
Other payables and accruals HENREREBRER (.0 (1,656,352) (1,600,120) (3,256,472) o
Contract liabilities BHEE (c) (1,612,372) 1,612,372 - N
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIEAE (a) (339,004) 1,202 (337,802)
Retained earnings 1R B8 4 7 (a) (1,303,253) (7,884) (1.311,137)
Non-controlling interests iR EE (a) (3.546,353) 6,446 (3,539,907)

**

- AT ERERAEEW RS

The amounts in this column are before the adjustments from the application of

HKFRS 9. ERFSRBEZA -
Note (a): Certain of the Group's contracts for provision of technical services contained Wit 0 AEBRERTRBOEFEH
an acceptance clause from customers and service revenue should be BAEZTF N ENIER - BRI
recognised over time. N\ FE B BRF P HE RS T 1R o
Note (b): The reclassification of contract assets under HKFRS 15 to due from contract Hiatm) 0 BREEEELFE8E TREKE
customers under HKAS 18 of approximately HK$1,151,469,000. PREREBEESMBEREERE
BREHNOEAANEENSE
#) 75 #51,151,469,0007T ©
Note (c):  The reclassification of contract liabilities under HKFRS 15 to due to contract Hitl): BERBGFTERBE R TEMNE

customers for and receipts in advance under HKAS 18 of approximately
HK$1,612,372,000.

FRERERFBEBREESEMH
HELEESREHOBEAEN
BEMNSFLE%1,612372,0007T ©
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)") (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39 that relate to the
recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments,
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. The Group has
applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to financial instruments that have
not been derecognised at the date of initial application (i.e. 1
January 2018) in accordance with the transition provisions under
HKFRS 9, and chosen not to restate comparative information.

2.

ERHIREBIT 2R
MBBRELEAN(EREMHK

HEA ) (&)
ERVBHMELAFSRERT
=1

==

BREMBHRELENFEISFEMAEE
SRR REREREERS
MEBEMNER DENMTE KLE
BRATHTAE SMEERERH
HEFIGRX c AEERIREBEE A
1 7 3R 5 A B o5 A0 3B K 153X
EPEARNGERRBIZF
—NF—A—B)HEARELLHERN
ERMIAE UERELAZINHLRE

£ Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
g liabilities on initial application are recognised in retained earnings BeoRVRERRSHEERS R
E and other components of equity as at 1 January 2018. EERESENEEEIR-ZE—N
< F-A—BRBRMNFHMER
3 AR B D P HER ©
The Group's accounting policies for the classification and REBEMIANSERFAERS
130 - measurement of financial instruments and the impairment of MEENREN ST BERFIERE
financial assets are disclosed in detail in Note 3 below. AR SCHE RS -
2 (i)  Classification and measurement of financial () ZHTEAZERGE
; instruments
§ The directors of the Company reviewed and assessed the AR EEREBEREBRFAE
:fz Group's existing financial assets and liabilities as at 1 January MEETEBERER EFTHR
§ 2018 based on the facts and circumstances that existed at EER-_ZE—N\F—HA—H
= that date and concluded that the initial application of HKFRS WREemEERAE I
g 9 has had the following impact on the Group's financial REBE B wEER E5R

assets and liabilities as regards their classification and
measurement:

MR EREASENSH
BERBBEEEATHED
BRFETENTE



APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS ("HKFRS(s)") (CONTINUED)
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Classification and measurement of financial

instruments (Continued)

(a)  Equity investments previously classified as
available-for-sale investments carried at fair
value:

For certain available-for-sale equity investments
amounting to approximately HK$98,440,000 carried at
fair value, the Group has not elected the option for
designation at fair value through other comprehensive
income ("FVTOCI") and reclassified them to financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").
Upon initial application of HKFRS 9, available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve relating to these
financial assets amounting to approximately
HK$3,405,000 was transferred to retained earnings at 1
January 2018. In addition, amount of approximately
HK$19,734,000 representing the Group's share of
cumulative revaluation loss of available-for-sale
investments of associates was also transferred from
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to

investment revaluation reserve at 1 January 2018.

2,
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 i ZE —E— \F+ A=+ —HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS ("HKFRS(s)") (CONTINUED)
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Classification and measurement of financial
instruments (Continued)

(b)

Unlisted equity investments previously classified
as avalilable-for-sale investments carried at cost
less impairment:

The Group had elected to present in other
comprehensive income for the fair value changes in
respect of certain of the Group's unlisted equity
investments amounting to approximately
HK$849,953,000, net of accumulated impairment loss of
approximately HK$11,832,000, as they are held for
medium or long term strategic purpose, and
reclassified them to financial assets at FVTOCI upon
initial application of HKFRS 9 under HKFRS 9. The
Group measures them at fair value at the end of
subsequent reporting periods with fair value gains or
losses to be recognised as other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve,
which will not be reclassified to profit or loss when
they are derecognised. On initial application of HKFRS
9, an impairment loss of approximately HK$11,832,000
previously recognised on these investments was
reclassified from retained earnings to investment
revaluation reserve at 1 January 2018, whereas an
amount of approximately HK$69,329,000 (before
related deferred tax of HK$18,959,000) representing the
difference between the previous carrying amount and
the fair value was adjusted to investment revaluation
reserve and non-controlling interests at 1 January
2018 as to approximately HK$37,025,000 and
HK$13,345,000 respectively.

FERFITREEBIT &R
MBBRELEAN(EREMHK

HEA ) (&)
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A (&)
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(b) B2 2E B A B
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& B 75 3R 4E Bl 895
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E mMEAAEERD
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS ("HKFRS(s)") (CONTINUED)
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)  Classification and measurement of financial
instruments (Continued)

()

Unlisted equity investments previously classified
as available-for-sale investments carried at cost
less impairment: (Continued)

For the remaining available-for-sale unlisted
investments representing wealth management financial
products, carried at cost less impairment amounting to
approximately HK$2,952,135,000, net of accumulated
impairment loss of approximately HK$227,941,000 and
the related interest receivables of approximately
HK$123,391,000, which fail the contractual cash flow
characteristics test or are held within a business model
whose objective is nether to collect the contractual
cash flows nor to both collect contractual cash flows
and sell these financial assets, were reclassified to
financial assets at FVIPL under HKFRS 9. The Group
measures them at fair value at the end of subsequent
reporting periods with fair value gains or losses to be
recognised in profit or loss. On initial application of
HKFRS 9, an amount of approximately HK$80,161,000
representing the difference between the previous
carrying amount and the fair value relating to these
wealth management financial products was adjusted to
retained earnings as at 1 January 2018.

Note (iii) below tabulates the change in classification and

measurement of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities upon application of HKFRS 9.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 i ZE —E— \F+ A=+ —HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)") (CONTINUED)
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Loss allowance for expected credit losses ("ECL")

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has changed the Group's accounting
for impairment losses for financial assets by replacing HKAS
39's incurred loss model with a forward-looking ECL model.
As at 1 January 2018, the directors of the Company reviewed
and assessed the Group's existing financial assets, contract
assets and financial guarantee for impairment using
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort in accordance with the
requirement HKFRS 9.

As at 1 January 2018, an additional allowance on the Group's
accounts and other receivables in aggregate of approximately
HK$109,452,000 have been recognised, thereby reducing the
opening retained earnings and non-controlling interests by
approximately HK$46,782,000 and approximately
HK$62,670,000, respectively.

2.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)") (CONTINUED) WEXR ) (F)
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued) EAMHBREENFSSES/MT
B (4&)

(i) V16 FEFH & B B 75 3R & 2
Bl EE R ERE
TR B EE B S R
HEAFSRER T —N\F

(iii) Summary of effects arising from initial application
of HKFRS 9
The table below summarises the impact of transition to
HKFRS 9 on retained earnings and other components of

equity at 1 January 2018.

— A

— AR A R E Al

HOERBHHBE -

Available-for-
Investment sale investment Non- o
revaluation revaluation Retained controlling B
reserve reserve earnings interests
BE  AHHE -
HERE REMERE REBRA FERER o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 o
BT BETT BT T BETT
135
Balance at 31 December 2017 as RZ-T—+F+-_A=+—H
originally stated 2R AT - (16,329) 1,355,554 3,685,089
Net fair value changes on financial EHBRHEARABETER T
assets at FVTOCI, net of tax HEFHFALp2EEE S
MEREEL DA EET =
) 37,025 - - 13,345 e
Net fair value changes on financial AR R BEEAHEH) &
assets at FVTPL AFABERNEREE E
ZARBEEED - - (80,161) - o
Impairment loss transferred from  FA{R B8 )i FISE B A BN A D 72 %
retained earnings as the EEGFEAEZEHITAL
financial assets measured at terEEEnEREER
FVTOC! A (11832) - 11,832 -
Additional loss allowance BINE B G - - (46,782) (62,670)
Fair value gain transferred from HEAHEREERAHER
investment revaluation reserve BURAAREBEFTERE
to retained earnings as the SR ABRIHEN
financial assets now measured CREENRBRMOR
at FVTPL REEKE (19,734) 16,329 3,405 -
Total changes as a result of ARZZT—-NF—A—HER
adoption of HKFRS 9 on BB WG ER Lo
1 January 2018 BYMBEE 5,459 16,329 (111,706) (49,325)
Total changes as a result of ARZZ—NE—HA—B&EH
adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1 BRI EmEERE 155
January 2018 BYMEEE - - (5,492) 8,283
Balance at 1 January 2018 as RZZE—-N\F—A—H
restated 2EHKES 5,459 - 1,238,356 3,644,047
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 i ZE —E— \F+ A=+ —HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS ("HKFRS(s)") (CONTINUED)
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)

Summary of effects arising from initial application
of HKFRS 9 (Continued)

There were no financial assets or financial liabilities which the
Group had previously designated as at FVTPL under HKAS 39
that were subject to reclassification or which the Group has
elected to reclassify upon the application of HKFRS 9. There
were no financial assets or financial liabilities which the
Group has elected to designate as at FVIPL at the date of
initial application of HKFRS 9.

In respect of the Group's finance lease receivables, restricted
bank balances and cash and cash equivalents that were
previously classified as loans receivables and carried at
amortised costs, they were reclassified to financial assets at
amortised costs without any impact to the carrying value
upon adoption of HKFRS 9. In respect of the Group's
accounts and bills payables and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings that were previously classified as financial
liabilities at amortised costs, no impact to the carrying value
upon adoption of HKFRS 9.

2.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS ("HKFRS(s)") (CONTINUED)
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs and interpretation that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Leases'

Insurance Contracts®

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

Definition of a Business®

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Sales or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture*

Definition of Material?

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement’

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2. ERFIRKEITZER

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS ("HKFRS(s)") (CONTINUED)
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

(Continued)

MBREEN(EBMB
HER]) ()

B 8 4 18 14 5K 2 25 B 37 3T R A

CHEDSLE 2R L))

+ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined ERTHBS 2 BHAENTEHME
B
° Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the ° BERBERSE_S_TF—A—8

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as described
below, the application of other new and amendments HKFRSs will

Kz K FIE R E — B E ARG E
R ERMEEAHREEREAR

AREEERY BTXmE
Sh - FERE MR RGBT R ER

£ have no material impact on the results and the financial position of BmEEAETEHREENEE
&g the Group. KRB ERENTE -
< HKFRS 16 Leases BEBUBEHEERE16HHE
g HKFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the identification of EEMBHRELERZ 1R R/EER
lease arrangements and their treatment in the financial statements PEry A E R AR A KRR AR B 75
of both lessors and lessees. WETFNERBRERE—EAEEER -
138 -
In respect of the lessee accounting, the standard introduces a single mAEAMAGEME @ ZEARLE
- lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and —AAAGHER - EJORE AR
= liabilities for all leases with the lease term of more than 12 months, RESHBEBEANMEHEERN
; unless the underlying asset has a low value. BEIKBE BRIVEEERER
£ i -
s
§ At the commencement date of the lease, the lessee is required to HEHERIKRZA  EBEANBERK
= recognise a right-of-use asset at cost, which consists of the amount NEMAERREEE  HPhBEM
= of the initial measurement of the lease liability, plus any lease EBEMVIRTESE MRS

payments made to the lessor at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received, the initial estimate of restoration
costs and any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee. A lease
liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date.

B H3 sk 2 A A AR A S B E AT A
BN R AR T E AR
P fE T IR AN R AR AEE
MERTIEEERAR - HERE
FERZ AR N EENHARER
BHER -
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2. ERFIRKETIZERS

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING MBREEN(EBYE
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)") (CONTINUED) HEEL DR
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective EEME R RERHFFT R
(Continued) BT BB KREER (&)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) EEBYBEREER E16HE
(&
Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any Hig T RABEEERKNABEREMA
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, EHEMEMEF HESESR
and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. Lease E-UREWEMTENHEAE
liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount TERE -HEBBEHZBBEMNE
to reflect interest on the lease liability, reducing the carrying HEWNRBESEEEOFE B
amount to reflect the lease payment made, and remeasuring the REEARBRFEENEERNT
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications WEHTEREEARBERESRN ®
or to reflect revised in-substance fixed lease payments. Depreciation AEREEERIRBEEITNE Ly
and impairment expenses, if any, on the right-of-use asset will be BRETHENFT R Z - REBEES ©
charged to profit or loss following the requirements of HKAS 16 B ERERDE  BERRERE -
Property, Plant and Equipment, while interest accrual on lease HHE CAREENITE RRE ~
liability will be charged to profit or loss. X (A) Bt A - mEEF
EMHEERERG AELR -
139 ——
In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries REMASHEEMS BB
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17 Leases. MEEAF 1S ABLEERTEDH -
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating LABE7TREENHEAGEHE &
leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of ke At HAAAEEBEBHEBED B
leases differently. HAKLEHENAMEMNRE  WIAT g
AArAXAEYEmMEEREETSHE 5
3 o -
R
HKFRS 16 will supersede the current lease standards including HKAS N Rp i R IR L 0N e b
17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes effective. BRRIRTEEER  gEEES

FAEREISREE N EERE -

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable operating RZE—N\F+ZHA=+—H =K
lease commitments of approximately HK$388,384,000 as disclosed in & B B 4975 %388,384,0007T #) 7 7]
note 44. Qut of this balance, an amount of approximately B S EAE  HBRBERWGE
HK$210,470,000 represents operating leases with original lease terms Mo ZBBR SEHOBE
of over one year in which the Group will recognise right-to-use 2104700007t B R E BB B — F
assets and corresponding lease liabilities unless they are exempt MEEHE  ~EERBEREER
from the reporting obligations under HKFRS 16. The directors of the BEEREENHEEAE BRI
Company expect that, apart from the changes in the measurement, I & B B 7% i &5 2 Bl 51657 FA ¥R
presentation and disclosure as indicated above, the adoption of BEENHE ARAESTES K
HKFRS 16 will not have other material impact on amounts reported EXFeEr 208t - L 25
in the Group's consolidated financial statements. REBEEIN FRBEVBRE

EHF 165G H A KBRS MR
RTEBRNEBEIEELEMEX

By 488
FE-
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for investment properties and financial
instruments that are measured at fair values, at the end of each
reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

3.

FTEFITBE
RAMBRRDBBEBGHEA
SR B BYBREENEY -
I BEMBRROEE BB S
RSHFARDTES LRAIRE
7 T e 514 58 10 PR R

ARE BR R VIR IE 2 AR IR Al R
EREVERERTARER
EHREAABEE -

B Se AR — R E RN R MR

é consideration given in exchange for goods and services. RATEENEENAAEE-

o

é Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid AREBEEREEERMSKET

f_o to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market (RN ER)NFT=8H £X2

S participants in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the (BN MSHHMELEE 2
measurement date under current market conditions (ie. an exit FRAEFRSH  HEEETWE

140 - price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or MERIELEENER &R

Digital China Holdings Limited

estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

A SR (AR 2 5 T DAL LR o 5
HA A R  E - AL @E
HEWHE B2HTXAROE
BB -

TEEHBEHAINDOT -



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over the
investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the Group's returns. When
the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, power over the investee may be obtained through: (i) a
contractual arrangement with other vote holders; (ii) rights arising
from other contractual arrangements; (iii) the Group's voting rights
and potential voting rights; or (iv) a combination of the above,
based on all relevant facts and circumstances.

The Group reassess whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
of the subsidiary and cease when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
of subsidiaries are attributed to the equity holders of the parent and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the equity holders of the parent and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

3.
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Notes to Financial Statements

8115 R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 i ZE —E— \F+ A=+ —HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises the
assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at
their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (ii)
derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including any
components of other comprehensive income attributable to them),
and (iii) recognises the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest,
with any resulting difference being recognised as a gain or loss in

3.
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g profit or loss attributable to the Group. When assets and liabilities M EABHEEENEZEERLE
< of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values and BRASEERIBEMRESKEBL -
g the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other EMNBARIMEERBENEGS
e comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the amounts A AR BEEEEBEBN R
o previously recognised in other comprehensive income and W IBREEEH th 2 WS P R

accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group had W mS Rt SRl EAME
142 - directly disposed of the related assets and liabilities (i.e. reclassified Hl AP ERL AR RGNS

to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings as BARAMASED BT EHEH

specified by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment EERBEANENSEEBERZN
T retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is ERERESEAT B EREER
E regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent Fris R R B AR - MK EZEH
& accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (on or after 1 HEBRBRATHE QR AT
E January 2018) or HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and EMNARBEERABREBEREHE
= Measurement (before 1 January 2018) or, when applicable, the cost HELBFReMIAR-E
3 on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint —N\F—HA—Bx%z2RB)XEES
é venture. FFERIZE SRR T H  RNE

Business combinations

Businesses combinations are accounted for by applying the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
incurred to effect a business combination are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by another standards,
are measured at acquisition-date fair value except for non-
controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net assets in
the event of liquidation are measured either at fair value or at the
present ownership instruments' proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating
units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end
of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a
pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in
profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 i ZE —E— \F+ A=+ —HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Goodwill (Continued)

The Group's policy for goodwill relating to an associate or a joint
venture that included in the carrying amount of the investment is
set out in "interests in associates and joint ventures" below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control of those policies.
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QTE A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have AETER—EHAZHE  HHA
E joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the THZ L NS FHEESELEF
2 arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of BEEMEF - LREHZIEERE
o control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about RHOED ZHLHOEHE  RE
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties EHBEERRTE S Z L =56
144 - sharing control. WETH—BREBRSFE-
The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are REEREE AR REEDENE
2 accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the ERGFEMBRARPRAEEZ
% equity method. R GEARE -
2
E Under the equity method, investments in associates and joint RiEERE HBHEQARLEED
;é ventures are initially recognised at cost. The Group's share of the X EVIRIEKATER - AEE
= profit or loss and changes in the other comprehensive income of the REERAIREELENBERRH
gn associates and joint ventures are recognised in profit or loss and fth 2 T Uk 25 B B A (0 FE A U BE B R

other comprehensive income respectively after the date of
acquisition. If the Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint
venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate or joint
venture, which determined using the equity method together with
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate or joint venture, the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses
are provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment, any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
the associate or joint venture is recognised as goodwill and is
included in the carrying amount of the investment.

After application of the equity method, including recognising the
associate's or joint venture's losses (if any), the Group determines
whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss
with respect to its investment in the associate or joint venture.
Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is not separately recognised. The
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment in the associate or joint
venture. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint venture
upon the Group losing significant influence over the associate or
joint control over the joint venture, the Group discontinues to apply
equity method and any retained interest is measured at its fair
value at the date which is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition as a financial asset in accordance with the applicable
standard. Any difference between the fair value of the retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the
associate or joint venture and the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the equity method was discontinued is
recognised in profit or loss. Any amount previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that investment is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings on the same basis
as it would have been required if the investee had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities.

If an investment in financial asset measured at FVTOCI becomes an
associate, the carrying amount of the investment at the date the
Group obtained significant influence is restored to its original cost
of acquisition with any cumulative fair value change recognised in
investment revaluation reserve being reversed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group's ownership interest in an associate or a joint
venture is reduced, but the Group continues to apply the equity
method, the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction
in ownership interest is reclassified to profit or loss if that gain or
loss would be required to be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

Gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
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é its associate or joint venture are recognised in consolidated financial AR FGEENRZE REBERTE
s statements only to the extent of unrelated investors' interests in the BIREERBE AR EEREN
E associate or joint venture. The Group's share in the associate's or B EBERNRNGEE MR E PR
2 joint venture's gains or losses resulting from these transactions is ReAEBRZERGEENHE
o eliminated. RAEERENKELBEFRL
EE T A -
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Revenue recognition W A 52
_ Policy applicable to the year ended 31 December 2018 BERARBZ-—ZE—-NFL+ZH
£ (with application of HKFRS 15) =E+—HIEFEREE (BHE
S B Y 5 2 A 1555)
= Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or U A\ 45 i 3R A i i 1) R P B e A G
‘Iow services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration NEmIRBNERE 2o RE
£ to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those THERTERAZREE L m
= goods or services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to SRBHEE - ARBME  AKE
g revenue recognition: KA BT AR IBA -

e Step 1: ldentify the contract(s) with a customer
e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when "control" of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Policy applicable to the year ended 31 December 2018
(with application of HKFRS 15) (Continued)

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is

met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group
performs;

o The Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created and enhanced;
or

° The Group' performance does not create an asset with an

alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Policy applicable to the year ended 31 December 2018
(with application of HKFRS 15) (Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.
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g For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset HREZEFNE—&4  JIRFE
‘_g“ or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts, HNEEIFEHNEE - HRZHE
::2 contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not B EHNEEREBHAGHNNEGNE
3 presented on a net basis. BETAUFEEY R -

The Group recognised revenue from the following major sources: REBRRLANUNTEZREHK
148 -« =
- o System integration o REERK
.‘é‘ - N
7 ° Software development and technical services business . B B R B AR S 3 S
2 D Logistics services o Y Bk 7%
5 .
= o E-commerce supply chain services o BT e 8 AR
2

o Sales of properties o WEHEE

Revenue from software development and technical services business
is recognised over time. The progress towards complete satisfaction
of a performance obligation is measured based on input method.
Input methods recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts
or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation, by
reference to the actual costs incurred up to the end of reporting
period as a percentage of total estimated costs for each contract. In
some circumstances when the outcome of a performance obligation
could not be reasonably measured, the Group shall recognise
revenue only to the extent of the costs incurred until such time that
it can reasonably measure the outcome of the performance
obligation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Policy applicable to the year ended 31 December 2018
(with application of HKFRS 15) (Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)
Revenue from logistics services is recognised at the point when the
services are provided to the customers.

Revenue from E-commerce supply chain services is recognised at the
point when the control of the goods is transferred to the customers,
generally on delivery of goods to customers.
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Revenue from sales of properties is recognised at a point in time. VI HERAR K ERFHIEER - -
Under the transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS 15, revenue from IR IR B B 75 35 2RI S8 55k M0 4% ©
property sales is generally recognised when the property is accepted FlEE R - MEHESBA KR -
by the customer, or deemed as accepted according to the contract, BEPEMIBRBEAEVNERABEEMN :
whichever is earlier, which is the point in time when the customer BHUABREEAE)ER  IEFPH
has the ability to direct the use of the property and obtain NEEBENIEEMENFRILE
substantially all of the remaining benefits of the property. BHEMNEKIY TS - 149
Policy applicable to the year ended 31 December 2017 BHARBZ-—ZE—+F+=H -
S+ — AU FENRE 2
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic ;é&,ﬁfljm@—jﬁ‘é,ﬁ)\$’%.ﬂuﬁz =
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be BEMT] St &/ IRIATNESE E
measured reliably, on the following bases: EEWJ-BZ]\ {j
. from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards . HEBEMHEBWATIRNEA ﬁ
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided E7EXERNRLDSH S EE 7

that the Group maintains neither managerial involv